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Ifanltind may well marvel at the tremendous advances which have
talzen place in our living standerds during the past hundred yeers,
due to new discoveries in chemistry, in mechanies, in fect in most
every line of human endeavor, This is particularly true in the
countries of North and South America where possibly these changes
have been even greater than has been the case in those parts of the
world the history of vhich is known back through many centuries,

In the western hemisphere where new countries have originated
and great tracts of virgin land have heen and are being settled,
life has rapidly advanced from the more primitive types of living
to our present so-called modern civiligation.

As this advance has taken place and as the population has
increased in the Americas, some of the occupations of only a few
decades ago have been replaced by other ways of living, or have
been almost entirely changed as a result of newer and more scientific
knowledge. The memory of many of these past occupations which
have undergone this great change, is now mellowed so that the hard
work which formerly was a necessary part of them is largely forgotten
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or frequently replaced by a trad
Such is the case with the o0ld prospector who, with his gold pan

and pick and lagy burrow, roamed here and there in search of treasure;

with the cowboy whose life was fast and hard and was not softened

by the presence of a guitar around the evening camp fire as is so

often shown in our picture shows and by television.

The family doctor who had no hospital in which to work, no

specialists with whom to consult, no X—?&y nor electro-cardiographic
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gpparatus to ascist i Qlagnosis =:a no "“wonder drugs" to uelp i,
of ten found 1life very grim and alw v&s very hord, HHow he accomnlishe-
ed #s much as he did, scems alrost incredible to our later, more
scientific, more thorougnly equipped snecialists,

In tie following Pages the writsr tells now, after the completion
of his medical education at tre State Unlversity of Iowa and an
interneship at the same place, he wznt directly to Oregon in tie year
1909, There he settled where t-ere were no hospital facilities,
no specialists to be called when needed and usually no other doctors
within reache Automobiles were rractically unknown and the few
roads that existed were so primitive <hat muca of the year it was
impossible to use a horse and buggy and most of the traveling was
on horsebacke The experiences relctsd are all true excepting

that, for obvious reasons, tne names of individuals frequently are

changed,
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nappenings snd outlines
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The narrative relates many unu
treatment given under the most primi<ive conditions, It carries on
through the years until the writer i: located where he has the

advantages of psved highways, thorcuzh ¢quipment , modern nosritals
and the help of specialists in almosé every line within easy reach,
This transition from the primitive t- e modern is productive of
tremendous changes which are reflected in the history of the writerts
activity through the years of his przctice. |

So many of the experiences relzted have been emergencies in which

a doctor was urgently needed, that tre nene

" HURRY DOCTO=R} IT*S AN EMERGENCY!
has been given to this narrstive,

The writer desires to express his sincere gratitu’ls to his wife

"
0

who, & registered nurse, made possible nis success in many of his
experiences and who has stood shoulder to shoulder witn him &r 1045h

Aa11T +ha srnaws a6



DIAPERS AND GROWING PAINS.
LEida aiaiaiaiaisis d
The slender, eight year old boy stood rigid, on the floor of
the huge reservoir and glared deflantly at the crowd which had
gathered along the rime. Yet the defiance was mingled with terror,
as he unconsciously dug the floor with his bare toes, Aaffhé -
breeze played with his tangled hair, he thoughtj
"Why did I pay any attention to that awful kid when he dared
me to roll the rock into their new reservoir? + Why did I do 1%2
How can I ever get out of heére? If I can't gét out, I will drownt"
While the rock was still relling down the. slanting wall of the
reservoir, the plotteridisappeared into the crowd and 1e84 the culprit
-alonee u
Once more the little fellow made a wild dash up the steep wall,
but couldn't go far before he would fall back to the bottom, Each
time he made an effort to scale the wall, a roar of laughter came from
many of the spectators, who had seen the boy roll the stone into thelr
new reservoir which was to be dedicated to-dsy. Its successfu14comp1et-
ion, high on one of the Mississippl River bluffs, was a matter of
justifisble pride to the citizens of the little Missouri c¢ity, Loulslana,
The Mayor wes.among those who had witnessed the act and almost
before the stone hed reached the floor of the reservoir, jec shouted;
"Boy, go down and bring that stone outi"
Bystanders quickly seized the little fellow and forced him over
the edgeo
The crowd watched as the lad vainly tried again and again to throw
the stone out, but it was so large and heavy and he was so small, that
it would go not more than half the distance, then would roll back.
The spectators‘speggd to think tkat the Mayor dd4d right when r

he cried;




“Purn the water on irmmediately and fill the reservoirg"
ocare the 1ittle vandal thoroughlyl! It will be a good lessonl
. A8 soon as the child heard these orders, he ceased Lt in~ to
‘throw the stone out;w%u};immediately and repeatedly attempted to run
to the top of the wall, iith every failure he became more and more
terrified. He could almost feel the cold water as it would rise
to his ankles, then knees, hips, shoulders, and at last would cover
him completelyl His heart was beating tumultously and his breath came
in gaspsl
At last, desperate and exhausted, he ceased his efforts to escape
and began to cry pitiously. But his voice was nearly drownd by the
nolse of the crowd. |
s>uddenly & well dressed young man ran down the sloping wall,
ouickly threw the stone out, then grasped the child's arm and ran
Q furiously up the side wall, to the tope There he deposited the boy
on safe ground, then immediately disappeared into the crowd.

The child took one quick look sround, and as soon as he realized
that he was free, he ran as fast as his 1little legs could carry him,
away from the cursed placee He had been savedl  Never would he forget
either the terror he had experienced, or his gratefulmess to his unknown:
benefactorl

Rut one may be sure that he would never relate the experience to

nis parentsli

Physicians and surgeons, while they devote their lives to a
work that differs materially from that of any other profession, still
have one thing in common with those in other occupations. While

’ a tremendous majority of them are men of nigh principles, yet there
i1s here and there one vwho seems to be so devoid of any moral scruples

that he will do anything, honorsble or dishonorable, that will bring
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in the dollarsy if he thinks that he can " et away with 1t;" This
has always been the case and likely will be as long as the old world
' holds togethere
One morning in early April, of the year 1880, the Reverend John
We Knott, Presbyterian minister at the town of Anna, Illinois, was
chatting with;ah“aeq&aipt;nce as they walked to the local post office
to get the morning mail. I have been told by the Reverend Mr. Knott
that their conversation, after th@ dsﬁal greetihgs, was in substanee
as follows; |
"I understend, Reverend, that your wife is pregnant again. At
least that 1s the rumore How many children do you have?"
“We have four living, two girls and two boys."
"It occurred to me," the friend continued, "that four are about
as many as & man with a ministerts salary could bring up and give good
‘l’ educational advantages besides the ordinary necessities of lifee. Ir
you will understand that I am really trying to help the situation,
I'1]1 give you the name of a good doctor who will take care of your
wife for a small consideretion, so that this pregnancy will not go any
furthere. I fegl certain that this could be done without danger to your
wife!'s health, because I know of several women who have had it done
without any bad results."
“"Thenks for your kindness—and thoughtfulness,. I appreciate
it greatly and am sure that you simply mean to do me a favor," the
minister replied, "but such a thing would be absolutely against my
religious beliefs and moral principles, I would always feel responsible
for the destruction of the 1life of an individual without knowing whether
the 1life that was ended would have been used for the good of humanity
'or otherwise i1f it had been permitted to continue, And even if I did

have this knowledge, yet the Lord always has provided us with those

things that we have needed to carry on and I believe Hz will always




continue to do so,"

So, due to the beliefs of my parents, I-zsntered the world as
an ipdividuel, November eleyenth, 1880,

While this is the story of the life of a physician and surgeon,
8t11l1 no blography, regardless of the occupation of the person of
whom it 1s written, could be complete without touching somewhat on
a few of the highlights of his childhood. In this way there may
be gained a fuller understanding of the reasons for his course of
action many times during his adult life,

My infaency was uneventful, excepting that my father remarked
to me after I had grown, "You eried a good deal when a small baby
because of wind on your stomache It was natural I guess, for that
is a pretty windy country."

How fortunate it is that I was not born in western Nebraska
or Kansas}

I have no remembrance of having been put into a toy wagon and
pulled, by my sister, past the State Hospitel for the Insane at
Anna, nor can I remember that as we passed by this institution, a
patient sang to me through the iron grated window, "Rock-a=bye baby
on the tree top," but I have been told that all this happened,

Some of our friends have congratulated Mrs. Knott and myself
because we have reared reasonably normasl children in spite of the
fact that she, also, was reared near a hospital for the insane at
Independence, Iowal

My first remembrance is that of running away from home at

Marshall, Illinois, to see Max Morton. Whether or not I got there
or was punished for running away, I don't know, My parents
afterward told me that I was about two and a half years old when
this happenede

From Marshall, we moved to Robinson, Illinois, There two



things happened which stand out especially clear in my memorye.
‘l’ First, I went to the home of Judge Kobb and sang for him and his
wife the little song which 1 stil1 remember as I sang it;
"I want to be an angel and with the angels stand,
A crown upon my forehead, a harper in my hand,
And there before my Saviour, so glorious and so bright,
I'1]l sing the sweetest music, praise Him both day and night."
Mrs. Robb rewarded me with the gift of a 1little, long jug
upon which some flowers had been painted. I was then four years
of sage. The jug I still have.

‘:The other incident happened when Mother had taken Sister and
myself on a trip to Marshalle We traveled on a narrow gauge
railroad that then existed. -As we were returning to Robinson,
our coach became deralled and turned on its side. I was unhurt
but badly frightened, and was yelling my loudest when a man broke

‘l’ .the window which was sbove me. After he had carefully removed
the glass, he pulled me out,.
For years after this, when & train on which I was riding made
a sharp turn on a curve, so that the car would tilt slightly, I
would become tense with the expectation of another tipovere
From Robinson, we moved to Iowa where Fatner supplied a country
church at a place called Melpine, back from the Mississippi River,
between Muscatine and Davenporte. At Davenport, about the year
1886, I rode on my first street car, the motor of which consisted
of two faE! 1a€y hpr§e§3
In %Qéﬁyligéafféd ;o attend school in & small country schoolhouse.
At that tj:;ne I was known as Charlie Knott but this was changed by
a visit to my grandfathert's farm at Mt., Vernon, Illinois. While
!l. there I got the notion of crying 1f I wanted anything and was unable

to get 1it, So Grandfather Knott nemed one of his calves Charlie,

and if I cried he would sing out, "Charlie Calfi" The cure was



effective but it also eaused me to pay no further attention to the
name Cherlie, but to answer only to my first name, George, by which
I have been known ever since.

It was late in 1886 when we moved to Louisiana, Missouri, where
I had been so frightened after I rolled the stone into the new
reservoir. Here, sister Edith and I frequently asked Mother to
glve us a little pilece of raw beefsteak to chew while she was prepar-
ing a meal. 1In this way I was unfortunate enough to get a tape worm.

One afternoon a lot of boys were bragging about things they
had and for a while I couldn't think of anything in my possession
worth a boast, or that none of the others possessed. But suddenly
it occurred to me that I did have one thing I could tell about.

"I have something that none of you have," I announced, "I have
a tape wormi"

Everything was very quiet for a moment. Then one of the largest
of the bunch said, "He's lyingl You can't have & tape worm until
you are twentyeone "

From Loulsiana, in 1888, we went to Pomeroy, Iowa, Now I had
attained the age when a boy's pugilistic embitions begin to bud and
I had a 1little trouble with one or two youngsters, When my parents
heard of it,.they told me that if I got into any fights, regardless
of who started them, I would get a whipping when I got home. As
a result, when I got into a tight place I would think of the whipping
and would run. So the boys got to taking after me just to see
me run,

A short time after this, a few minutes before 8chool was dise
missed for the afternoon, two boys seﬁ& me a note which read;

"We are going to get you, after school,"

When we were dismissed I got out of the building as quick as
possible and ran for home as fast as I could. Both of the boys took



after mes When about a block from home, suddenly I became very
angry and decided that I wouldn't run any further. I whirled
around and kicked one of the boys in the abdomen. As he doubled
up I started after the other, who began to run.

"Didnt't you know we were just foolint'?"he yelled as he rane

Father happened to be on the street and witnessed the whole
affair. When he questioned me about what had caused the battle,

I surely expected to get the promised punishment, but told him
exactly what had occurred and how I was so often forced to run

or fighte. After Mother and he had & little conference, he took
me aside and said, "George, we have been mistaken. If anyone jumps
onto you, stand your ground. But if we catch you starting anything,
we will still whip you when you get home,"

I have often thought that my parents were very good students
of child psychology. Soon I found that it was usually neither
necessary to run nor to fight.

Possibly due to the tape worm, I was thin and undersized when
we went to Pomeroy, and I learned to hate castor oil, cinchona bark
tea and pumpkin seeds, all of which were fed to me in large quantities
in an unsuccessful effort to get rid of the worm. But at last,
about a year after we moved to this place, I was.given a medicine
that did get rid of 1it, in spite of the fact that I was not yet
twenty=onel

Somehow, two of us boys got the idea that it would be fun to
get onto the blind baggage of the local passenger train and ride
to Manson, the next statior. east of Pomeroye The blind baggage was
a platform onto which no door opened, located between the baggage

and mail carse.

We made 1t to Manson all right, but there some boys told us




that the police had been informed that we had been on the train and
’ thought that we were attempting to run away from home. So they
were looking for us.

Frightened, we ran to some nearby coal bins and hid there, The
Manson boys followed us and we found that they regarded us as very
outstanding because we had ridden the blind baggage and were hiding
from the policel We felt quite inflated too, until the train back to
Pomeroy arrived and we ran and climbed onto the blind baggage again,
Then the trouble began}

After the train had started and we thought that we were safely on
our way home, the conductor stopped the train and kicked us off, not
too gentlyl We ran down the railroad track as fast as we could,
terrified for fear the police would still cateh us and put us in jail,
When we were well out of town, we decided that there was nothing for

Qus to do but walk the nine miles back to Pomeroy. We were certainly
afraid to go back to Mansonfg

What a long nine miles that wasly And what & cheerless journey!
The railroad was rough and the walking was miserable. All our inflation
was gone. We didn't reach home until 1t had become quite dark snd we
were thoroughly tired, My parents had become alarmed and were looking
everywhere for me, but after they were told what had happened, they
thought that the nine mile walk was sufficient punishment,

However, the next day a report of the saffair had become noised
about town, and I was very disgusted because nearly everywhere I went,
someone would call out, "Hello kid} How's walking?® That was mueh
worse then being kicked off the train and having to walk home}

o

Never again did I try to steal a ride on a traint

When I had reached the age of twelve years, we moved from Pomeroy




to Greenfield, Iowa. It was there that I experienced my first
serious illness,

At our school there were two wells which furnished drinking
water for the pupilse. Some person thought that the muddy places
around these wells could be prevented by building a wooden platform
around each pump, with a square of open work, like lattice, directly
below the spoute In thls way the surplus water pumped and spilled,
was made to run back into the welll

After I had used the water from these wells for a short time,

I became very 111, with a high fever, and could take no nourishment
except milk and watere Nearly three weeks passed before our doctor !
decided that I had typhoid fever. I was then nearly at the end of

the fever, and looked like a living skeletone My hair came out,

but a new, heavy crop, somewhat curley, gradually overcame my baldness

and I slowly regained my strength. Still I was very small and much
underweight for my age.

We arrived at our next place of refuge, Holdrege, Nebraska, in

- early 18893, There I found that I was not nearly as far advanced

in school as the average child of my age. This was because the
Presbyterian>church year ended April first and that was the time we
usually moved, This disrupted the entire school program each time
a move was made, more especlally so since there was at that time very
little standardation in public schools,

Because I was s0 very small and frail, my parents invested in
an "electric belt" for me. This consisted of a few metallic pieées
of some sort, sewed into a canvass belt, It was claimed that this
belt would greatly stimulste growth and benefit health. I began
to wear 1t late one springe

When school was dismissed for the summer, two of us boys began
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to gather the town cows each morning and drive them to some vacant

land a short distance from town, where tney grazed on buffalo grass

all dsy. Because there were unfenced cornfields nearby, we had to

be in the saddle nearly constantly throughout the dayse In the evening
we returned the cows to their ownerse We cared for thirty-two cows

at one dollar s month eache This made us sixteen dollars & month,

as the money was divided equally, and we thought that we were capitalists!

The first week that I rode, I was so terribly sore that I thought
I would diel} But gradually the soreness left and before the first
month had passed, I had become tough and hungry and began to grow very
faste During the next year I continued to develop so rapidly that
at the end of the year I was as large or larger than the average boy
of my agee

My perents said; "What a wonderful thing the electric belt 1st"

We remained at this location during the great depression that
occurred during Cleveland's second term as Presldent. While the
financial stringency was most severe, the church was unable to pay
theif minister any regular salary and Father supplied the church for
whatever compensation the people could givee. The daily wage for
“twelve hours work was one dollar and work with a team brought a wage of
two dollars for the man and teame. Even at this wage there was almost
no worke Corn was so cheap that people were burning it for fuel.

One room at our home was made a storeroom for food and for used
wearing apparel which was sent to Holdrege from the eastern states, for
people who were destitute.

One afternoon I was in the local bank with the son of the banker,
when a man came in and said,cl would like to borrow enough money to

buy a ton of coale?

"What security do you have to offer?" the banker asked.
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") span of fine mules, tied to the hitching rack out in front."

The banker went to the window to look at the mules and, boy like,
we went alonge

"That is as fine & span of mules as I ever saw," the banker
saide "There is certainly something very wrong with our country
when they are not security enough for money to buy a ton of coal,
but you know they are note. Anyhow, we can't let your famlly freeze,
so I'11 take a mortgage on the mules and let you have the money."

At Holdrege the schools were good and the teachers efficlent,
and for the first time, I was in the same school for three yearse
I mansged to jump a grade soO that when we left Holdrege I had just
finished the eighth grade%fpye,jv,

It was here that a sister eight years my senior, died of pulmonary
tuberculosis and another sister, some three years older than I, was
csughing somee For that reason, in 1896, Father thought it best
to move again and to go west into the mountainous countrye. He
succeeded in obtaining a pastorate at Soda Springs, Idaho, but left
Mother, Sister andﬁ?%at Holdrege until the school year was finishede.
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MORMON COUNTRY.
333N

Brother Robert, ten years my senior, hsd settled near Flagler,
Colorado, where he had teken a nomestead and timber claim. On this
homestead he 1lived in & sod house and taught & nearby sc¢noole.

His wife, formerly Miss Nellie Burkhalter, took care of the home,
Erother, and thingg in general on the ranche.

In some way B?géﬁer managed to get & span of mules, a western
horse nsmed Dandy and a two wheel cart. After Father located in
Idsho, it was decided that Bfothef would bring his horse, together
with his mules and cart, to Holdrege, a distance of about two hundred
and fifty miles. There we would purchase another horse and & buggy
end drive back to the homestead. Sister wes to go to Soda Springs
by train, Later, Mother and I would go on from Colorado to Idaho
by reil.

Sometime before this, I hed seved money by running errands and
doing odd jobs, snd hesd purchasgd a second hand bicycle. After
I hed used it for a year or more,I traded it for a high spirited
l1ittle western mare named Bird. Eow I loved that horsel But I
knew that I couldn't take her to Soda Springs, so consented to trade
her for a driving horse. This geve us & team of horses, a team
of mules and a carte After we looked around for a couple of days,
we succeeded in adding a used buggy to our equipment, for wiich
we paid thirty dollers.

After our household goods has veen shipped to Sods Springs by
freight, we started west, The horses pulled tine buggy in wuicn
Mother always rodee. The cart, to wiaich the hﬁles were hitched,

always followed. Brother and I chenged from one vehicle to the other
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every few miless- The mules were-lazy while the horses were lively
and alerte. I named the horses and their buggy "Success", and the
mules with their vehicle I called, "Disaster™,. "During the trip I
watched to see whether or not Disaster would ever overtake Sucecess,
It never didl

On this trip we took plenty of food, which we cooked over an
open fire by the roadside. Our bed was good old Mother Earth, with
a few blankets. After six days of travel}we arrived at the sod
house on Brothert!s homestead. Here we rested a week or more before
we went further.

My main occupation while at the homestead was to furnish fuel,
To do this I had to take a gfain sack and go out among the sage
brush and cactus and hunt cow chips that were dry enough to burn.
These made astonishingly good fuel and we found that by burning them
we could make the sod house very comfortable.

At this time of year the caetus was in bloom everywhere, which
made the plains appear like an immense, wonderfully beautiful red
and yellow carpete _ ~

After a week had psassed, four of us, Mother, brother Robert,
‘his wife and I, started further west. Our immediate objective was
Colorado Springs. Again we carried our bedding and groceries and .
slept by the roadside wherever night found us. |

At Colorado Springs we found a man who had just completed the
construction of a large, water proof woodshed and had not begun
to use 1ite We rented it for a few days and moved our bedding
ine Then we started out to s‘ee'the sightse

All four of us had been reared in the middle west and not one of
us had ever seen & mountaine So we were filled with wonder and

delight when we beheld the beautiles of the Garden of the Gods, Seven

Falls and various other scenic marvels.
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After we had talked things over, it was decided that we should
go to the top of Pikes Peak, but as we didn't have to spare the five
dollars that each of us would be charged if we rode on the cog wheel
railroad;we decided to climb the mountain, This was long hefore the
present highway was built on Pikeé Peak.,

About four o'clock in the aftermoon seemed to be the best time to
start, as this would bring us to the top in time to view the sunrisee
So at about that time we began the journey up the trail from Manitou.

Some years later a friend of mine told me that the day after he
climbed Pikes Peak, he telegraphed his wife that "pwo other fools and
myself climbed Pikes Peak yesterday and we are all unable to walk
today." We didn't find the journey that bad, but it was a real climb.,

"Halfway house® was reached before dark, and because We didn't
lmow that half way house is nowhere near half way up the mountain,
we thought that we were getting along fine. As we progfessed, we
thoroughly enjoyed the primitive forest and the beautiful, dashing
mountain stream which'the trail followed much of the waye.

As night came on, we found that i1t was very dark in the timber
in spite of the moonlight, and we had brought no lantern with us.

In some way we got off the trail aend were completely lost for a time,
We had loaded & couple of blankets and some food on one of the mules
and brought him with us. While we were lost, we and the mule had

a very hard time workling our way through the brush and over‘the

many fallen logse. But at last we could see a light sﬁreak which
extended up the side of the mountaine With much difficﬁlty we
succeeded in getting to this streak, which proved to be the cog wheel
railroad. From there we never left the railroad unttl-our—ciimb

to_the top was completede
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When an altitude of fourteen thousand feet was reached, I became
terribly nauseated but managed to continue to the tope. The summit

was reached, as we had planned, shortly before sunrise. Once

~ there, I only wished to stretch out and rest. The remainder of ocur

party seemed in good condition, only very tirede

There was no evidence of any sort of life around us. The large
stone building was dark and patches of snow lay here and there on
the bare rocke.

Shortly after our arrival at the summit, sunrise began. In spite
of my altitude 1llness, I was filled with awe and wonderment at the
sight which was spread out before us. A sea of glistening, white
clouds was beneath us, which shone under the first rays of the sun
like an ocean of pe&arle. Through an occasional rift in the clouds
we could see the plains, thousands of feet below us, bathed in a
multitude of colors which constantly changed as the light increasede

After we had viewed this wonderful panerama for an hour or more,
we decided to start the journey downe When we had descended less

)

than a mile, my i{llness disappeared and our{party made the remainder of
the trip without inconvenience except for our weariness, .
¥ o o '
From Colorado Springs, we drove through Denver to Greely, where

LD

Mother and I took the train for Seda Springs, while Brother and his

wife returned to their homee As we traveled west, I thought of the

 various types of country I had seen; the rich farm lands of Illinocis and

Iowa, the plains and buffalo grass of Nebraska, the sage brush and
cactus of eastern Colorado and the beautiful mountains at Colorado

Springs. Now I was traveling through the sage and lava rock of

-

P
/

southern Wyoming, and I wondered what it could ever be good for and

why anyone would. want to settle there.

Soda Springs, Ideho, in 1896, was a town of six or seven hundred
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‘I’ people, which boasted a school of eight grades, a Mormon Meeting
House (at that time they were called Meeting Houses but now I believe
are known as Chapels),a little lava rock Presbyterian church, five
or six saloons and three general stores, Scattered ranches irrigate
ed by local springs or small mountain streams, were in the surrounding
country. No large irrigation projects had been perfected or thought
of there at that time. Aside from these scattered ranches, the
principal source of support for the town was the many thousand sheép
that were raised in the sunronnding country, —
To me, this country seemed almost a duplication of the sage
brush and lava rock of southern Wyoming, and for a time I wondered,
as I had in WYOming; why anyone would wish such a place for a
permanent home. But before we had lived at Soda Springs many
‘I. months, I came to realize what a tremendous attractiveness both
| | southern Ideho and southern Wyoming have for one who becomes acquainte
ed with the countrye.
- Instead of a modern c¢ity school, a 1little school building with
two rooms and two teachers comprised the educational 1nst1tutions.
As I had finished the eighth grade, I asked the teacher if he could
teach any high school subjects and he started me in beginners
algebra and persuaded me to review my eighth grade grammar and
arithmetic.,
At the age of fifteen, locally I was regarded by many as a
 cur1ous1ty because I didn't drink and had never been in a saloone.
- Because I was the son of a Presbyterian minister, I had a really
k—M}t";u.r‘oulant time at school for a few weeks, until the pupils decided

‘l. that I was human and accepted me as one of their groupe.
Then what skating we had and what bobsled rides} Something

of a sensation was caused by me when I asked the daughter of one -
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the Mormon elders to go to a party with me, She informed me
that she waild like to, but would have to ask her parents, Permiss-
ion was granted since the party was to be at the home of the Mormon

bishope

One afternoon, at recess, a lad that we kneﬁjoame past our school
with a bobsled and a fine team of horses, and J%”Z?f jumped in for
a bobsled ride. Whén we returned, the school bell had rung and
the teacher had the door braced shut and wouldn't let us in, So
we climbed back into the sled and went to a nearby Indian village
where we were invited into a tepees

In the tepee we found some Indian "bucks" sitting on the ground
around a cheerless fire, smoking pipes. Most of the smoke from
the fire went out the top of the tepee, but considerable of the
remainder of it got into our eyes before it got above us, -Some
squaws were seated around the fire, busily cutting buckskin gloves
out of deer hides which had been tanned. ) Evgrything in the tepee
seemed dirty, cheerless and uncomfortable. éAfter we had spent

L{!(,;i ‘fx:’f»~5ﬂiw‘,M
some time there, we went home On our . return to school the next

T it b 4

day, much to our surprise, nothing was said concerning our escapades -

The only real physical strugglé that I ever saw between a
teacher and a pupil, occurred at this school. Several of the boys who
were larger and stronger than the teacher, got the idea that they
could run the school, I have no idea wnat the offense was, but
suddenly the teacher_was beating one of the lads wildly with a whip.
"Come on, Jim," the boy yelled, "You said you would help me
lick himi"
Between strokes the teacher joined the request,
"Yes, come on Jim, let's get it over right now."

But Jim sat perfectly quiet and the Whipping continued until
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the culprit yelled for-mercy. - ase cat

Often I have wondered who would have won if Jim had come on,

As long as I lived with my parents, I neither learned to dance
nor play cards, due to their prejudice against those things. At that
time these were the two chief indoor evening amusecments at Soda
Springs. Frequently the benches of the meetinghouse would be
pushed aside some midweek evening, the crowd would gather and prayer

would be offered by some one of the‘lorgoqg. Then the dance would
begin. In spite of the ra¢;¢;ﬁ§£ iﬂéidn't dance, I hsd some wonder-
ful times at these dances and before I had been at Soda Springs long
I had many good friends among the Eormon young people.

The only trouble I got into during the ﬁear I 1lived here,
happened one Holloween night. Three of us boys had noticed several
pigs that would weigh twenty or twentyefive pounds, in & pen not far
from town. At the Woodall hotel there was a high flag pole. We
got the idea that it would be fun to put a couple of those pigs in
a gunny sack and pull them up to the top of the flag pole and see

what would happene

We had conside;éble trouble in catching the pigs and getting
them into the sack. But when this was done we easily pulled them
to the top of the pole. It was about midnight when we did this,
The disturbance the pigs made, hanging in the séck at the top of the
pole, was surprisingl One could hear the squeals and grunts for
blockse People rushed out of the hotel and nearby houses and were
looking everywhere in the darkness, for the pigs, while we boys
nearly broke our sides laughinge.

Unfortunately for us, the pigs struggled until they tore a
hole in the sack and fell out and were killed, Someone saw us pull
the pigs up the flag pole and the owners found out who did it. The

result was that we had to pay for the pigs, our parents gave us @&
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lecture, and for several days we were kidded about the matter
wherever we went,:

That yinter the snow was so deep that I tunneled through it
from our front door, out through the gate. One could easily step
from the snow to the roof of our kitchen. But in spite of my
enjoyment'of outdoor sports, as spring approached I became restless
and wanted to go somewhere for further schooling.

At that time I was told that there were only four highschools
in Idaho, and I much preferred to go where I was acquainted. So
I asked my parents if I couldn't return to Holdrege, where I knew
so many people. At Soda Springs my sister had married my school
teachér and both he and she told my parents that in their opinion it
wouldn't be worth while to spend the money it would take to send me
anywhere to school, as I would "never get to first base." Brother
Robert and his.wife also agreed that it would be a waste of money,
and even Father agreed with them, But Mother said, "give the boy
e chance," and managed to ecarry her point. So in May I returned to
Holdrege in order to enter summer school. In this way I hoped to
cateh my 0ld class. o

That autumn I was once more with my old schoolrmates; and in
1899 I finished high school with them. [ ba B2 e

War on Spain was declared while I was in highschool and how I
did wish I could gol! But I was told that I was too young.

It was about this time that I found I couldn't see as I should,
so went to an optician, Mr. Beardsley, and asked that he examine
my eyes. He found that I was very near sighted and needed glasses
badly. ’ I wondered where the money would come from to pay for
glasses and after I thought things over for a few days, I went to
the owner of the local weekly paper and asked if he had any work I

could do outside of school hourse His print presses were run by
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man pdwer and he agreed to pay me fifty cents each week if I would
come to his office after school every Friday and help run the press
which printed his weekly paper. The optician agreed to let me
have the glasses and pay for them at the rate of fifty cents a week.
In this way I got my first glassess

It was like getting out of jaill How beautiful the world was}
Now I could see the beautiful trees and flowers, could read what was
written on the blackboard at school and could be sure who a friend
was that said "hello" to me across the streete The whole world
looked different.

On the whole, my highschool days were very happy. Time went
fast and pleasantly and when 1 graduated, I wanted to study medicine,
But when I talked things over with Father, he said that he couldntt
possibly afford to send me to school longer and that I was now "on
my own," It is still a matter of wonderment to me how he managed
to stand the expense of this much of my educetion, on the small
salary that he receivede

After my graduation I went home to Soda Springs and looked for
worke A sheep buyer offered to take me on a trip to Chicago.

My work on the trip would consist of helping him care for a train
load of approximately six thousand sheep. I had never been to
Chicago, so jumped at the chance,

It was my duty to help load and unload the sheep when they were
fed, and to keep them from plling up at one side or end of the cars
when the train was in motion. At that time the law was such that
stock enroute to market had to be fed and watered at least.every
twenty-eight hours,

We started from Soda Springs shortly before noon,and had to
unload for feed and water the following afternoon at Laramie,

Wyominge The first night I stretched out on a seat inthe caboose,
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but was unable to sleep muche At Laramie, when we pulled up at
the stock yards, we found them full of sheep that were Just ready
to be loaded - the property of another buyere So we had to run our
herd out onto the platform. As there was no fence to stop them,
from there the sheep ran directly to the Laramie River, which was
only a short distance away, for water, As they left the cars
they seemed to go wild and soon became scattered everywhere, We
worked all night in order to get them together again and feed and
load them, This was my second night without sleep. I thought
phat I had never been 8o tired in my 1ife, and when we were again
on our way, I slept almost constantly until we reached our next
feeding place, Fremont, Nebraska,

At Fremont the work of loading was much lighter, due to the
fact that there were goats-at the stockyards that were trained to
assist in loading the sheepe. These goats would lead the sheep
into the car, then slip around and come out again, They would -
repeat this each time we began to load a car. This was a tremendous
helpe

From Fremont we went directly into Chicagoe What a cityl
A million or more inhasbitants} Streets paved with cedar blocks,
and in some places even with brick} A cousin of ours, Mr. Burgess,
who was then paymaster of the Ghicago and Northwestern Railroad,
told me where to find the most interesting things in the city;
Lincoln Park = the Fleld Museum - the Art Gallery on Michigan
Boulevard, and many other interesting places. I spend so much of
my little store of money that I returned home with only a few

pennies in my pocket.

Another bit of good fortune was waiting for me at home., Mother

and Father were planning a trip to the Yellowstone National Park
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and invited me to go with them, They intended to drive overland with
a light wagon and team, a distance of about two hundred miles through

a very primitive countrye.

We fournd that the Mormon Bishop had such a wagon, with side
curtains that could be rolled down. Brother fobert had one horse
thet could_be used and we succeeded in renting another horse and the
wagon froﬁiBishop Lowe e With these preparations, we drove out of

Soda Springs one Aygust morning, with a load of groceries and a shot gun.

We shot sage hens and ducks along the way and Mother cooked our
meals on & little portable sheetiron stove that we carried with ué.
I got an old bamboo pole and attempted to catch trout, but didn't make
much of a go at it at first. I had no reel, just a line tied to the
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end of the long pole.

The roads were very primitive and bridges were almost unknown.
Once when we were fording the Snake River, we were in the water so deep
that one of the horses was swimming,. This was near St. Anthony, Idaho.
After two weeks of travel, we reached West Yellowstone.

Today one would think that some of the things we saw slong the
way were very curious, posslibly almost things of antiquitye. Here and
there in the sage brush we saw many horns that the elk had shed. In
several places these were so plentiful that they had been piled into
good sized piles. Sage hens and grouse were very plentiful and made
fine eatinge

Some distence before we reached West Yellowstone, we ‘came to the
main road between Monidae and the park. We were told that the distance
from Monide to the Yellowstone was approximately & hundred and ten miles,
and that this distance was covered by the stages in one day. These
stages were making regular trips to and from the park, and would often
pass us. They were built high in the air, with the driver perched

sti1l higher on the seat in front, The four horses seemed always to be
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traveling on the-gallups - They were chenged-every- ten-miles, which - -

enabled them to travel very fests A sort of leather apron was swung down
the back of the stage, and we understood that the mail was carried in this.

The vehicles were always glistening and kept in first class repair, and the

horses, while not fat, were in good traveling condition and very prettye
Shortly after we entered the park, a gentlemen saw me trying to fish

and presented me with & black artificisal fiy, 1 suppose a black gnate

I didn*'t know how to cast it, but kept tryinge No leader was used, but

finally, in spite of the crude tackle, I caught my first trout in the

Yellowstone Lake., After that, with this simple outfit, I was able to

furnish all the trout we could eat, ,
Shortly before I caught my first trout, we met a man who had a ’

wonderful string of them, After we had admired them, Father asked, %

"How much will you charge me for a mess of them?"

“"Itm mighty sorry, stranger, but I can't sell any of them, It's
against the law,"

"See that fence post over there?"Father asked, "I wouldn't be sure-
prised if you would find fifty cents on the top of that post if you |
happen along there in fifteen minutes,"

Fifty cents was then worth several of our present fifty cent pieces.
Father immediastely visited the fence poste Then we got out of
sighte After gbout thirty ﬁinutes'Father visited the post for the second
time and found a nice mess of trout which someone had carelessly left

there.

How is that for a deal with a Presbyterian minister?

We were in the park for two weeks, How different it looks now}
Near oid Faithfﬁl, one or two wooden benches were to be found,but neo
buildings of any sorte We waited six hours to see the Great Fountaln
play and it was well worth the wait. %he beautj™.’ of Inspiration Point
was unspeakable} But there was no way to get across the river to what i

is now known as Artists' Point. We could camp anywhere we wished, as long



but-kad to--use-only fellen-timber- for-our ceamp-fires-Tae bear were no%4
as teme then as they now are and bothered us very little.

To return home, we went out the south entrance, into Jackson's Hole;
where we saw the gient, majestic Grand Tetons. We camped on the shore
of beautiful Jackson's Lgke end passed through a wild, unsettled countrye.
Elk, deer and antelobe were common, but human beings were very few.

The road over the Teton Pass was then terrific. In order to
navigate it, we "doubled up" teams with another outfit. First, we pulled
their vehicle to the top of the pass, then all four horses were brought
back and our wagon was brought upe As we went down the west side of the
pass, with our hind wheels rough locked, we met two men riding on a light
buckboard which was drawn by two sweating horsese.

"There!'s a tip over down the road a little way," one of the men said.

"How did it happen?"I asked.

"g fellow was driving down the rosd and 1t got so steep that the
rig tipped right over the horsesi"

OQur trip home was otherwise uneventful, but after we had camped fa
six weeks, it seemed strange to put one:s feet under a table when we ate,
" and to sleep in a regular bed again,

A short time after our return to Soda Springs, I was again looking
for a job.l Our village was then the headquarters for a great sheep
company, A.J.Knowlin & Company, which we were told, ran sheep in Idaho,
Utah, eastern Washington and eastern Oregon. It was rumored locally that
this company was backed by Swift & Company of Chicago, but this was merely
a rumor. At any rate, Father suggested that he and I go and see MNr.
Knowlin, and ask if he had something thet I could do. When we asked
him for & job, he gave me oOne€. | |

In Ddsho the sheep were usually dipped for sceb in the early eutumne
After they were dipped, those that were to be kept en the open range
for the winter, were often trailed down to southern Utah or Arizona, where

the winters were more mild, It seemed that I was to help dip our herd
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and afterward go with the herd as camp mover, The camp mover cooked
for the herder, cared for the horses and moved the sheep wagon wherever
the herder directed as the sheep were taken from place to place,

At that time many thousand sheep were summered in southern Idaho
and a great central plant for dipping them was constructed in this regione.
Here & large tank was built, in which the material used for dipping, was
mixed and cooked, When the material was ready for use, it was poured
into a very narrow runway of wood, possibly.eighteen inches wide and fifty
feet long. At each end of this Tunway was a wooden platform, fenced in,
and back of this was a larger corral, The sheep were brought from the
corral to this platform at one end of the runwsy . end thréwn<into the
runway itself, The runway was so deep that the sheep had to swim 1its
entire length and, dripping with the solution, would come out onto the
platform at the other end.

I was placed about the middle of the runway, with a pike pole in my
hands, and was told to push each sheep'§ head entirely under the fluid.

In this way every part of the animal would be treated. The fumes and steam
irritated my eyes so severely and so constantly that I was much relieved
when,after two days of this work, I was told thét our outfit was ready

to move,

The sheep wagon, which we called the "sheep camp®, was a2 well cone
structed, heavily built wagon with a waterproof top much like the old
preirie schoonere. The floor of our particular vehicle was sheeted with
some sort of metal, The furniture consisted of s swinging table, a small
cook stove, a cupboard or two for dishes and food; eand a bed which was
built across the back portion of the wagon., Under the bed was the only
place in which extra food and our clothing could be stored,

The camp mmover had to get up very early in order to prepare breakfast
for the herder before the sheep began to move at daybreaek. Early some

chilly mornings, when I put my bare feet down onto the cold metallic floor
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of our camp, I would shiver and often the words so well known would run

through my.youthful minds;

(l’ "Heights by great men resched and kept
Were not attalned by sudden flight,
But they, while their companions slept,
Were toiling upward in the night."

The beauty of this thought was soon spoiled as I wondered just to

what heights one could attain by getting up early enough to cook break-

fast for a sleepy sheep herder before daylighte

Late in September we trailed our herd south to a large ranch which

was owned by the company, This ranch was situated near a little inland

postoffice called Bridge, which was about sixty miles from the nearest

railroade Here our herd was to be wintered and given especially good

care, for it was a special lot of pure bred sheep many of which had been

imported from Englend.

The herder was stationed with the herd, asbout

eight miles from the ranch, and I was moved into a log bunkhouse iniwhich

(H’he-ranch employees lived. All of us ate at the principal ranch house,

where the foreman and his wife residede

I was the only person in the entire community that was not a Mormon.

My bunk mate was a tall, strong young chap, Jeff Pettingill.

Shortly after I met Jeff, he said to me, "My mother is the third wife

of my father, I suppose you would call me a bastard, wouldn't you?"

"0of course not, Jeff. True, your people believe one way and I believe

another. But who am I, to condemn your belief? And even 1f I were

foolish enough to do that, how c¢ould I place any blame on you? You didnt't

have eny choice concerning what your parents might believe or do."

He never brought up the subject of religion again and we were good

friends all the time I was at the ranche.

My regular work was to haul a load of hay, cut from a large stack on

('!he ranch, to our heard each daye As the season advanced, snow became

deep and the road over which I hauled the hay became very difficult and

often quite dangerous.

Besides this, 1 could see no chance to get

¥



any -advancement- in thisrwork.‘ The~most one-ceu1d~h9pe for.-was.te--
become a regular sheep herder. So, as time passed, I became again
very dissatisfied, It seemed to me that my brother=in-law had been
right when he remarked:

"Is it necessary to finish high school in order to learn how to herd
sheep?"

- The result was that, early in January, 1900, I quit the Jjob and
took the so-called stage (which was an open buggy with side curtains),
to the nearest railroad station, Kelton, Utah. From here I could go
by rail to Salt Lake Citye

After the sixty mile ride through zero weather, toward evening I

arrived at Kelton. I found it to be a typical western frontier village.

The business portion consisted of a small hotel, the railroad station,
& general merchandise store and & saloon. The store and the saloon
were only separated by a wall in which an open archway was cute

I had very little cash with me, but did have a check for sixty
dollars, given me by the Knowlin Company when I quit my job with them,
I needed money with which to buy my ticket to Salt Lake City, and I had
been told that I could get my check cashed at this store,

When the clerk was asked to cash this check,'he saw before him an
eighteen year old boy dressed just as I was when I worked at the ranche
I wore a pair of overalls, a heavy sweater, German sox pulled ‘nearly to
my knees, and a heavy pair of high rubber shoes which were put on over

the soxe On my head was a rough but warm cap, which was drawn well

down over my ears. This outfit was worn on the stage because the weather

was so cold that I would have been nearly frozen if I had made the trip

dressed in in an:opdinary suit, I possessed no overcoate

"Fifty-nine forty," the clerk said when he cashed the check. "One

percent charge for cashing the check."

I considered this pure robberye, So when he added,"Why not go and buy

|
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the boys a -drink and-get acquainted?™ - I-repiled, "Not on your life}
'NOt after paylng such a price to get my check cashedi"

A good many rough looking men were listening and had seen the clerk

give me the money, and & glance through the open archway into the saloon
showed me that the bar was quite crowded. My only baggage was a sult of
clothing and a few personal belongings which were in an old fashioned
telescope bag. I picked up the bag and went to the door, where I

found that 1t was already dark outside.

When I asked where the hotel was, a light about a block away wes
pointed out to me. There were no streset lights and no sidewalks, -
just peaths through the snow. Suddenly I seized the telescopbe
bag and raced at top speed through the snow, all the way to the hotel, %
expecting every second that someone would hit me over the head and take
my money} 1

‘l. The hotel clerk gave me permission to change my clothing in a
v vacant room. I put on the suit and & pair of shoes, and left the
German sox and rubber shoes in the room.

By this time the train was pearly due. I had noticed, or had
imagined that I noticed two or three losfers watching me closely at
the hotel. So, again, when I went to the station, I watched my chance
and when £t seemed that no one was watching, I picked up my telescope
bag and ran all the way. Soon afterward the train arrived, and I weas
much relieved when I was seated and on my way to Salt Lake Citye

My sister Edith, who had récovered from her cough, now lived in
salt Lake cit& where her husband had become a mail clerk. On my
arrival, they found a boarding place for me, and at this boarding house
was one of my Soda Springs friends, Edgar Largilliere, who was receiving

‘l’instruction in business administration at the Salt Lake Business Gollege.

I decided to try to become & stenographer, so entered the same institution

and began the study of shorthand and typinge.
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(H’ Uteh's capital of today looks very different from the Salt Lake
- city of 1900. At that time tlie Mormon Temple and tae Tabernacle
appeared much as they do now, enclosed witnin the high wall woich
surrounds Temple Squaree
Trhe c¢ity had a population of about sixty thousand, but because
of trne expense of paving its extremely wide streets, there was Very
1ittle pavement in the eltye In fact, only the business portion
was pavede In spite of this, the city tnen, &s now, was oOne of
the beautiful cities of americee. No capitol building then
existeds The state legislative sessions were held in the eity and
county buildinge. The eonstruction of the present capitol building
was begun about that time, as also was the construction of the
buildings of the University of Utahe
(!’ The statue of Brigham Young that stends at the upper end &
N Main Street, near the Temple, was placed in its present ljocation
while I was attending the Sa1t Lake Business College. This
college was located on the upper floor of the Templeton Building,
just across the street from Temple Square, on Main Street. Several
of the houses formerly occupied by the wives of Brigham Young, were
still stending, not far from Temple Square, and the tomb of Brigheam
Young was near Dbye
galtair Pavillion contained wnat at that time was claimed to be
the largest dancing floor in the world. This pavillion was ssid
to be owned and operated by the Mormon Churche With various groups
of young people, I spent many pleasent evenings there. We ate
picnic dinners which the girls brought in baskets, spent a few
fq’ coins for various ¥nickknacks, rode on the steam merry-ge-round
the music box of whieh burst out merrily with some of the popuiar
tunes as round and round we wente. well before dark we went swimming

in the lake, in which one can float without effort, and frequently

|
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we got the salt water of the lake in our eyes and noses., And
finally our group would return_to the city on the little steam train
which at that time ran back and forth between the lake and the citye.

Because of the tultlion paid for attendance at the Salt Lake
Business College, the cost of board and room,and a few dollars
spent for an occasional excursion to Saltair, it was only a very
short time before I suddenly found that my money was nearly gone.
Either I had to find some way to work part time and supplement the
few dollars that I had left, or discontinue my work at tne business
college. One of the students at the college told me that he
had heard +that an undertaking establishment in the city would furnish
arpoom that was comforteble, to a student who would answer night tele-
phone calls for the mortician, I obtained a very comfortable room
at-this places |

Also I found a restaurant which paid its laundry bills at a local
laundry, with meal tickets instead of cash, I went to this laundry
and found that I could get a meal ticket from them, good for twenty
one meals, for three dollarse In this way, with just a very
little help from Father, I managed to stay in business college for
six months,

At the end of that time I obtained a position as stenographer
in the local of fice of the Ingersole-Sargeant Drill Company, whose
head office was in New York City. This company, I am told, later
combined with the Rand people and now is known as the Ingersol-Rand
Companye.

The Bible tells us that we should be "as wise as serpents and as
harmless as doves," I seriously doubt that either of these require-
ments can be met by me, but at any rate, while in Salt Lake City I

had two chances to see parts of the lower strata of 1life that I had

never before witnessed, Whether or not this was wise, might be
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answered--differently by-different-individualss - - - -oooe e

When I attended highschool in Nebraska, the superintendent of
our school was kr. A. B. Stephens, This gentleman discontinued his
teaching career the year I graduated. Shortly thereafter he moved
to Salt Lake City, where he went into businesse

One afternoon in thé summer of 1900, he came to the office in
which I was employede

"Have you ever seen the insfde of a big gambling house, George,"
he asked, |

"No, I haven't."

", friend of mine has the permission of the owner of the 'Sheep
Camp? to take some of his friends through the place some evening,
I*ve never seen such a place either, and think I'd like to gce It
you care to join us, come elong."

The Sheep Camp was possibly the most famous gembling house in
the city at that time. T™wo evenings later, I entered the Sheep
Camp with this groupe

When compared with the present Herold's Club or the Nevade Club
at Reno, there was a great difference. Beautiful, heavy cerpets
were on the floor. They Wefe so thiek that when one walked on them

there was no hoise. Pictures = o0il paintings = adorned ithe wallse

None of these were of the kind that many might think would predominate |

in such & places Instead of pictures of nude women, there were
» wonderful landscapes and beautiful mountain scenes,

The roulette wheels were spinning almost silently as the players
either stood or were seated on the jeather upholstered stools. No
Yone arm bandits™ broke the silence, for none existed then. Even
the dice seemed to roll almost without a sound. Negroes clothed in
white caps and coats, quietly served whiskey to the players, without

charge. There seemed to be an air of tension everywhere and the
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silence was so noticeable that our group spoke to one another in
whisperse Card games -~ faro, poker and twenty-one - were busy but
there also everything was quiet. Litle was heard except the slight
clatter of chips changing handse No one tried to get us to

try any of the games, and after we had watched them for quite a while,
we quietly left the places

The Sheep Camp was located on Commerical Street, a street that
no longer exists by that name, Along this thoroughfare were said
to be many houses of prostitution, which were reported to be the
better class of such houses,

In another portion of the city there was a place known as Victoria
Alley, where the cheap prostitutes held forth. - I know nothing of
the places on Commerical Street, but one night three of us decided
that we would see what sort of a place Victoria Alley was,

Our watches and money we left at home, and we entered the Alley
at about eleven otclock. It seemed that at some time there had
been small business houses in the Alley, for many of-the buildings had
what appeared to have been fairly large showwindows,Jn these windows
were gathered some of the prostitutes, soliciting businesé from those
pessing bye. ' ‘ I

What a terrible lot of human beingsl Negroes, white girls,
Japanese, Chinese, everything, Their faces and 1lips wére highly
colored and they were clad in flashy, cheaply made, very brief dresses.

In one window sat a specimen of lost womanhood, who rocked to
and fro in a small chair and sang in a loud, coarse voice;

"How I wish my baby would come ini"

It was such a hidious sight that I wondered how it could possibly
attract ahyone. I stopped and began to laughe She jumped out of
her chair, rushed to the door, jerked it open and shrieked, at the

top of her voice:




will be with us in a few minutes. She and I both work, but the place
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"where is that - - S.0eB. With glasses on? I'll tear

his face o £

I jerked off my glasses and stuck them into my pocket, then
hurridly mingled with the crowd, Those around me looked at me with
grins but kept very quiet,

A 1little further along we found a house that seemed orderly and
the door was standing open. A middle aged woman, quietly dressed,
invited us to come in. We entered and were given chairs.

Here, on the walls, were plctures of nude females, such as I had
rather expected to see at the Sheep Camp. The floor was covered with
8 well worn carpet and a cheap bed stood in one corner of the room.

"I have only one girl here," the woman said, "and she is busy but |

belongs to me. The girls on Commerical Street pretend to look down

on us beceause we work cheaper than they do. But, belleve me, when

' the end of the week comes, I put more money in the bank than most of

them do, and thatts what Itm after"

In a few moments a girl who appeared to be not more than eighteen
years old came into the room. Her features were coarse and dissipated
and she was smoking a cigarette, which at that time was very uncommon
in woﬁen.

"Well boys," the elder woman immediately seid, "What will you
have? Some beer? Or go to bed? The place is yours."

"We are just sizing up the places tonight," one of eur boys
replied, "Your place looks all right. We'll see you both tomorrow
night."

"Thatts all right boyse But if you don't want anything tonight,
be on jour way and make room for someone else. Business 1s business
you know, Be seein! you." _

With that, she opened the door and hurried us out whefé’the

air was fresh againl
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I have walked down some tough streets in my 1life, but never have
I seen such a vile place as Victoria Alleyl Salt Lake City is to be
congratulated that long since it has eleaned up both Victoria Alley
and Commerical Street,

Originally it was intended thet the sentimental side of my early
1life would be omitted in this narretive. To me 1t had s eemed
that it would be sufficient to state that I had married and to glve
Wife full credit for the wonderful support she has given me through
the years of our married life, Jowever, after I thought the matter
over more carefully, I came to the decision that everything should be
included which effected the career of the writere

The boarding house in which I 1lived dﬁring my first few months
in Salt Lake, was the home of Marcus Jones, & mining engineer who at
that t ime was one of the mine inspectors of Utahe At his home was a
fifteen year old girl, Iila Ivy, who worked for her board and room
and attended high schoole I was three years hef senior,

During my highschool days I h=d not kept company with any one
girl for any length of time, but head associated with several, All
of them I liked as friends, but felt no special sffection for any
one of them,

At the Jones home, however, I became acquainted with ILila and
found  that she attended the same church that I did, and that many of
her assoclates were also my associctes, Before long we were going
to parties and picnics together, and gradually we developed a case of
what most of our older population call "puppy love",

Since that time I have often thought that, in spite of the fact
that we are inclined to treat our first experience of an unusual
affection for another person as & joke, yet in many cases this very

experience has & lasting effect on tze lives of those who go through ite.
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This effect may be very good or very bad, depending largely on the relig-

lous and moral standsrds of those involved,

I am happey to say that I found Iila to be a girl of high moral
standards and deep religious beliefs, and as I look back on our associat
ion together, I find little to eriticize and ruch to commend,

Salt Lake City was typically western in those days, and 11ike most
cities, had many things deserving of praise, mixed with much that was
morally filthy,. The affection that I felt for Lile during my ado-
lescent days in that city, Was a powerful influence for good,

Despite the fact that I had no money, we both felt that we should
be bound together by an éngagement ring, So I went to & pPawnbroker!s
establishment and found g little gold band with a single opal setting,
which could be had for three dollars ang fifty cents, I managed to
Scrape this smount together and both she and I were vVery happy when:

I placed this ring on her finger,

When summer came and the 8¢hool year ended, Iilais parents wrote
that she had best come home, They lived at Farmington, New Mexico,

By this time I had Seécured my position ag g stenographer, One after-
noon I asked for time off 80 that I could accompany her to the train,

That was the last time I ever saw Iils, But, as future events
unfold, it will be shown that this Puppy love of ours €xerted such an
influence on my actions during the next few months, that the entire
course of my life weas changed,

When she was gone 1t seemed that Salt Lake had lost its attraction
for me, I began to be dissatisfied with everything, After much
thought I decided that T shouldn't be a stenographer the rest of my
life, in spite of the fact that I liked my work very much. Ultimately
I came to the decision that I would attempt to follow the footsteps of

my good father, and prepare myself for the Presbyterian ministry,

Of this decision T wrote to Iila ang she strongly approved of it,

i

|
|
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Father and Mother were also both greatly pleased,

By the time I had arrived at the decision to g° into the ministry,
it was late autumn - too late to enter any standard college., Ky
brother-in-law, Nr, Allen, had attended the Valparaiso University at
Valpareiso, Indianay and he informed me that this school was in session
fifty weeks each year. These fifty weeks were divided into five
terms of ten weeks each and one could enter the institution at the
beginning of any term. 1 therefbre resigned at the office, gave a
mbnths notice, and in early Janusry of 1901, took the train for
Valparaiso, Upon my arrival there, I immediately entered the
University,

At this school I found the cost of living to be surprisingly cheap,
At East Hall, where four hundred students ate, board could be had for
one dollar and forty cents s week} Rooms were correspondingly cheap
&t Columbia Hall and while these rooms were very plain, they were
comfortable,

This school I attended for twenty weeks, Catalogues from several
colleges had been obtained by me and in this way I had found what was
usually required during the Freshman_year at most colleges, As @&
result, I took work in trigonometry, college algebra, advanced Latin and
ancient English. During this time I also continued practice in
typing so that I wouldn't get out of practice,

Agaln, my good father came to my rescue with a few dollars, or I
couldntt have finished my second term there,

While at Valparaiso I met a representative of the Keystone View
Company of Meadville, Pennsylvania, who gave me instruction in selling
their stereoscopes and views, This proved to be very valuable, for
I followed this line of work during my summer vacations for seven
summers, and made more money in this way than I could possibly have made

otherwise,
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At the time I attended Valpsaraiso University, its course of study
was substandard to the extent that one could obtain a Bachelor of
Science degree in a little over a year, and by working hard, a
Bachelor of Arts could be obtained in about two yesars, Becgse of
this sub-standardization, which has long since been corrected,, I
decided not to continue there, but to enter Coe Collegé"at Cedar Rapids,
Iowa, the following autumn. Information was received from Coe that
I would receive credit there for the work done at Valparaiso, provided

that my work at Coe would prove to be satisfactory.
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THIRTY DOLLARS AND A BICYCLE.

In mid-=summer, a little over a year after Lilas left Salt Lake
City, I received a letter from her in which she urged me to come
to Farmington immediately and be married.

"There is a man here at Farmington who is insisting that I
forget you and marry him."

"If T did this," I replied, "I would always be either a steno=-
grapher or a day laborer, as I know no other occupation. Under those
circumstences it seems to me that ultimately we would both be very
unhappye We are both still very joung. The years will soon pass
while I complete my education and then we can be married immediztely."

About three weeks after I meiled this reply, a letter came which
informed me that she was married. A day or two later the 1little
opal ring arrived,

For a time, I was very badly upset and found comfort only by
working so hard that I had little time to think. But my association
with ILile was primarily what pulled me out of my position as a
stenogrepher and sent :me to college. In this way the entire trend
and aim of my 1life was changede.

September,‘1901, found me entering Coe College. There I was
classified as a Sophomore, conditioned becesuse I was still short in
languages, In order to remedy this, five hours a week in the study
of Greek were addéd to my regular schedulee.

During my first year at Coe, I was taken under the care of
Presbytery, as is customery in the event of & student who 1s preparing

himself for the Presbyterian ministrye. During that year I received
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!
one hundred dollars from the Presbyterian Board of Christian Education, {

to help defray my expenses, In order to save the cost of board, I
wailted tables at the Pullman Hotel three hours a day and also did
some stenographic work Saturdays,. Again, I had a very little
help from homee.

During my entire attendance at Coe, I was a member of the track
team, which ectivity took considersble time. At the end of my first
year there, I went to Carlyle, Illinois and sold stereoscopes and
views during my entire vacation.

The town of Breese, a few miles west of Carlyle, was made up
a@lmost entirely of coal miners and their families, Here I found an
excellent market for the stereoscopic views. ! |

The miners received their pay every two weeks, I took orders
from house to house during the time between pay days, and the evening
the men were paid I began to deliver these orders Just as rapidly
as possible, because the money of many of the miners would soon be
gonee

Meny of these men had good homes and were very comfortable
financially. Also many of them, when they received their pay checks,
would settle their grocery accounts at the company store; for the
store would‘only give two weeks credite After their store bills
were paid, they would spend the remsinder of their funds quickly,

One fairly large order I sold to the bar tender and owner of
one of the Breese saloons. From him I received the most strenuous
temperance lecture that it was ever my privilege to hear,

His order was delivered early in the afternoon, when the men
were all at work and the ssloon was practically emptye. When he paid
me, he said, "Have a drink on me."

"Thanks very much, but I don't drink."
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Jmmediately he brought me a bottle of orange soda, then picked
up a very small beer muge

"See that little stein?" he saide "It holds only two ounces
of beer. I keep it here all the time because the miners insist that
I drink with them and 1t keeps me from getting too muche If you
worked in this place for a while, you't never drink a drop. Some
of the men get along all right even if they do drink, for they use
liquor moderately and never abuse it. But I have seen so0 many
that don't stop there, so many homes ruined and so many good men
spoiled by drinking that I am about to sell out and get into some
other line of work."

What a lecture = by & saloon ownerl

That summer there was much high water at Carlyle, and I went
swimming nearly every eveninge

I decided to try for the Coe football team that fall, so went
to a football camp on the Iowa Hiver, a few miles from Cedar Rapids,
two weeks before college opened. Evidently I had picked up a
typhoid infection when swimming in Illinois, for I became 111 with
typhoid shortly after I got into camp. ' The coach sent me to
St. Lukes Hospital, in Cedar fapids, near Coe. There I remained
for forty-seven days,

Much of the first two weeks of my illness I reﬁember very
indistinctly.,  However, I will never forget the ward in which I was

placed. Our hospitals are so very different now from those at that

time,

In this institution there was only one mens ward and it must
have contained somewhere between fifteen and twenty beds. There
was no pediatric department; children, if not placed in private

rooms, were put into the mens or womans ward, depending on the sex

of the patient,. Surgical and medical cases were cared for in’ the



41

same ward and typhoid patients were only segregated to the extent
of having them grouped together in one part of the ward,

During the first two weeks of sickness, I only remember that
some sick child that was in our ward, was crying a greet deal and
I wished it would stop and let me rest, Carpenters were construct-
ing some sort of an addition to the hospital and their constant
ﬁhammering disturbed me when I was conscious ehough to notice the noise.

One night, after a hot water bottle had been placed at my feet,
I thought that the hospital was burning, and made an unsucecessful
effort to get out of bed. The night nurse ssw me moving about and
immediately came to my bed. When she asked what was the matter, I
said, "Cag't you see? The whole hospital is burning and we must
get out of here quick," |

"Just quiet down and look around," she said, "There is no
smoke anywheres. All the other patients are resting quietly in their
beds. It's just your imagination that is fooling you, because you
have been so sick, Now you will be all right, won't you?"

"0f course. Why does one have to imagine such things?"

But after she left, I had to fight myself for quite a little
time to keep the same ides from again dominating me,

Another night I had so severe an intestinal hemorrhage that
I became mentally confuseds Two or three nurses stood at the foot
of my bed and I heard one of them say, "We have sent for his doctor,
but it won't do any good. He'1l be gone before morning".

Fortunately, in my confusion I imagined that there were five
or six of me there, lying side by side, and I thought thiat if one
of me died, it would make no difTerence because tnere would be plenty
of me left to carry on.

How strange it is that one remembers such things so clearly

after he has been 111 to such an extent that he has been mentally
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confusedl

After 1 had been sick three weeks, my parents, who thought
that I was improving, wrote thst the lad with whom I had gone swimming
so meny tlmes, had also been stricken with typhoid and had died.
Depressing as these news were, I was little bothered because I was
still too sick to dwell on the matter.

Again the tide turned and I began to recover. Coe students
would drop in and chat for a few minutes and I was told that repeatedly
prayers had been offered in my behalf at the morning chapel meetings
at college, One evening I had the pleasure of having the college
president call and chat for a few moments,

As soon as I was able to be up, I took the train to Tipton,
Iowa, where an aunt lived. There I remained until I was able to
re-enter college.

It was mid~-November when I returned to Cedar Rapids, and resumed
my studiess, Agaln, as in my earlier typhoid attack, I had lost
all my hair, but after a time a new grbwth began to appear, Weight
had been regained with amazing rapidity - an average of a pound a
day for the first thirty days. But my weakness was 8till such that
I could hardly carry the heavy trays when waiting on tables at the
hotel, However, when the end of the semester came, I had managed
to get satisfactory grades in enough work to give me ten of the
fifteen credits usually required of Juniors for the semesters work,

During those weeks spent in college, my recovery was S0 Slow
that I was physically and mentally miserable and often wished 1
had died of the typhoid. At the close of the semester, it seemed
to me that the only thing for me to do was to leave college for
the remainder of the year and “xy to regain my healthe

With this in view, I wentt© Brooklyn, Iowa and again began
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to sell stereoscopes and views, But it seemed that I was subnormal
in every way, For the first time, I failed to make expenses in this
work in which I had previously done so well, Each day I became
more and more mentally depressed until I thought that nothing was
worth while, But at last the idea hit me that I might possibly get
better 1f I had some outdoor work to do, that would require much
exercise, Such work must support me, for I had no money left,

The Presbyterian Board of Ghristian Education had glven me thirty-
three dollars when I was trying to catch up with my work at Coe, but
this was gone,

It was now mid March and the frost was coming out of the ground
and vegitation was beginning to grow,

At the local hotel I talked with Some men who were looking for
farm work and they told me that I should stay at the hotel for a few
days and farmers who needed help would eall the hotels But I hed
no funds with which to pay for lodging, so one morning I started
out of Brooklyn and stopped at each farm and asked for work,

Something over a mile out, I came to the home of Nr. Al MecCall,
who sald that he could use a hired man for a month, during the spring
work. This just suited me, I went to work for twenty-five dollars
a month, board and room furnished, Heére started a friendship that
was to last for many years,

At this time I was heavier than I had ever been, but still
weak and pale, My new crop of hair was about é half inch long,.

Some weeks later Nrs. McCall saeild to me, "™When you asked for work
I noticed how fat and pale you were and thought that your head had
been shaveds I wondered if you had just come from the state

penitentiaryi"
The morning after I was hired, Mr. McCall gave me a tiling
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spade, took me to the field and told me to dig post holes for a new
fencee The last few inches of each hole had to be dug through
frozen ground, as the spring thaw was not yet quite complete.

I managed to work all day, but before night my body ached
intolerably. Again I wondered if anything was worth while. But the
discomfort gradually became less as the days passed and I began to
feel better than I had for many months. More important was the fact
that as I gained strength, the xental depression gradually disappearede.

When the month ended, the spring work was well caught up, so Al
needed me no longers With a part of my twenty-five dollars, I made
a payment on a gray horse (Billy) and a used buggy. With this I
again started out through the country selling stereoscopes and viewse
Previous to this, I had traveled on my bicycle when doing this work
in the countrye.

The McCall hOme was made my headquerters, and I pald a reasonable
amount for what meals and lodging I had there. In this work I
remained all summer, until again it was time to return to college.

The horse and buggy were left at the licCalls for the winter.

The summers work had proven to be such a financial success that
I returned to college happy and again in good health.

At college, I agein worked at a restaurant for my board and did
stenographic work week ends to help finances., And that year, my
Junior year, the Presbyterian Boerd of Christian Education again
presented me with one hundred dollars to help defray expensese.

Even at that time I was not entirely satisfied with the idea of
entering the ministry. gt Salt Lake I had heard a medical missionary
give a talk at our church, in which he said that medical missionaries
were badly needed. He added that young people who would enter this

field could do great good and that they could get financial aid while

RS ge, Segey K JPRpe e m 22 2 Ter T wrmnmbt +~ ann~ him and nffered
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to do all I could to obtain a medical education and enter this work,
but for some reason he seemed to have lost most of his enthusiasm
and I got nowhere with him, So I gave up the idea,

_ At Coe, during my Junior year,again 1 was given to understand
that medical men were badly needed in the foreign mission fields.
Therefore I joined the "Student Volunteer Movement," which was formed
for the purpose of getting students to volunteer to enter some part
of the foreign mission work.

At this time I wrote to the Presbyterian Board of Educstion and
asked what I should do to prepare myself for work as a medical
missionary rather than for the ministry. The reply was that such
material was then qﬁite plentiful and that no more mediecal volunteers
could}be used because there was not sufficient money availeble to

support them in foreign fields.

Sé once more, and I thought permanently, I gave up the idea
of obtaining a medical education and went forward with my prepasrations
for the Presbyterian ministry.

That year I entered into college activities outside of my
regular college work, much more than formerly., I was still a member
of the track teamy There were no fraternities at Coe at that time,
but there were two mens literary socleties that were active. =
acted as president of one of these, the 0lio Society, for two
semesters = my entire Junior fear. I was business manager of the
Coe College Cosmus and found that 1t took some real work to make
the paper pay its waye _

Because of my desire to improve my ability to speak in public,
I entered the home oratorical contest, in which I took second place,

Also I entered the Dows Essay Contest and was awarded a twenty dollar

gold piece, The twenty dollars was very acceptable, for my finances
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were again about depletede

Because of my engaging in these various activities and the
necessity of working for my board, I had no time to spare for any-
thing else,  During this vear I worked at Marshalls Restaurant in
down town Cedar Rapids, and had become efficlent enough as a wailter
80 that only two hours work a day were required for my board,

My Senior year was also plezsant. Due to the work I had done

during the part of a semester in which I had attended college immediate=

ly after I had typhoid, I had several credits to spare. So I
took a yyears work in the study of German, which was not required
in my course., My major: throughout college attendance had been
English, and my principal minor subject was psychology,

At graduation, a disappointment awaited me, possibly because
I was over sensitive, I felt that I was unjustly treated because
1t seemed to me that students who had not worked as hard as had I,
and had not entered as many activities outside of their regular work
88 had I, were graduated with "cum laude" or "megnum cum laude"
while + received neither. Because of this, at that time I felt so
bitter thet I thought I would never again set foot on the Coe campus,
Long since I have learned that such honors are of little practical
value, so the bitterness that I then felt disappeared long ago.

| After graduation I went to Iolsa, Illinois, where my parents

now lived, and helped 1n-the construction of a small house for them.
Father had retired from the ministry due to his advanced age,

While I worked on the house, the thought kept persistantly
returning that I was not fitted for the ministry, I was afraid I
would be considered in the same light as was the minister Father

used to tell abouts
This minister had saild that he had seen in the heavens, these
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letters; G.P.C., and therefore felt that he had been called into
the Christian ministry, for these three letters could only mean,
"Go Preach Christ," However, most of his congregations, when told
of his having seen these three letters in the sky, thought that they
must heve meant "Go Plow Corni"

When the house was completed, about a month after my graduation,
1 told Father that agaih I had decided to make an effort to obtain
a medical educations If 1 found that I was not needed in the mission
field, I would work at home,

Three hundred and thirty three dollars had been received by me
from-the Presbyterian Board of Christian Education. When I contacted
this board concerning the change in my plans, I was told that such a
change would be satisfactory with them if, after my education was
completed, I would pay back what they had furnished, with five percent
éompound intereste. This payment was made in full by me some years
later, |

Father gave me five dollars and + rode my bicycle the three
hundred miles from.Iola, Illinois, to Cedar Rapids., When I arrived
there, once more I was without funds, Marshall's Restaurant trusted
me for a meél ticket good for twenty-one meals, and the home in which
I had roomed during my last two years in college, trusted me with
room rent for a weeks
| Immediately I obtained work on the construction of the Allison
Hotel in down town Cedar Rapids. Here I was employed two weeks
and earned enough money to enable me to take the train to Holdrege,
Nebraska, where I sold stereoscopes and views the remainder of the
summer, N

At Holdrege many of the people remembered my parents and myself

and very frequently one of them would say to me, "Are you selling
the views in an effort to make money to attend college?"
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"Yes, I am, but I don't want to make a sale on that account,

If you like the views and wish to buy them because you want them, I
am glad to sell them to you. But I don't want you to buy them just
to help mes"

When I look back at my experiences there, I really believe that
this attitude was possibly a great stimulant to the sale of the
viewé. At any rate, I sold them in quantities much greater than
ever before had been the casee. When summer was over I was ready
to go to the University of Iowa and enter the College of Mediclne with
80 much cash that I felt I could easily get aiong if I could find
work in a restaurant or hotel that would take care of my board; I
felt very happy when I boarded the train for Iowa City.

Never had I bgen in a Pullman. The night was spent in an
ordinary chair car. Most of my money I put into a bill fold in my
inner coat pockete Thirty dollars in bills and a}few cents in change
were placed in a small purse in my hip pocket. '

When night came, 1 slept soundly and when I woke in the morning
I thought, "What a good world it is end how fortunate I am. Truly
God has been good to me in spite of the fact that I have décided not
to enter the ministry."

I went into the wash room and scrubbed my face énd hands, and
it was when I was putting on my coat that b § first noticed that there
was no bill fold in my coat pocketl

Had I put it in another pocket and forgotten it? Hurridly I
searched every pocket but still no bill fold. I went over evefy
jnch of the wash room, but found nothing.

Thoroughly alarmed, I hurried back to my seat and searched
the Seat on which I had slept and the floor eround 1t, with no
resultl} The small purse with the thirty dollars was still in my

pocket, but the bill fold with the bulk of my summert!s savings
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was gonel Evidently someone had taken it from my pocket while I

was sound asleep, during the nighte

An unreasonable anger surged through me, I think the most
violent that I have ever experienced, and my mind was in a tumult,

"I have worked so hard for that money and built up such hopes
about entering the college of medicinel

"Al1l for nothingl

"Ihope the good Lord will bring some great trouble to whoever
stole that moneyl Nothing could be too bad for such a personi

"The 'Good Lord'? 1Is He really good?

"Could 1t be that He caused this to happen so that I will have

no money'to enter medical school, and will become so discouraged
. that I will go into the ministry, for which I feel that I am not
fitted?

"Well, I won't do itl After what has happened I will go into
any other occupation on earth rather than the ministryl _;

"But wait a minutel God has always been good to me and it
might be just possible that He is testing my determination to study
medicine. | |

"I ought to be ashamed of myself to let my temper get the best
of me in this way."

I noticed that some of the passengers were watching me rather
closély. |

"I must control my temper and stop searching for the wallet, for
it 1s surely gone and searching won't bring it Back. If T told
people what has happened, likely they would take a big leugh out of
it and say that it was a good lesson = that I shoud have ceen more

careful of my moneyl

"I won't give the thief the satisfaction of resding in tomorrows
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paper gbout how the pockets of en easy mark have been picked, No
one will hear about it from me}

"I still have thirty dollars, my ticket to Iowa City, and my
bicycle in the baggage car, It cant't do any harm to go to the
University and see what I can do, Possibly God will still be good
L0 me once more and open some way by which I can go oni"

In order to appear more composed, I went forward to the next
car and bought a daily paper from the news agent, When I returned
to my seat I tried to resd the paper, but can remember not a single
word that was printed, At any rate, the‘anger and frustration
gradually ebbed, and a determinastion grew, to make every possible
effort to get into the College of Medicine, as I had intended.

At the University I was told that the Y.M.C.A. had an employment
egency which tried to locate work for studénts who needed it to
supplement their finances., When I told this agency that I had to
work and that I was an experienced stenographer and waiter, I was
informed that the situation was hopeless so far as any work in these
lines was concerned. It seemed that an unusual number of applicants
for work as stenographers and waiters had been there and failed to
find employment, so had left. To me it seemed that there was no
possibility of obtaining work unless I could find it by going from
restaurant to restaurant and telling of my experience as a waiter.

At first this proved tq be a discouraging procedure, It seemed
that there had been many applicants everywhere, before me, Place
after place reported that they had more help than they really needed,
and that after the university work began and it was found whether
or not the number of students would be such that all their present

help would be needed, likely they wculd have to let some of their

employees go.



Toward evening, discouraged and tired, 1 dropped in at the
College Inn. At first the "boss" told me that he had all the help
he could possibly use. I insisted on telling him of my experience
as & walter in Cedar Repids, aend that I could handle either try or
arm work,

At last he said, "I really need someone who is experienced and
trustworthy to work from nine to twelve at night, after the cashier
has gone home, This shift takes care of the parties and the crowds
from the theatres,"

I told him where I had worked at Cedar Rapids, and he left me
for & few minutes, He must have called Cedar Hapids, for when he
returned he said, "If you will take the work from nine to twelve at
night, I'1l try yoq."

Once more the sun was beginning to shinel

The following day I went into the office of a small loecal
weekly paper, the Johnson County Democrat, and asked if they needed
a part time stenographer, Again fortune smiled on me, for srrange-
uents were made for me to come to the office at 5:30 each afternoon
and teke dictation, I was to take my notes home and turn out the
correspondence sometime‘during the night and leave it at the printing
office the next morning. Théy even furnished me with an old
Remington typewriter.

So I entered the College of Medicine with resources of only

o1

thirty dollars and a bicycle} Some years later one of the professors

told me that as far as he knew, that was & record which had never
been equaled, I sincerely hope that it will never be necessary for
anyone to equal it}

The first semester there, I experienced the hardest financisl

struggle of my life, and that year was possibly my haerdest year of
studye.
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Tuition for students who were citizens of the state of Iowa, was
then fifty dollars a year plus laboratory fees. Fortunately, when I
was at Coe, I had registered as a voter and had voted for Theodore
Roosevelte This made me legally & citizen of Iowa in spite of the
fact that my parents lived in Illinois,so I was able to enter the
medical college at the rate given to citizens of Iowa. . T wenty-five
of my thirty dollars were peaid fof my first semesters tuitione.

At a rooming house I paid most of my remaining five dollars as
part payment for a months room rent. My room mate was a law student,
Mr, Carlton, Several medical students had rooms at the same place.
They soon found that I was short of funds, and some Sophomores loaned
me enough of their Freshman text books to enable me to get along with
my studies,

Just when I thought that things were temporarily under control,
I was informed that a deposit of six dollars was required at the
chemistry laboratory. I possessed no six dollars and knew that the
only thing that I could do was to borrow it if possible,

George Buresh, who had been & clessmate of mine at Coe, was
now a law student at the University, and I managed to locate him and
asked him for the loan. He was more than kind to let me have 1it.

A few days later I was fortunate encugh to get the job of making
two copies of a long paper which one of the doctors was to deliver
at some medical meeting. For this work I received six dollars, and
paid George. I shall always feel much gratitude for the kindness
shown to me by the students at my rooming house and by Georgee

Possibly due to the fact that I had taken dictation rapidly in
short hand wnen I did stenographic work, I had learned to write long
hand very rapidly. Because of this, I was asble to take notes at

lectures, in long hand and in permeanent note books, This mgde it
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unnecessary to rewrite them and saved much time,

One of our Chemistry professors, Doctor Poore, gave me some
stenographic work which I could do Sundays., Always I carried a
note book or text book with me when at work at the Johnson County'
Demecrat office, so that I could study if there was any delay in
my receiving dictation,

Previous to the time I entered the College of Medicine, I had
made it & fixed rule not to study on Sunday, but to really make that
day a day of rest. Now I had to work just as hard on Sunday as on
the other dix days,

Several times before this semester ended, I was so short of funds
that I was unable to pay any laundry bille Fortunately, i had been
given a heavy, pull over sweater with a large letter "C" on 1t, for
my running when on the track team at Coe. When the cash was so
short that I couldn't get a shirt laundered, I was}able to get along
by wearing this sweater, I still have it, and frequently think over
my first days at the University of Iowa when I see it.

One evening I came home from the printing office and threw myself
down on my bed for a few moments rest. When I woke, I found that
someoﬁe had drawn the curtains and placed & chair close to my bed.

On the chair was a skull with a light in it, which gave it a wonderful
appearances Beughing, I started out the door to see if ¥ could find
who the culprit was, when I noticed a paper pinned to the outside of
the door on which was written:
"0h, some folks die a whiskey
And some folks die a beer
And some folks die=-g=betes
And some folks die-a-rear,
But of all of the diseases
That give the shakes to me,

Worst's the drip, drip, drip and the drop, drop, drop
Of the demmed old gonoreel"



The ™medics"seemed to 1live up to their reputation of being the
hardest workers and the biggest "rough necks" on the campusi 1 found
them to be a wonderfully fine lot of fellowse

With the program that I had worked out, I was able to carry on
and meet expenses, but the hours were so long and the work so hard
that I became more and more tired. There was no time for any sort
of leisure or reste When the required work and study were completed,
far too little time was left for sleepe. Toward the end of the
semester it seemed utterly impossible for me to continue my schedule
much longer. Very reluctantly I decided that at the end of the
semester I would have to quit for the remsinder of the year, and
resume my studies the following years

When Father learned of this plan he immedistely contacted my
prother Robert, who had become depot sagent at Ketchum, Idaho = now
Sun Valleye. Just before the close of the semester a letter came
from Brother, in which he said that he would loan me the money with
which to finish my course. This he did, for which I am eternally
gratefule

When I had finished my interneship, I owed him just a thousand
dollars, and the Presbyterian Board of Christian Education three
hundred thirty-three dellars plus intereste. Really, it is a good
worldl

The only difficulty I had with my studies when in medical college,
was in the courses required in bacteriology and chemistrye When at
Coe I took work in experimental psychology and found that I was red-
green color blind and that my color vision was defective to a lesser
degree in some other colorse

In the study of bacteriology, often the identification of varlous

types of bacteria depends on ones color vision, as the specimens are

stained and counter-stained with color reagentse. many of our tests
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consisted partly in the identification of various bacteria which were

present on slides handed to us without being labeled in any waye

Since I was not able to identify the micro-organisms by color, I had
to study very carefully the shape,isize and grouping habits and other
characteristics of the bacteris in order to be able to identify them,
| In Chemistry also, good color vision is necessary in order to

make various laboratory tests, I had the idea that if our instruct-
ors found that I had defective color vision, they might not let me
g0 on with my medical education. For that reason I never told
elther an instructor or any medical student that I was color bling,
and menaged to graduate without their having knowledge of 1it.

Whilé I was at Iowa City, the most important thing in my 1ife |
occurred,

During my Freshman year I became acquainted with one of the
nurses who was in training at that time, Miss Hartha i, Fratzke,
We beceme engaged and after she had finished her training and had
obteined her degree as a registered nurse, we were married.

This partnership began April 7th, 1909, and has proved to be
a partnership that has never failed, During the first few years
of my practice, without my wife's help I couldnft have accomplished
many of the things that I did, And while she no longer helps me
professionally as a nurse, she is still at my side as a wife,

In June, 1909, my interneship completed, with my wife I boarded

a train for the weste
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WESTWARD HO!
R T

How the practice of medicine has changed since 19091

Recently there has heen a scarcity of physicians, but those who
have entered the profession have been well trained and at a great
expense.

Shortly before I entered medical college, the pre-medical
educational requirements were very lowe Many practicing physicians
had entered medical schools without even having completed & high
school courses Moreover the time actually spent ir these institut-
ions by meny of these men, had been two years of six months each,

The time required to complete such & course was gradually increased
to three such yeers, and a very few jyears before my entrance into
medical school, the time required to complete such a course of study
et the State University of lowa, was lengthened to four years of nine
months each, Also the pre-medical educational requirements were
raisede.

At thet time, however, few 1f any states required that a doctor
who began to practice within its vorders, should have had any experience
as an internee. As a result, it was the exception rather than the
rule that medical gracuates had been benefitted by the valuable
experience gained by such hospital work.

Because of these conditions which soO recently had existed, it
was only a few years before my entrance.into medical practice, that
e doctor could complete his medical educetion in a very short time and
with very little expense compared with that of todaye. The result was

that many men, capable and otherwise, found their way intoc the
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In 1900 it was said that in the United States there was
approximately one doctor for every five hundred people. This made
competition between these men very keen, often very unethical and
in various ways exceedingly disagreeable, Many physicians seemed
to take great pleasure in belittling their brother practitioners
without causes Often such statements as tnese could be heard:

"If you had continued that treatment another hour or two,
the case would have been hopeless."

"He doesn't know anything = it is mighty luckey you called me
when you didi"

How often in the early deys of my practice were such statements
heard and how seldom do we hear them in recent yearsl} And strangely
enough, in those earlier days the general public seemed very happy
to enlarge these things and psss them alonge

This attitude both on the part of many of the physicians and
much of the public, caused a great deal of discord and often regrettable
relations between doctors resulted. It 1s wonderful tuat instead
of the sattitude that then existed in many places, there is now a
general spirit of helpfulness and cooperation between doctors} Not L
only is it very much better for the medical men, but also for the
welfare of thelr patients.

All through my years in medical school, I had cherished the
idea that I would go west as soon as my interneship was finished.
It had been my thought to go to Idaho, as I knew that country.

But om 1nvestigation,‘i found that the westerm states had mo recie
proecity with amy other states so far as permitting physiclams to
practice within their borders was concernede. Every physician,
before he bullt up a practice in the Pacific coast states, hed to

appear before a so-called Board of Viedical Examiners, and undergo
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a very thorough examination. When I went west, I had to do this
in spite of the fact that I had passed such an examination in Iowa,

The Idaho State Board of ¥edical Examiners gave no such test
until October, while the Oregon board examined applicants early in
July. Rather than wait these three months without any income,

I decided to take the Oregon examination. This lasted three days
and was held in Portland.

With this in view, I sent for and received literature from
Oregon and decided to settle somewhere 1n the western portion of
the state, although I had not 2 single acquaintance there.

At the time of our marriage Martha's father and mother mede us
a present of five hundred dollars. To celebrate our marriage, we
went to Chicago and spent & week end. Whet was left of the five
hundred dollars was our total capital iith which to go west, furnish
our home and purchase equipment and supplies for my office.

My interneship at Iowa finished the sixteenth day of June and
a few days later we were on our way weste. It was our thought
that we could travel in a day coach and stop off nights, as in this
way we could save what we then considered the high expense of
Pullman accommodationse.

Our first day of travel brought us to Phillipsburg, Kansas,
where we arrived toward evening. We were met at the train by an
old fashioned hotel bus which had a long seat along each side and
a door in the rear through which one entered after he had climbed up
a couple of steps. Glass windows extended all around the vehicle,
and the rattling these windows did became tremendous when tn€ Two
mules hitched to the bus started for the hotel, The driver climbed
onto his seat in front, whistled through his teeth, waved a long
whip over the mules, and down the dusty street we plunged with a

deafening clatter.
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!.' Martha never had seen anything like it, and lapsed into silence,
with her eyes glued on our surroundingse.
After a few minutes ride through the dust, we arrived at a
hotel which really wasntt bad for those days, Here we registered,
and as we did so the clerk absently whistled the old song which at
that time was in vogue:
"Come away with me, Lucile, in our airy Olsmobile,
Down the road of life we'll fly, auto-mo-bubling,you and I,

To the church we'll quickly wheel and the wedding bells will peal

You may go as far as you like with me in our airy Olsmobile.*

My opoligies to the auther, but when we think of Phillipsburg, |
that clerk and those words invariably are mentally pictured. |
The following morning we took the train again and arrived at
Coloredo S?rings toward evening. Here we spent & little time
going on the famous High Drive with a driver and buggy - real sports,
‘.. spending the little we hadl And we walked a short distance up
the Pikes Peak frail that I had climbed many years before,
The third day we again took the train, this time on the Denver
and Rio Grande Railway, and started for Salt Lake City. Things
happened on this part of our journey that surely must have been
caused because we started on Fridayl
A bridge burned out ahead of us and we had to transfer to
another train which was on the west side of the burned bridge. This
delayed us some hours,.
A freight train was wrecked and there was another wait for the
track to be cleared.
We ran out of water for washing, so had only drinking watere.
. Consequently we were dirty and grimy. But in spite of these things,
o we arrived at Salt Lake City eight hours late, but still happy.
After a day in Salt leke, during which I again saw meny old

scenes and talked with various past acquaintances, we took the Union
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Pacific trailn to Ketchum, Idaho, Here brother HKobert was still
station agent. In order to save some of tihe few dollars we still
had, I left Martha at Ketchum while I wenti on to Portland alone,

to take the required examination.

At that time the law of Uregon stated that one who desired to
practice medicine and surgery in the state, was only required to
pass the examination given by the State Board of Medical Examiners.
Because of this seemingly low requirement, the idea seemed to be
prevelent in the east that there would be little trouble in procuring
2 license in Oregone. in order to improve this condition until
the State Legislature would enact more severe laws, the examining
board gave a very tuorough examinstion. Afterward I was told that
of the one hundred and eight of us who took the test at the time I
took it, forty failed.

The examination, given in the old wooden Lincoln High School,
was conducted in a common class room. An applicant was placed in
every seat and spotters paced the isles constantly, in order to
make certain that no information was exchanged between those being
examined. A large table wasAplaced in the front part of the
room and several who were suspected of attempting to give or obtain
information, were conducted to this table to complete thelr teste

It seemed to me that the questions asked were, for the most part,
very fair, and I finally received an average grade about two percent
nigher than I had obtained in the Iowa examination,

Martha followed me to Portland and from there we took the train
to the southern Opegon town of Koseburge

We found Hoseburg to be a little city of three or four thousand
populatione Martha and I went to Rice & Rice, furnitured ealers,

and succeeded in obtaining on credit enough furniture to enable us
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to 1live in a small rented cottage on Pine Street, Down town I
immediately established an Gffices

Day after day pessed without word from the State Board of Medical
Examiners as to whether or not I had passed the examination. Without
such assurance, I was technically practicing without a license
and was subject to arrest and a fine which I would have no money to
Pay e For that reason 1 was apprehensive all the time and kept
much to myself instead of mixing with people, as I should.

Under these circumstances, in a month I had just one patient}
This was & young lady with a leg infection for which I prescribed,
‘and which, fortunately, got well, For this service I received one
dollar! Still I had not heard whether or not I had passed my
examination,

To help our finances, Martha obtained work at the Mercy Hospital,
But in spite of this, our 1little fund soon was nearly gone, and we -
were far from friends or acquaintances and without other means of
support, Our furniture bill, which we owed Rice & Rice, caused us
considerable worry although the firm was very kind in not asking
for immediate payment.

The main street of Roseburg was being paved, - the first pavement
in the city - and frequently I would iook out of the office window
end wish I could go down and work on the stret, and in this way make
a living end get away from the financial worry and uncertainty.

A month after we located at foseburg, a woman came into my
office and asked if this was the office of Doctor Brumfield, Dentiste.

I told rer where to find the dental office and, while we chatted a

moment,  she told me that she lived in a little village, Yoncallsa,

thirty miles north of Roseburg. When I asked what the medical
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situation there was, she gave me such a favorable report that within
a few days, with the consent of “ice & Rice, we moved to Yoncalla,
The expense of this move was such tnat when we arrived at our new
location we had only a very few dollars left,

At that time Yoncalla was a village of about five hundred people.
The name, Yoncalla, 1s said to be derived from the Indians and means
"The home of the eagle." The village is a beautiful little place,
nestling in a likewise beautiful little valley, to the west of which
lie the low mountains of Oregon's Cosst Range, and to the eastlthe
more rugged peaks of the Cascades.

Many of the names given to pzrts of the valley by old settlers,
reflect the vivid imagination they had; such as Duck Egg Valley;
Shoestring Valley; Thief Creek; Poodle Creek and others,

At that time 1life was slow and living was easy in this little
villaege, as there was an sbundance of frult and vegetables, plenty
of trout in the nearby streams and many deer in the surrounding
mountains, When winter came howe?er, there was quite a change.,
Roads became practically bottomless and remained nearly impassable
until spring, because of the mildness of the climate and the heavy
winter rainfalle.

While the people, as a class, were intelligent and desirable,
yet, as 1s tﬁe case in most communities, there were a few unique
characters in Yoncalla. The morning after our arrival, before
Wife and I had left our bed, we heard a rather melodious volce
singing, "When the roll is called up yonder." On inquiry at
the breakfast table, we were told that the singer was Dick Ambrose.
The informer went on to say that Dick lived alone in a 1little shack

about & block from the hotel and thet "he is not quite all there
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mentally." When we asked if his mental condition resulted from
some injury, the only reply we got then or at any other time was,
"The report is that he made a trlp to Portland a few years sgo and
thet while he was there he fell down an elevator shaft. He has
been some better since then."

In a short time we became acquainted with a few other peculiar
characters and a great many wonderfully fine people,

For a few days we were unable to procure a house, but a great
burden was lifted from our shoulders in the fact that calls for
my professional services began to come in almost immediately. After
only three days we were making sufficient money on which to live.

The local livery barn made & bargain with me which stipulatedl
that I should drive entirely from this barn and that each drive,
regardless of distance, would cost me two dollars. There was
this single exception to our bargainj; that in the winter when
the roads were so bad that one couldn't possibly drive, a saddle
horse would be furnished and the fee would be just one dollar for
each tripl This also was regardless of distance. This bargain
was adhered to during our entire stay at Yoncalla,

The name, Yoncalla, brings to Martha and me a flood of
memories, pleasant and unpleasant, pathetic and ludicrous. Many
of these recollections are of things which today would be impossible
of duplication, for these were still pioneer days in southern
Oregon,

. My mind was soon at rest concerning the legality of my
practicing in the state, for a 'short time after our arrival at this
location I received information from the examiners that I had

successfully passed the examination. With this information was

enclosed a certificate, signed by the board members, which stated
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that I was licensed to practice medicine and surgery anywhere in
the state.

My first confinement, while unfortunate financially, was also
unusual for one who was beginning his practice,. |

One morning I was much pleased to receive a call to come to
Wilbur on a passenger train which would pass through our town
in a few minutes, The person who called simply said, "A lady
is sick."

Wilbur is really in Koseburg territory, but I hadn't yet learned
that when one 1s called far into another territory by people with
whom hé 1s not acquainted, usually there is some financial reason
back of it.

I supposed this possibly was a case of pneumonia or some ordinary
illness, so took only my medicine case and went to Wilbur. When
I was informed that I was to care for a confinement, immediately
I went to the nearest telephone, called Martha and told her to catch
the next train to Wilbur and to bring my obstetrical bage. The next
train was scheduled to arrive about four hours later,

With me I had nothing with which to care for & confinement, -
no anesthetic, no gloves, no gown, no sterile supplies and no
obstetrical forcepse The patient had been confined several
times before,Aand fortunately proved to be very cooperative, By
the time Martha arrived with my obstetrical bag, the child had been
born, the cord tied with a string that we had sterilized by bolling,
the placenta delivered and everything was quiet.

The femily was very agreeable, thanked me for coming, took
the blame for not letting me know thet the "sickness" was a confine-

mént, and never paid me a cent. In tnis way my obstetrical ex-

perience in private practice was begun.
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Our first surgical case was that of a woman who had been badly
lacerated 1in confinement some years previous, and never had been
repaired,

One morning I made an appointment for her to come to our home
that night for preparation, and told her that I would do the repair
work the next morning, and that Martha would care for her in our
home o

We really had to get busy. We had no sterilizer, but to
serve as one I made a light wooden frame about four inches high
which would fit into our wash boiler. In this we could sterilize
our instruments and dressings. The Portland firm from whom we
had purchased much of our office equipment, agreed when called by’
telephone, to send me the instruments I would need, If the firm
would act promptly, the instruments would arrive early he next
morninge.

We called the village of Drain, six miles north of'us, and
persuaded Doctor Bertha DeVore to come next morning and give the
anesthetice. lgrtha was busily making dressings and sterile supplies.

That night I didn't sleep much, The worry was-not so much
about the surgery as the possibility that the instruments wouldntt
arrive on schedule, or that Doctor Deyore would be on some case
that she couldn't leave and wouldn't be eble to come and give the
anesthetic,

I mailed a check in part payment for the instruments that had
heen ordered, and we had just five dollers left in the bankl

The next morning things went beautifully. Wife was surgical
assistent, sterile nurse and every other sort of nurse, as she was
on meny occasions thereafter. Doctor DeVore arrived promptly and

gave a very good ether anesthetic. For this, I pald her the price
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that was usual at that time, five dollarst And that was our last
five dollars.

The patient made & rapid and uneventful recovery and we were
looking forward happily to the time cof payment. But when she
left, she se’d, "Thanks for everything. I'11 be seeing you one
of these days:"

How we did need that moneyl But we menaged to struggle

along finencially and a few weeks later she came and paid us in full.

Some weeks later the telephone called one morninge

"Doctor, there is a woman out here, living in a tent with her
husband who is cutting wood. She is being confined and they want
you to come right oute. From the fuss she 1s making, her pains
must be mighty hardi"

The place I was told to go was evout four miles from town. It
wes late autumn and the roads hed gotten very deep, so I took a
saddle horse and my obstetrical bag and went to the tent.

Mrs. Mann was the mother of e child six years of agee The
ch11d hed been sent to a neighbor and told to remain there until
her parents called for her.

The Manns had thought that tkey would do without a doctor tuis
time, as their finances were low. But labor pains had been severe

for nesarly thirty-six hours, and so far as they could tell, the case

was not progressing as 1t should. So at last they had calléd for
helpe

The mother was found on & horme mede bed in the tent. The
one basin aveilable was tne family weash basin, I'wo chairs &and &

soap box, together with an old cock stove, summed up most of the




67

remainder of the furniture.

The family basin I sterilized as best I could with boiling

water and lysol. Then, after my rubber gloves were boiled, I
.slipped on my gown and the gloves,

Examination told me that a fully developed child was lying
crosswise, with & hand and arm presenting, The child couldn't
possibly be born in this position.

How I wished the case was in a hospitalt This was no condition

to be treated outside = hospital, even in = good,senitary home,

and here we were in a tent under such conditions that good sterile

tecknige was impossiblel

The mother was so exhausted and the fetal pulse was s0 weak that
I felt sure that if I were to try to get the patient to the nearest
hospital, through thirty miles of almost impassable mud, I would
céertainly loose the child and probably the mother also. It seemed
that I had no choice but to go shead and do the best I could with
the patient where she was, '

I put the mother under as deep an ether anesthetie as I.felt
was safe, and hasbtdly dashed my gloved hands through another wash of
strong lysol wafer. Then, while the husband supported the patient's
knees, I attempted to push the hand and arm back into the uterus and
bring down the nearest foot, This had to be done very rapidly,
for the ether wouldn't long effect the patient sufficiently to prevemnt
her becoming tense and moving about, This would meke it impossible
for me to get anywhere with the cases

Fortuna tely, by using all the speed I could, I mensged to get
the hand and arm out of the way and had barely gotten the foot pulled
down when the woman began to bear down with a pain. By pulling

the foot down as hard as I dared, 1 managed to turn the child so that



it could be born feet first, a so-called footling delivery. Af ter
this was done, it took only a few severe pains, as the ether wore off,
to bring the child completely into my hands. The mother had been
cuite badly lacerated in her previous confinement and had not been
repeired, so I was able to deliver the after coming head with but
little trouble.

When the case was over, 1 felt very tired, end I continued to
be on quite a mental strain for the next three or four days. In
spite of the fact that I had teken all the sterile precautions 1
could think of under the circumstances, I feared that the patient
might have been infected during the dellivery of the child. But the
mother and ¢hild both got along without any trouble whatever, and
after the case was dismissed I heard but little from the family

until the mother was sagain confined about two years laters

In ldarch, 1910, a large two story house in Yoncalla was for‘
sale. A carpenter and his son hed built it as a home for themselves.
It wes a sort of duplex, the center of wnich was divided by a long
hall. The building consisted of twelve rooms and two bathrooms, and
while not fancy, it was substantielly bullt.

The owners asked two.thousand dollars for the house. By this time
we had saved & little money, SO we offered to give them nineteen
hundred dollars for 1t i f they would take & payment of two hundred
cash and three hun dred a year until the remainder was paid. After
we had haggled for a time, they agreed and we 1mmediately moved into
our first own home,

In this house we hesd rooms in which to live and, in additig%§
enough space for an of fice and a few beds for patientse. 2

Doctor DeVore came regularly to give enesthetics and Wife
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continued to be surgical assistant and the entire nursing force. |

Everything was cheap, including mediceal fees. An office call was
one dollar, house calls two dollars, and confinements were fifteen
dollarst I rarely saw an obstetrical case until the patient was
in labor, in spite of the fact that I tried hard to impress on every-
one the importance of medical supervision during pregnancy. Such
supervision had scarcely been known in this part of the world and
was ordinarily considered as merely an unnecéssary extravagance
when it was suggested.

One evening a party called over the telephone.

"Doctor, my neighbors want you to come out and see & sick giri."

"Whet'!s the trouble?" I gsked.

"] don't know, only she seems to be awfully sick."

The mud was deep, S0 again my transportation was a saddle horse.

The medicine case was all that I took with me,

When I examined the patient, I found that she was in labor and
that the labor was almost completed. I told the mother that
her dsughter was going to have a baby, but had considerable trouble |
in getting her to believe 1it, i

"You are certainly mistaken, Doctor. She has been right here at
home with me all the time and I certainly would have known it long
ago if she hed been pregnanti"

However, in a short time we had a perfectly normal baby. A
clesn sheet was torn into suitable pleces and used as temporary

clothing for the child.
Eefore I left, the mother of the patient asked me if I wouldn't

telk to the daughter and, if possible, find out who the father of

the child wase With this in mind, I had a few moments private

conversation with the girl,
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"Let's have a little talk together for a minute or two," I
began, "and the first thing I want to say is that I am not going to
criticize you or blame you in any way for what has happenede. Your
mother and I both think that you have made a mistake, but we feel
that the greatest mistake you have made was in not confiding in your
mother and telling her about your condition long ago. But there
is no use regretting that now.

"The only thing to do now is to quietly marry the father of
your babye. Uf course there is bound to be considerable gossip
about the affeir for a while, but if you and your husband live
quietly and respectebly in the commrunity for a time, people will
soon forget that anything irregulsr hes happened. And in this
wey your child will have a legal faether. It will be best for the
child, for:its father and for you. Think it over, won't you?"

With theat, I left her.

Only @ few days later a quiet wedding took place, and the local

gossip that always is so ready, soon died away.

Because I am a member of the medical profession, it has been
inevitable that I should hear maﬁy arguments concerning so=called
faith cures and Christian Science. But in spite of my study of
psychology and suggestive therapy when a student at Coe, I had not
thought that it was within the scope of the duty of the physician
to use suggestive therapy in the extreme in the treatment of patients.
However, experience taught me that such treatment occasionally 1s
very advisable.

My first experience with a patient of this type occurred in
the summer of 1910, when I was called into tkhe country to see a

.

women who was 111 with pneumonia. Merthe made the trip witheme,

just for the ridee
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I remember the occasion especially well because, after I had
seen the patient, the husband brought out a paper bag and offered
us a treate. The treat was put before Martha first, and consisted
of meny pieces of smoked venison, known as "jerky" in t:is part of
the world. ' The pleces looked dried and nearly black and far from
inviting, as 1s always the csse with jerky.

Martha had never before seen anything like it, and very carefully
she took the smallest piece she could find, I had previously been
given some jerky by another patient, and liked it so very much and was
so greedy that I took the largest pilece in sighte As we talked, we
ate our venison and as Martha ate, her expression changede ' When
we returned to the buggy she said, "My, but that stuff looked awful,
but it tasted wonderful. Can't you spare part of that piece?"

Ever since, Martha has liked jerky.

The pneumonia patient made a gradual recovery, but after she was
well she frequently came to my office and complained of a great variety
of symptoms, Careful repeated examinations revealed no pathology,
so finally I tried giving her a tablet composed simply of colored
sugar, with wonderful results. This happened several times and the
idea of taking her husband'é hard earned money for such treatment
was repulsive,

When I met the husband on the street one afternoon, I said,

"Al, I hate to tell you about it, but your wife has no physical
allment that I cen find. Her symptoms seem to me to be imaginary, and
her recovery seems to be prompt whatever medicine I give her, Just
any harmess thing that 1 give will cure her for a time. tut I can't
go on taking your money under such circumstances,"

"Doctor, I have thought for a long time that her ailments were
largely in her head. But since ybu have heen taking care of her, she

has complained less than she has for years, Now the home is pleasant
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and peaceful where it used to be Just plain hell a lot of the time.
Believe me, it 1s worth the few dollars you charge to have such a
change in our home 1ife, Vhen she comes to your office, for goodness
sake, give her some sort of medicine. And if we ask you to call
at our place and you find nothing the matter with her, open your
pill bag and shell out something."

Idid this for ner all the rest of the time we 1lived in Yoncalla, and
for severai years after we left there this patient would frequently
write me a list of symptoms and ask either that I send her a pre-
scription or whatever medicine I thought she needed.

This sort of practice, to such an extreme, has not come up often
in my work, but occasionally I have had to have & 1ittle confidential
talk with some member of a family and, at the request of the family,

I have found 1t necessary to treat a few patients in the same manner
that I trested Al's wife. It is self evident that this is neither
"divine healing" nor "Christian Science", but rather mental suggestion,

pure and simple.

There have been several times when, in umy work, the doctor
himself has narrowly escaped being the patient. Such was the case one
winter morning when I was called to go on a trip a few miles west of
the village of Drain. 1t wes early in the winter and the roads
were muddy but not yet very deepe This was an unusually cold morning
and the mud on the road was frozen hard and was very rough,

When the livery men had the team and buggy ready for me, he said,
"Doctor, I am giving you old Cap and a young horse. Cap has quite
a reputation for running away, but the young horse has been all righte.

<~

Just keep vour eye on old Cap, please."

The buggy had the top up and the side curtains on, and when I

got in I wrapped a heavy lap robe around my legs and feet.
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A short distance from town it was necessary to drive through an
especially muddy, rough, frozen spot and when the buggy hit this spot
it began to bounce and rattle. Seemingly startled by the noise,
suddenly the horses plunged forward as though they had been whipped,
When I attempted to pull them in, my right line broke at the buckle.
Then I pulled hard on the left line in an attempt to turn the team
into the fence and stop theme T o my amazement, the left line broke,
also at the buckle. This left me without any possible way to control
the teams So I immediately jumped out over the front wheel, robe
and all,

I landed beside the road, without any injury excepting for a
slight scratch on my right shin where it had hit the wheel as I passed
over it,

About twenty feet from where I jumped, the buggy tipped over,

It was soon the most completely demolished buggy that I have ever
seene Pieces of it were scattered here and there along the road and
about a half mile beyond the wreckage, the neck yoke hit a telephone
pole and the team was caugnht by a farmer,

After I had asked the farmer to telephone the livery barn and
report the wreck, I borrowed a saddie and bridie from him, put them
on old Cap and went on my call, #s I returned from my visit L came
past the scene of the run-away and met the owner of the team and buggye
He; cwas: driving a team hitched to & hay rack and was gathering up
thc pieces of the wrecked buggy&nd throwing them into the hayrack.

He had examined the harness and had found the broken lines, so

had a good idea what had happened. Immedlately he expressed his
regret that I should have had such an experience due to the defect in

the harness. I was relieved of sll responsibility for the destruct-

ion of the buggye

A Powr mAanthe aftram woe TArated st Voanealla. mv nasrents ioined use.
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Father had long since retired from t:e ministry due to his advanced
age. In “arch, 1910, Mother had a cerebral hemorrhage and after

five days of unconsciousness, passed away. From that time, for the

next dozen years, Father was a part of our household.

In spite of the fact that we hed a large house, Martha and I
liked the fresh air so much that we curtained a porch and slept on
it part of the time., Our closest neighbor, kr, Cox, had a small
general store in the business section of the town.

One morning Wife and I were awakened from our fresh air sleep

by the shrill voice of a woman who cslled loudly;

"Mr, Cox, Mr. Cox, wake up} Wake up! Your store has been broken

in twol Your store has been broken in twoi"

I rubbed my sleepy eyes and mumbled to Wife, "What sort of a

geg 1s this? How could anything breek his store in two?"

"we don't kmow who did it," the woman then added, "but someone

broke into it during the nighti"

My first deer hunt was experienced the second autumn we were at

Yoncalla,

Of & party of seven, I was the only one who was not an experienced

deer hunter, We made camp in the forest some miles west of our
village and after the camp was made comfortable, we decided to mske
a drive.

Three of us were placed where we could see a considerable
distance through the woods and fern, while the other four circled
around and made a drive in our direction. As so often happens, the
unexpected occurredes

A spike buck came toward me and played in the tall growth of

fern as he came, The fern was so high and the deer so small that

I could only see him at times when he would jump unusually high.
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When he made one of these jumps, I shot and had the good luck to hit
him just back of the front legs,

At the present time, a spilke buck is unlawful prey in COregon,
but at that time the law was such that i1t was lawful to kxill him.

No other deer was seen that day,

That evening, around a roaring camp fire, the fellows were spinning
some fabulous yarns about their hunting experiences., After I had
listened to their stories for a time,with enjoyment, I said, "I think
I'cen tell a better one than any of you have,and this one is true."

"It will have to be really good," one of the older men said.

"Well, I have killed every deer 1 ever shot at, and never have
I had to shoot twice to kill a deert"

There was a painful silence until I reminded them, "This is

the first time I ever shot at a deer."

One of the pioneer families named Daugherty, besides other
children, had two sons who lived about a block apart. One of these
sons was Luther, the other Charles, commonly known as Chad, Iuther
had a faemily of children but Chad had only a wife. However, if the
number of pounds a family welghed was to be considered, Chad wasn't
far behind Iuther, for Mrs, Chad Daugherty normally must have weighed
well up toward the two hundred pound figures.

One morning Chad came to see me and said, "My.wife is pregnant
and will be confined in about a month. We want you and Mrs., Knott
to come to our home when we call you, and if possibledon't let anyone
know where you have gone, Even our own family don't know anything
about the pregnancy and we don't want it kmown until the confinement
is over. Wife is forty-two years old and the family says that she
is too 0ld to have a baby and that I am too dammed old to be any

good anyhow. Will they be surprisedi"
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He brought me a specimen of her urine for examination, wrich
was all ‘the pre-natal care his wife had,

Martha and I were called at daylight one morning, and simply
disappeared for the daye. We found that we had a terribly severe,
instrumental confinement, but with HKartha's help, I managed to get a
live, healthy baby.

Chad was one very happy men, and immediately rushed over to
Lutherts house and said, "Come and see our baby,"

Luther and his wife told him to stop his lying, then asked if he
really had adopted a child,

Finally, although they still thought it was all some sort of a
joke, they came to see the baby. When they were persuaded that it
really was a Daugherty, Iuther said, "We sure thought you were kidding,
Ched."

"I wasn't kidding, but my wife wasl And I hope she will quit
her kidding now, for one such ordeal as she has been through is enought"

We certainly agreed with him,

November 22nd, 1912, Wife presented me with our firstborn, a
lusty nine and a half pound dasughter, who we naﬁed Helen, Much
against my wish, I was the attending 6bstetric1an and the confinement
was long end hard. When the ordeal was over, both mother end father

felt very tired indeed, but very happye.

Possibly the most undesirable home that I visited while at
Yoncalla, or at any other place or time, was seen by me in the winter
of 1913,

About mid morning I was called to go seven or eight miles into
the country to see Mr., Byth. The mud was so deep that tfavel with

e buggy was impossible, so I rode a 1ittle buckskin western horse,
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Upon my arrival at the home, I found that it.consisted of

TS s S —

one large room possibly twenty feet square, with one door and no
windows. Never have I been in another house with no windows,

The weather was cold, so the door was closed and the only light
we had was furnished by an o0ld kerosene lampe The building was so
poorly built that there was no need to worry about fresh air, but the
odor from the two beds and other furniture was far from pleasant}

The furniture consisted of the two beds, a very old and delapidated
cook stove, two chairs, a couple of wooden boxes which served as
seats, and an old kitchen table, A few nails driven into the wall
served as the wardrobe, The floor was good 0ld mother earth, which
was well packed by the pressure of much use, |

The patient, an elderly man, had suffered a cerenral hemorrhage,
The right side of his body was almost completely paralyzed and his
Speech was so effected that one eould nardly understand what he tried
to say, He was at least half Indian, as also was his wife, There were
two boys, the elder being fifteen or sixteen years of age,

After I had done what + could for the patient, a glance at my
watch showed that it was nearly one o'clock, Mrs, Byth said that
dinner would be ready in just a few minutes, and invited me to stay
and eat with them.

Veinly I explained that Wife would be saving dinner for me and
would be alarmed if I didn't reach home soon, and that I had other cslls
waltinge The housewife sald that the older son had killed a deer (out
of season) and that the dinner would consist mainly of fried venison,
hot biscuits, gravy and coffee, I just couldn't leave without insulte
ing them and 1 thought surely that the fried venison and newly baked
biscuilts would be sterile, So,very reluctantly, I remained to dinnere

As we ate I gave the family quite a talk about nhow 1 loved fried
venison, hot biscuit, gravy and coffee, And really, as long as I

could keep my mind away from other things and not let my imagination
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run away with me, I found that these articles.tasted very goodj
However , I was never caught there again at meal time.

‘ The patient gradually drifted into unconsciousness and died

after a few days of illness,

It was in 1913 that ®p. Nann again dropped into my office and
told me that he wished me to care for his wife in confinement again,
I said that, especially in view of the unusualness of her past labor, I
should check her over thoroughly and tell, 1f possible, whether or not
this child was in normal position. He thought that she would be
delivered in about a month and promised to bring her in "one of these
days,"

About a month later I was called to their home. They now were
living in a house instead of a tent, and had enough furniture to make

living reasonably comfortable, I fully expected that the object of

. Vthis call was the confinement of Nrs, ¥ann, so took my obstetrical
bag with me. I was surprised to find that she seemed well and had
not been confined, Mr. Mann was the patient,

Another month pessed before I was called to confine her,
When I arrived at the home, I found that the patient and her husband|
were the only ones there, No other help seemed to be available. The ?

mother was having very heavy, regular labor pains, and as so often was

l

|

the case in those days, at first she utterly refused to take an anesthet- ;
|

ic or any other thing that would make the confinement easier,
When my first examination was made, I found that this e¢hild also,
was in an abnormal position. This time the buttox was coming first =
a socalled frank breech presentatione: This type of delivery is
dangerous because often the body is born quite rapidly and easily, but
Qhe after coming head sometimes is delivered with great difficulty,

As soon as the body is born, the head presses against the umbillical
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cord and stops all circulation of blood through it and of course the

child can get no air, Consequently the child can live only & very
‘ few minutes after its body is born unless the delivery of the head
is completed,

Wher 4 found tnat the child was in this position, I hurridly
sterilized my obstetrical forceps. 1t seemed to me that the watep
would never boil, and each time the patient had a pain I was afraid
the body of the child would be born and the forceps would be needed,
but would not be ready for use,

But as time pessed I found that my anxiety had been groundless,
for it seemed that the child's hips descended very slowly in spite of ‘
the fact that the mother worked almost savagely with her pains, At last 3

the water began to boil and as soon as 1t seemed certain that it had

boiled long enough to thoroughly sterilize the forceps, they were
. Placed on a sterile towel on a table within easy reach of the bed,
' There they were left to cool.
Meanwhile, the patient had been placed crosswise on the bed,

The pains had now become so severe that she Wwas complaining bitterly,

and at last she consented to take a little anesthetic,
The fire in the stove was so c¢lose that ether couldn't be used,

so I showed the husband how to sprinkle a 1ittle chloroform on the mask

and hold it over the patient'!s face after a towel had been placed

across her eyes. This protection of the eyes was essential when

chlororlorm was used, because in' case any chloroform accidently got into

‘the patientts eyes, it would cause intense pain. Possibly the small
amount of anesthetic that was used, gave no help other than psychological,
for it is doubtful whether or not the mothef got enough of it to deaden
. the pains any. But when it was given, she was more quiet and worked
B better with her pains.

In spite of the severity of the pains, the confinement continued
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Q to progress much slower tren is usual when a woman has had several

children and the child lies in this positione The forceps were cold
and everything was ready,cut progress seemed to have almost stopped.
Possibly more than two hours dregged along before the body of
the child was borne. But e&s it was being born, I was able to under-
stand why it had teken so longe The size of the child's body was
such that I was amazedl Never had I seen the body of a newborn babe
that was nearly as lsrge as this onel Surely, I would be unable to
deliver the efter coming head of such & child in time to save 1tl
How I wished that we had more help or that the case was in a hospltal
where trained help would be available!
After the husband was told to give more chloroform I-hurridly
tried to apply the forceps to the head, with no success, Then I é
asked the husband to stop giving chloroform and to comé and grasp the
child's feet and hold the body‘up &s high as possible without injuring
its necke. I knew thet I hed to complete the delivery of the head
within two more minutes or the child would dies
With this help, fortunately I mansged to get tne forceps in
place almost immediately. Then allvmy strength was used in an effort
to deliver the head. |
As I worked, I had visions of & child with faclal paralysis or
with a terribly cut end disfigured head as the result of such a rough
forceps deliverye. T-e husbeand had become excited while giving
chloroform and, not realizing the denger resulting from an overdose of

1t, had given the patient so much that she was very quiet even while
I pulled so strenuouslye. I wondered whether he had given so much
that her respiration had stopped end she would die?

"I should have watched him closer," I thought. "W111 I 1loose

both the mother and the cnild?"
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Suddenly, while these thought were racing through my mind, the
head was delivered.

To all appearences, the child was dead, 1t was perfectly limp
and its skin was very blue. 1 took no time to test the infant's
pulse or listen to find if I could hear a heart beat, but immediately

started giving it artificial respiration. At the same time I told

the husband to see whether or not his wife was breathing as she should.

What a relief 1t was when he told me that she seemed to be breathing
quietly!

I have no idea how long it was necessary to continue the artificial
respiration for the chiid, for a minute seems to one like hours when
a life and-possibly two lives are at stake, But at last the child
gave a shuddering, gasping breath and shortly afterward it began to Cr'ye

What a welcome sound}

From that time it gradually improved until the breathing was
normal and the blueness gradually disappeared. The head was quite
badly brulsed, but the skin was unbroken and when the baby cried, both
sides of its face moved equally so there could be no facial paralysis.

What a childl ~I had never seen anything like it, nor have I
sincetl I laid the baby aside in a blanket until the placenta was
delivered, then took the baby scales and weighed the child with nothing
but the baby blanket around 1it. The schales said fourteen pounds
and four ounces! Then I weighed the blanket alone and found that it
weighed just eight ounces., This was impossible} Something must
be the matter with the sealesl H‘uring my interneship, when I had
helped with many confinements, I had not seen a newborn child that
weighed more than ten and a half pounds.

After the mother was made comfortable, the husnand and I cleaned

anj dressed the child. The dressing consisted of putting on a cord
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dressing and & diaper and wrapping the baby in its blankets, The
shirts were not large enough to go onto the child.

When T returned to town I went into a grocery store and compared
my scales with those in use there, wnich the grocer said had recently
been inspectede A package that weighed just fourteen pounds on
the grocer's scales weighed just fourteen pounds and four ounces on
my scales,

In pest years, s ome obstetricians have claimed that there is ne
such thing as a ten months baby = that a normal woman will not carry
a child that longe. Now we know that occasionally a mother carries

her unborn e¢hild that long although this doesn't happen of tene.

The things that made me think that this child was a ten months
baby were the tremendous weight and size of the child, the fact that
it cut its first tooth when slightly over three months old, and the |
additional fact that the menstrual history of the mother was such that 5
it would seem that she had been pregnent ten months,

It is true that she had not been under supervision during her
pregnancy, that she had eatem what and when she pleased, and that the
record kept by her husband as to the time of her last menstrual period
might have not been correct, Alsc there could have been a mistake
~in the grocer's scales as well as with mine. However that may be,
it is also true that this was much the largest newborn child that I

have ever brought into the world or that I have ever seen.

An unusual and exceedingly regrettable obstetrical experience
was mine only a few months after the completion of the ¥ann case.

The depot called and requested thet I get to a passenger train
as quickly as possible, and care for a woman who was giving birth to
& child in one of the standard Pullman cars,

I was told that the train would be held at the station until I
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could get there., I grasped my obstetrical bag and -hat, rushed te- the
train and into the Pullman, and immediately the train continued on
‘ its way.
7 The patient was in a lower berthe The porter was fluttering
ebout nervously while two or three excited women Déssengers were
suggesting all sorts of thingse

Immediately I pulled the curtains shut and, to my great regret,

I found that the child, which had been partly born, was dead, This
also, had been a frank breech presentation and the body had evidently
been born for some time, while the head was st111 lodged in the uterus,
The circulation in the umbillicel cord had been completely stopped by
the pressure of the heed against it and, of course, since the child
could get no air, it hag died. In this case the delivery of the

head would have been quite easy had"there been anyone there to do 1t,

In spite of the fact that the child appeared to be dead, the hesd
Q was delivered immediately and artificial respiretion was given, But
too much time hag passed since the body was born. The stethoscope
gavVe no heart sound,

The mother had taken the train at Grants Pass and was on her way
to Portland, where she hoped to be at the home of her mother when
confined, But labor had started almost immediately after the train
left Grants Pass, and had progressed with unusual rapidity for g
first confinement,

The mother was heart broken, but realized that there was no
help for the situation. After I hsg completed the delivery of the
placenta, exemined %he mother and found her te be 1m goog condition,

I left the train at Cottage Grove, Yregon,

. During our 1last year at Yoncalla, 4 raised the price or confine=-

ments from fifteen to twenty dollars, and was very harshly criticised

for this increase in price, At that time an appendectomy with no

s —————————————————————
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complications, had a standard price of one hundred fifty dollars, or
the price of ten confinements, and I would much rather have done a
simple appendectomy than to have cared for some of these confinements,
It seemed to me that the prices were badly out of balance.

While at this location, an unusually tragic experierce was mine.,
It was in connection with my railroad work.,

South of Yoncalle five or six miles, the reilroad extends over a
mountain pass and at the top of tnis pass there was at that time a
little station called Rice Hill. The railroad, in order to gain
altitude as 1t climbed to the Rice Hill station, made & double loop
which was locally known as the Greccian Bend, and the grade was very
steep on this loope

"Come to the d epot quickli®®the voice came over the telephone,
"Hurryl There's a wreck up on the Greecilan Bend and they are yelling
for a doctor! An engine is waiting here to take you upi"

With my medicine case and emergency beg I rushed to the depot. I
had barely climbed into the cab when we were on our way to the wreck.

What a scene met my eyes when we arrived therel

Never would I have believed that the explosion of the boiler of
one locomotive could cause such deétruction!

| Great chunks of asbestos were scattered for many rods in all
directions on the mountain side. The train had been traveling south,
up the grade, and an extra engine had been pleced well back in the
train to help the climb, There were only two cars and the caboose
back of this engine, Without warming, the explosion had occurred on
the steepest part of the grade.

The first car back of the engine was‘badly demolisned, but was
st1ll on the track. The second wss not dameged as ruch, but some
part of the engine had flown through the air and had completely

sheared the cupola off the caboosel 1t was the meerest good luck
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that no one was sitting in the cupola when the explosion occurred,

Two cars in front of the engine were derailed and piled one on
the other, below the train. Yne of these cars had been loaded with
potatoes and the car was so badly shattered that potatoes were scatter=-
ed over gquite an area. The second car was an oil tank waich had
been full of oil. The oil was sﬁill gushing through several small
holes caused by the explosion, and was soaking the potatoes and
running down the mountain.

The engine was such a complete wreck of twisted metal that any
attempt to describe it would be futile,

The engineer was found near the engine, alive but unconscious,
with miltiple injuries, the worst of which was & badly fractured
skall. The fireman was a little further from the locomotive,
terribly mangled and dead,

We hurried the engineer.aboard the battered caboose, had it cut
loose from the train, and started for Eugene where wes located the
nearest hospital of any size north of us,

It was necessary for us to stop for a moment at Yoncalla and get
train clearance through to Bugene, and while tne operator was busy
in an effort to obtain this clearance, the engineer died.

Much investigation by the railroad followed, in order to determine
the cause of the explosion. I can't give technical facts, and what
I know is simply the spoken report that afterward was circulated,
This report claimed that before the train started up the s teep grade,
the water glass in the engine showed that there was sufficient water
in the boiler, However, regardless of the water level shown by
the glass, because of the steepness of the grade the upper end of the
boller was ralised so high that it was left without water, Or, as

it was related to me, "the upper crown plates were dry," and the

explosion resultede lMany locomotives were taken to tne conmpany
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L
shops and the water glasses in each Wwas replaced in such a way that
the water in the boiler was kept at a higher level.
This report may be far from the fact, but 1t seems logical to

one not familiar with locomotivese

My first lesson in professional ethics was received while I
precticed in this valley.

As has been stated, it seemed in those days that the public
often was delighted to belittle the work of one doctor when talking
to another physician in the same neighborhood. This was certainly
in vogue at yoncalla at that time,

There dwelt in our town a maiden lady by the name of Sue Burt,
who was harmless excepting for the fact that she loved to act in
the capacity of a village news paper,

We had only been in this location a few da;s when sne dropped
into my office for the treatment of some slight ailment, and while
there she proceeded to tell me in great detall about the things that
"01d Mortensen," as she called the only other local doctor, had said
about me, After this, she made it a practice to drop in often and
recite more and more in detail what she affirmed hed been told her
about my work by Doctor kortensen., At first I paid no attention to

these reports, but they gradually became so frequent and detailed

and were told so positively that at last I thought that the old saying,

"Where there is much smoke there must be some fire," might apply to
this case. I began to believe her.

One day after a particularly harsh recital by my "village news
paper," I sat down and wrote a note to my fellow practitioner, which
in substance, read as follows:

"Dear Doctor liortensen:=._
L have been receiving reports that Kou
have sharply criticised my work, and I find that many of the
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criticism s, as reported to me, are far from tne truth, I am
not asking, Doctor, that these ceriticisms stops I anm simply
asking whether or not Jou wish to continue them, If you do, then
& disagreeable battle will begin; if not, let us talk things over
and be mitually cooperative.

"It would seem to me a8 pity If two men in our profession,
cannot associate agreeably, I will be glad to talk the matter
over with you."

The 1mmeﬁiate result that I obtained was the presence of Doctor
Mortensen at my office the fillowing day.

After we had talked a few minutes, there was nothing more to say
about the matter, The things that he was reported to have said con-
cerning my work, he denied flatly, But he informed me that he head
been told of many things I had said, criticising his work, These,
of course, were also false,

The result of our talk was the formation of g friendship that

never was broken, and a continuous cooperation between us instead of

unfriendly competition. The lesson was well learned by both of us,

Approximately two years after I had located at Yoncalla, an office
was established in our town by a rather slender, pleasant men, who
wore a Prince Albert coat, a ten gallon hat angd nose glasses which were
attached to a long, black cord,

This gentleman claimed that he was not a Chiropractor, but rather
8 Naturopathic Physician, which he affirmed, "was vastly superior to
either a Chiropractor or = medical doctor."

He further asserted that he was a graduate of the College of
Medicine which is a part of the University of Arkansas, but that he
had been so disappointed with the regular practice of medicine and so
impressed by its inefficiency, that he had later attended the Naturo-
pathic college, There, he said, he found that the knowledge he
gained was so far superior to anything taught by the college of medicine

that he immediately became entirely a Naturopathic physician,




88

A few weeks after our new doctor had opened his office, our
druggist, Phil huntington,and I had an interesting conversation,

“Doctor," Phil said, "I wonder what that old fellow really knows.
ne comes in &and asks for some of our standard medicines, but doesn't
seem to know how to pronounce the names of them correctly. The
worst thing that has happened occurred yesterday when he asked for
some murine, saying that he needed it for his eyes, When I told
him that I was temporarily out of it but would be glad to get some
for him, he said, 'Don't bothere You know that, after all, a few
drops of ones fresh urine is the best eye medicine one can get.! "

"Surely, Phil," I said, "he was kidding you,"

"Maybe he was, but if he was he is such a sober joker that he
didn't show it."

That afternoon I wrote a note to the Dean of the College of
Medicine, University of Arkansas, Little Rock, Arksnsas, In this
letter I asked whether or not this man had ever attended their college,
and also related the story of the new prescription that was good for ;
the eyes. o

A few days later I received a reply which stated that there had
never been a student in that college by the name used by this “Doctor," I
The writer gdded that the new prescription for the eyes, "ecertainly
hes one virtue, namely that it doesn't cost muchi" |

Enclosed with the letter was a printed 1list of the graduates
of the Arkansas University College of ¥edicine, which 1ist included
the names of all who had been students at that college since it had
been established, Our friend's name was not included in this 1ist.

Here agaln, our Village Newspaper, Sue, was very useful to me
and possibly to the entire community.

A few hours after I received the letter from Arkgnsas, Sue

happened into my office. Shortly before she left, I said to her,
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"Sue, can you really keep-a secret?" -

Immediately she was all attention,

"Doctor, you should know perfectly well that anything you teil
me in confidence will never be repeated."

Then I explained all that had happened concerning our so-called
Naturopath, and after I had again impressed on her the necessity
of keeping the news to herself, * gave her the letter, .

After she had read it, at once she seemed restlesse. She
wanted to talk no longer, but wished to leave. And very soon she
did leave,

Late that afternoon I met the "doctor" and he wouldn't speak
to me. Within a week he closed his of fice and left town. I
considered i1t likely that he had never attended either s Naturopathie
college nor any other sort of collged,

So Sue was really of some service.

During our last year at Yoncalla i had a somewhat similar
experience excepting that this time it had to do with the dental
profession.

4 young chap suddenly appeared in our town, rented rooms at
the local hotel and began the practice of dentistry._ 1 thought
Inothing of 1t until one of my friends remarked to me, "Doctor, you
just wouldn't belisveitl That dentist worked only two hours on my
teeth yesterday, and filled fifteen or sixteen ca¥ities. He certainly
must know his business well, to be able to work so rapidly. He
charged me fifty dollars, which should be cheap enough for so much
work, but still it seems to me that 1t is an éwful high price to
pay for only two hours work,"

Uf course, I know nothing of dentistry, but it seemed to me that f

my friend was right when he said that the charge seemed to be un=-
reasonable for two hours worke Also. it was hard to reliave that
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so much work could be done in two hours if done well.

With these things in mind, I dropped a note to the State Board
of Dental Examiners at Portland, ‘he following day a long distance
telephone call came from Portland, and the OSecretary of tne State
Board of Dental Examiners tianked me for the letter and added that
one of the board members would arrive at Yoncalla the next morning
and have the so-called dentist errested, because no sucn man was on
their 1ist of dentists Who nad been licensed to practice in Oregon.

The man from Portland arrived the next morning, but the "dentist"
was gone and never was heard of again at Yoncalla, Investigation
showed that during the week that he had been in our village, this man
had done a large amount of work, practically all of which eventually
proved to be practically worthlesse

The representative of the Dental Boerd told us that this was
the third or fourth place in which the same person had worked es
a dentist, that he appeared well, seemed to have a good personality
and had suceeeded in taking considerable money out of each community
in which he had workede. Each time an attempt had been made
to bring him to justice, he had diéappeared promptlye. How the

offender got word that trouble was close to him, no one had any idea.

Uoctor Kortensen moved from Yoncalla to Springfield, Oregon
about a year before we left this location. During our last year
there, I was associated with Doctor F. G. Hewett, who came to our
town when Doctor Mortensen left. 6ur association was very
agreeable and pleasant, and later I was again associated with him
elsewhere,

Because of the fact that the number of people in and around

our village was not large enough to make it possible to build up 2

|
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very profitable practice there,Martha and I gradually became dissatis-
fied with our location. But we had experienced such a hard time
acquiring a living practice that we were very hesitant about giving
up a location that gave us a little more than a living, for an
uncertaintye. However, in the summer of 1914, we had en opportunity
to sell our home. We decided to make the sale and move to Ashland,
Oregon,

We had purchased a used 1910 Model T Ford touring car, but
had been able to use it only in the summer because of the bottomless
winter roads.  Yur household goods we shipped to Ashland by freight,
Father was.sent toournew leeation by train, and Martha, Helen and I
climbed into the Ford and started over the rountains to establish
a new office in the beautiful, southern oregon city.

Today the trip from ¥oncalla to Ashland would be considered a
very easy drive, which would take less than four hours. In 1914
however, it was thought to be quite a trip for one day. There was
no pavement, no Pacific Highway and the roads were very rough, steep
and crooked,

Almost 1mmediately after we started, we began to have trouble
with our car, At Raoseburg a mechanic was supposed to remedy the
trouble, His work was finished promptly enough to enable us to
again be on our way immediately after the noon meal. Before
we had traveled far, however, it became evident that the mechanic
kmew but little about automobiles, as was commonlyy the case then,

Every few miles the motor would quit. Then I would crank
end crank, ad infinitum, until in some way contact would again
be made and we would travel on for a few éiles.

Evening found us st the top of a high mountain divide and it

was well after dark when we started down the mountain, We had

traveled only a short distance from the top wnen one of our lights
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burned oute The lighting system of our car was so wired that when
one light burned out, the entire system would go out, so we were
immediately left in intense darkness,

The road was narrow and winding as it descended what is still
known as the Sexton Mountain. As we went down the steep grade,
we thought every minute thet we woauld miss the road and roll down the
side of the mountain Eartha was constantly urging me to light
the two oil lights that were high on tne front of the Ford, but I
refused to do so until we got to the bottom of the mountein, because
it seemed to me that they would make visibility worse rather than
better,

When 1 drove over this road in the daylight some months later,
and sew its extreme crookedness, it seemed incredible that we could
ever have come over it as we did, in the darkness, witnout having
had a serious accident.

When, at lasf we came to the bottom, immediastely we stopped
eand I 11t the oil lamps. We had traveled less trnan a hundred yards
from where they were 1it, when we drove into the ditch. The automobile
was still on its wheels and no damége hed been done, but we were
unable to move the car.

We hadnt't the slightest idea how far we were from a human
habitetion, but decided that the only thing we could do was to leave
the car and walk along the road until we came to some sort of a

house.

Fortunately, the Sexton family, after whom the mountain was
named, had & home a few hundred yards from where we had gone into
the ditch, and soon we saw their light shining from a window, When
we made our way to their house, we found that tne family had just

returned from Grants Psss. We told toem of our predicament, and they
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consented to let us spend the night with them. They had eaten
their evening meal at Grants Pass and we hadn't eaten since noon.
But we hadn't the nerve to ask them to get supper for us. we did
ask for a gless of milk for Helen and after she drank 1it, we went
to bed hungry, but grateful that we had a beds

The following morning Mrs, Sexton vary kindly gave us a good
breakfaste The men helped me to get the ¢ar back onto the road
end soon we were again on our waye

Grents Pass was reached without further trouble, but when we
reached there we were informed that a bridge ahead of us was out.
This made it necessary that we would drive on an old road to the
ancient, historic¢ mining town of Jacksonville, and from there to
Medford.

As we traveled, the motor still died every few miles and 1
would ecrank and crank until I was out of breath as well as patience,
and would mutter, "Oh Helll" After this had happened several times;
before I could get out of the car and resume the cranking when the
motor stopped, Helen would begin to say, "Oh Helll Oh Hell, Daddyi"

The road we traveled finally took us to the top of a long,
steep grade at the foot of which we could see Jacksonville far
below us. Fortunately, it was right here that the car stalled
again. This time neither cranking nor talking seemed to start
the motor, but I managed to push the auto a few feet forward, where
the road started down this long grade.. As the car began to coast,
I jumped in and we coasted down the entire grade, right inte
Jacksonville.

After a little restaurant had served us a lunch, we left the
car standing in the street and were fortunate in getting a ride into

nMedford. There I asked & mechanic to bring the car to Medford
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‘ end see if he could repeir it. We then took the train the few
/ remaining miles to Ashland,
At our new location we found & very good seven room house
which we rented for fifteen dollars & month} Uur office rent
‘was correspondingly cheape. Immedietely I picked up some practice,
but I had no acquaintances end found that I had no major surgery, no
confinements, and my practice consisted almost entirely of office
work,
Possibly we were too impetient and expected too muche At
any rate, although we were making & living, we again became dissatis-
fiede. After only four months we decided that we would once more
go elsewhere, So we packed our household goods, chartered a
freight car and shipped our belongings to Glendale, Oregon. Again
Q we sent Father shead by train and once more Martha, little Helen and
I climbed into the old Ford and started north over the mountains to
our new locatione
In order to dfive to Glendale, we had to pess oOver Sexton

Mountein once more, but we anticipeted no trouble there.
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RUGGED PRACTICE,
#HrH

Even now, our trip from Ashland to Glendale would be considered
quite an event if made under conditions that existed in 1914.

Wife, Helen and I started late in the afternoon. With us we
took some bedding and a good lunch,

That evening we drove to a small town loceted on the Rogue River,
which was then known as Woodville, but which later adopted the more
dignified and appropriate name of Rogue River, There, toward evening,
we made our camp at a pleasant, level place on the river bank,

Wife laid her glasses down for & moment, then accidently
stepred on them and broke one lens, Helen had eaten sometning thet
disagreed with her and was ill and vomiting. But in spite of so
bad a start, we managed to get througn the night and early the next
morning we were again started on our waye.

The trip through Medford and Grants Pass was uneveﬁtful. But
again, on Sexton Mountain, about a dozen miles north of Grants Pass,
our troubles began.

When we had climbed nearly half of the long ascent up the
mountain, our motor suddenly increased its speed and our car came to

a halt, We found that a rear axle had brokenl

Some people who passed promised to ask a mechanie in Granté Pass
to come out and repair our car immediatelye. But the entire dﬁy
passed and night came, but no mechanic arrived. Fortunately, our

lunch was ample when fortified by a few eggs and a little milk which
we bought at a 1little hillside ranch a half mile awaye



Once more we made our beds under tihe stars. But soon after
we fell asleep we were rudely awakened by thunder, lightning and
rein drops. We menaged to feel our way tirough the darkness, to
the barn of the ranch at which we had purchased the milk and eggs,
and there we climbed into the haymow. Soon sleep overtook us
sgain and morning found us fairly well resteds

Shortly after we returned to the car, the mechanic arrived.

It was nearly noon when he told us that the car was ready for use,

"{ere is an extra that was left over," he said, as he handed
me a small, heavy packsge of something wrapped in & news paper.

As he left, I opened the package and found a roller bearing
thet seemed to me to be in good conditione I wondered how such
a thing could be "left over", but tnought that the mechaenic must
Jnow his business and that he had found a defect in the bearing and
had replaced it with a new one.

Again we started toward tne summit of Sexton Mountain. Before
we had gone far, we could smell wnat seemed to us an odor lixe
grease or oil burninge. We stopped the car and I found that smoke
was coming out where the back whéeh was attacned to the car, on
the same side on w ich the axle had been broken. We stopped a
while to let it cool, eand I thought that the mechanic must have tight-
ened someting too tigat when he put in the new axlee.

The road between Sexton kountain end Glendale passed over two
more high divides. And every mile or oftener, as Wwe traveled

these twenty miles, we had to stop and let tne same place on the car

cool offe
7o add to our discomfort, on t:.e Wolf Creek mountain, the
mountain nearest to Glendale, tne hind tire on the opposite side

of our car, blew ocut so badly tnat 1t couldn't be repaired. We



had no spare tire, so had to travel on the flat tire,
At last, far along in the afternoon, we limped.into Glendale
with a erippled car, on a flat tire., Such was our introduction
to our new homel
Immediately 1 contacted a mechenic and asked him to put a new
tire onto the car and to see what made the new axle get so hot.
In a few minutes he said, "How under the sun were you able to come
over the mountains with your c¢ar in such condition? What became
of the roller bearing that should be near the outer end of your
axle?"
"Could it be possible that this it 1t?" I asked and handed
him the package that the mechanic had given me on Sexton Mountain.
"Where did you get it?%?" he asked as he unrolled it.
"The mechanic told me that it was an extra that was left over
when he finished putting in our new axle."
"How you managed to get over tnose mountains without this

" he said. "I can't imagine anyone

bearing, is more than I know,'
being go ignorsnt of machinery that he would leave out abearing,
but this is what is missingi"

"Is it in good condition?"

"Notining the matter of it as far as I can see, I'll put it
back where it belongs." |

That bearing was still in use incthe car when 1 sold 1it, two
yearsllater. '

We found Glendale fo be a small but lively littée place.

Like many of the western frontier lumber towns, many of the houses

and shops were crudly built while among the cheaply built structures

there was here and there a well built store or home. While it

was principally a sawmill town, it contained a fairly good school-
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house, a small Catholic ciurech, a small Presbyterian church, a few
shors and six or seven saloons.

As Martha and I walked here and there, looking over our new
locations, she said, "I have never 1lived in such &a place, The
mountains around are beautiful, dbut the town is hideous, with its
mixture of shacks and houses. But somehow, I feel that we will
get so we will like it, and we will really make our start herel"
WWoman's intuitiont But somehow, it has always seemed wonderful
to me that she should come so near the truth}

Ranches were scattered along the Cow Creek Valley eastward,
for thirty-four miles. Also there was scattered settlement south,
including the villages of Wolf Creek and Leland.

Placer gold mines were to be found here and there throughout
the territory. None of them were very large, but the total amount
of gold taken from them amounted to quite a sum.

There was one other doctor in town, Doetor Adams, an elderly
man who had a heavy mustache which usually was saturated with
tobacco juice, The doctor always wore a white shirt with a stiff
~busoms This also was ordinarily spasttered with some of tiue remainder
of the .tobaceo juice. In spite of these things, the doctor was
a very likable person and was fully as competant ss were many of
the medical men who, at that time, were caring for lumber camps,

Glendale is situated on the Southern Pacific Railrsod. When we
located there, this portion of the bouthery Pacific system was a
part of the main line which extended from Portland to San Franciscoe.
North from town the railroad left the highway and followed along
the beautiful but poorly named little stream, Cow Creek. This
stream winds and plunges through a deep canyon in which no one then

lived but railroad employees. These people could only be reached
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by rail, as there was nelther a road nor a trall which penetrated

the canyon, However, the only highway that extended north to
Roseburg and south to Grants Pass, while very erooked and full of
heavy grades, was a good road for that period and could be traveled
by car all year,

We rented the only house available and I was able to procure
three rooms over the local bank for my office, For tnem I paid
& rental of fifteen dollars a month.

At this location we began to make more than a living immediate-

ly,and almost at once unusual experiences began, i

A4 very few days after my office was established, an unusually
long ring called me to the telephone.

"If & building is burning and you know that human beings are
dead in the fire, what should be done?" a voice inquired.

"In my opinion every available means should be used to put out
the fire immediately, and if it is certain that everyone in the
bullding is .dead, things should be left exactly as they are after
the fire is out, and the coroner should be called immediately."

"The fire is a deserted barn and there is no water near it,"

I think that my suggestions were carried out witi the possible
exception that not much effort was made to put out the fire because
of the distance the building was from water, But the coroner
- was called, and in the burnt ruins he found the corpse of a woman,
together with that of a newborn babe.

The body of the adult was identified as that of the daughter
of a nearby farmer, It seemed that she had given birth to the

enhild, probably in the barn, shortly before the bullding burnede.

It was sald that she had been keeping company with a young man
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who was reported to be of excellent character, the son of another

O farmere He was arrested and a long lawsuit followed, the result
of which was that he was sentenced to many years in prison. His
conduct as a prisoner proved to de so fine that he was paroled in
a very few years, and since his parole it is said that his 1life

has continued to be above reproach,

Six miles from Glendale, on a small creek called Windy Creek,
was a sawmill owned and operated by the Glendale ILumber Companye.
The sawyer at this mill was George Jennings. The mill settlement
was known as Fernvale, An 0ld map in the Glendale State Bank had
Windy Creek labeled as "Phart Creeki"

fne morning I was called to Fernvale to see George Jenningse

» I found him to be in intense pain, caused by a case of acute
‘I. appendicitis. He needed immediate surgerye. The road to Roseourg

was veryrough and slow, and there were no trains for several hours.

Jennings said that a widow in Glendale was willing to take
him in end take care of him. I found that she lived in a little box
house at the edge of town. In spite of the fact that she had no
experience whatever as & nurse, I decided that it was best for the
patient that we take him there and operate immediately.

In my office was a folding army surgical table, which Wife and
I took to the home of Widow Molly. After we had dusted and cleaned
things as best we could, we sat up our table in the kitchen,
sterilized our instruments, persuaded the local pharmacist to give
the patient some ether, and we removed the appendixe. The druggist

‘ had given a good many eanesthetics in his earlier days and proved to
- be a fairly capable ether anesthetiste

This was our first surgery in Glendale.
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Our patient did so well that in a few days he returned to his
home at Fernvale.

The night after he went home, the people of Fernvale gave &
benefit dance to help the Jennings family carry on financially
until George could work again. It was svout two A.M.,. some two
hours after the danee was over, that I was called to Fernvale by
telephones

"Hurryl" the person who called addede "Because George Jenning's
side has broken open and his intestines are trying to come out "

"Did he have a hard fall or some sort of an accident?"

"No, he hasn't had any accident. Just for no reason, his side
broke open & couple of hours ago and he is in awful misery. Hurryd"

I couldn't believe it, but got to Fernvale as fast as I could.

When I entered the Jennings home, I was surprised to find quite
a group of people seated in a circle close to a large pot bellied
wood stovee With them was Georges. He was sitting on a chalr,
moening, rocking back and forth and holding his right side with
both handse

"George," I asked, "what in hell are you doing here? if
your side has broken open as they say it ﬁas, why arent't you in bed?"

He made no reply but continued to moan and hold his side,
while with my help, he got to his bede

Immediately an exemination showed that his side was in perfect-
1y good condition, but his speech, actions and breath told me that
he was just happy drunko

I was angry and disgustedo

"George," I told him, "I, the future if you want to be a dammed
fool, don't call me because I don't want your business and won't
come . But if you will be just half a man, I'11 do anything I

can for youe. Think it over."
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With that, I left. He evidently took me at my word for he
never called me again, although he was always very friendly when
we mete

Some months later 1 saw George again at the Reuben logging
eamp, five miles north of Glendale, where he was tnen working. I
had been called to see a sick man and when I returned to my car
after I had seen my patient, I found thét George, with a little
group of men, had gathered there.

"Doctor," he asked me, "Do you mind if I ask you a professional ;
question?"

I wondered what sort of a question a "professional question"
might be.

"Certainly not, George. What do you want to know?"

"Is dropsy catching?"

"0f course not. Whet made you think it might be?"

"Well, I just wanted to be absolutely sure, because old lady
MrEKnight, here in camp, was all swollen up out of shape and Doctor
Mennigan of Grants Pass was called to see her, He said that she
had dropsy and took her to the hospital at Grants Pass. In a -
couple of days she had twins. If 1t's catening, I want to keep
away from heri"

Shortly .after our arrival at Glendale, we noticed a large,
bungalow type of building at the edge of the village. On inquiry
we were fold that 1t had been built as a hospital, by an Alaskan
miner named Stevenson. It was sald that Mr, Stevenson, wno spent
his winters at his Glendale home, had been operated for gallstones
by Doctor Shearer, who recently had lived at Glendale. After his
recovery, the patient had felt very grateful to Doctor Shearer and %
had built this hospital so that the doctor would have a sultable

place in Glendale to do surgery.
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About the time the bullding was completed, the doctor and
Mr. Stevenson had some sort of a disagreement and the doctor moved
to Grants Pass, This left the nospital empty except for a man
who slept in it in order that the fire insurance might be kent in
force.

Martha and I were interested, and looked over the building very
thoroughlye. We found thaﬁ it was practically new, had never been
used, was in good condition and well arranged,

In the basement were the dining room and kitenen. The steam
heating plant which furnished heat for the entire building, was
also in the basement,

On the main floor was a well-lighted room, especially built for
a surgerye. Immediately adjoining it was a room waicih provided
faeilities for storing; dressings and surgical supplies, and for
the surgeons and nurses to use as a "serub up room"™ before they
enteredvthe surgery. Also on this floor there were private rooms
that could easily accommodate twenty patients;

The second floor consisted of three rooms which were built to
serve as living quarters for those wno worked at the nospital, Across
the hall from these rooms were two sleeping porenes, whicn looked
out away from town, onto & heavy fir forest, One of these porches
was large enough for one hospitel ted wiile the other had sufficient
room to accommodate several patients,

The entire bullding was located on a slight elevation which
overlooked the village, At the foot of this elevation, a beautiful,
wooded 1little stream trickeled paste

At the time we inspected tae building, lir. Stevenson was in
Alaska, but early in the fall he returned to Glendale and almost

immediately after his return he tried to sell the hospital to use
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When we asked him what we could use for money, as we had very little,
he seid that if we were unable to buy the building, he would rent it
to us for forty dollars a monthl He added that such an arrangement
would be better than having the bullding unoccupied.

We immediately signed a lease for a year on these terms and
very shortly afterward we moved into the hospital,

So at last we had a hospitall

We found that the private rooms were furnished to the extent
of having in them beds, c¢hairs and dressers, The beds were
ordinary single iron beds, but we felt that we conld get along
nicely with them for a time, and that equipment could be added
gredual lye.

Wife once more acted as surgical assistant and general nursing
force, end with the assisteance of our druggist, Mr, Varby, as
anesthetist, we prepared to go to wofk with a surgical staff of
oﬁe. it is surprising how this little group, with the help of a
cook and a girl trained as a practical nurse by Martha, got along
for the next six years,

At Glendale, I'was district surgeon for the Southern facifiec
Railroad Com.pany, as 1 had been at Yoncalla, and as I have continued
to be ub to the time this is written.

Since at that time this portion of the Southern Pacific was
a part of the main line which extended from Yortlend to San Francisco,
it carried very heavy traffic.

Conditions were exceptional at Ulendale so far as the railroad
work was concerned, because, as has heen stated, there was no way
except by rail, to reach much of the country penetrated north of us,
until one reached the town of Riddle, some thirty miles away. For
these trirty miles, the railroad was bullt through an exceedingly

rough, mountainous country, Cow Creek Canyon.
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About midway through this canyon, from one of the railroad
sidings, a mountain trail extended westward across the coast range,
through a heavily forested country that was almost without ruman
habitation, ‘his treil continued on to the Pacific Coast. The
little station where the trail left the railroad was known as West
Fork. Along these thirty miles of railroad between Glendale and
Riddle, were seven or eight tunnels.,

South from our village the country was also very mountainous,
and there were several more railrosd tunnels, but here the country
was also penetrated by roads that were fairly good for that time,
Along these roads were scattered a few small villages,

Because it was impossible to reach many of the railroad points
by automobile or with horses, I was granted a special pass which
permitted me to ride not only on passenger trains, but also on
freights and light engines. This pass proved to be a great help

to me many times during the years I spent at Glendale.

Early one morning I was asked to hurry to the depot, get onto
an engine and go south about ten miies where there was a freight
wrecke

. Because of the heavy grades throughout that eountry, many of
the long freight trains were made up with two engines in front and
one or two more locomotives about two-thirds of the distance toward
the rear of the train, When we arrived at this wreck I found that
such en arrangement had been made in this instance. One helper
engine had been placed near the rear of the train,

A flange on the wheel of a "gondola car" had broken. Tris car
was just ahead of this rear engine. ne car left the track and
caused a pile up of the engine and the portion of the train that
was back of ite.




TET A \ ; \ ] 107

Fortunately, the only persons much injured in the wreck were
an engineer, Mr. Everton, and a firemsn, Mr. Irvine, both of whom
hed been on the engine immediately behind the car which caused the
wrecke Afterward I was told that lMp. Everton was freed from the
wreck promptly and that he, in spite of his severe injuries,
immediately asked to be laid aside until the men were able to get
Mr. Irvine out of the piled up wreckages

The fireman was wedged in the wrecked engine so firmly that
he was unable to moves While he was being released, it was found
that his knee had been jammed ageinst a hot steam pipe so long that
it was terribly burned, Also there was a break of both bones of
the other leg, just above the ankle,

Examination of Mr. Everton showed that he had a dislocated hip
and the ends of two fingers had been completely torn offe

Both men were givena hypodermic of morphine and then placed
on the engine and transferred to our hospital, Our druggist
administered the anesthetic while the dislocation of the hip was
reduced snd the fracture and other injuries were caered for,

We had just finished this work and had made tne patients fairly
comfortable when Doctor Loughridge of Grants Pass rushed in and
told me that he had been instructed by a telegram to come to our
hospital and assist with the patients. He had hardly stopped
telling me this when Doctor E. B. Steward of Koseburg hurried in
and gave me the same information. While neither was needed, I
could only admire the promptneés of the Southern Pacific in obtaining
all the help that might have been needed, and in showing such concern
for the welfare of its employees.

lir, Everton was nearly at retirement age and while he made a
good recovery, yet he didn't go back on duty but chose to retire,

Some months later Mr. Irvine returned to duty with a good ankle
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I kmew of him, he was still on active duty with the railroad.

It was about noon one mid-summer day when & message came over
the forestry telephone;

"Doctor, ean you come out and take care of a prospector that has
been accidently shot? We have nim at the DeVarney csasvin, a 1little
over twenty miles from West Fork on tne Eden Valley trail.”

"I11] get there as fast as I can. It will take several hours,
the best I can do."

"We know it, Doctor. But do your besti"

I celled the depote

"Is there anything going north within the next few minutes?"

"Yes. A through frieght is here taking oil and water."

"gold them a minute until I ean get there. Aand wire the chief
despatcher for permission for trem to stop and let me off at West
Fork. A man has been shot over twenty miles up the Eden Valley
trail end they need a doctor bad.”

"0. K. But get here as fast as you can., Tne freight is
about ready to go."

I picked up my emergency bag and hurried to the depot. Immediate=:
1y the train started and within & few minutes I was let off at West
Fork, fourteen miles from Glendale.

at West Fork I obtained a seddle horse and after 1 had asked
some questions about the trail, I began the twenty mile ride. I
was told that the trail divided etout two miles from West Fork, but
that I should follow the trail tnhat continued along West Fork Creek,
straight over the coast range of mountainse

In spite of the emergency tnet existed, I couldn't help but

enjoy this trip, my first over t=4s particular trail.

As I followed the winding course of the peautiful West Fork

~ - -~ -~ @ . -
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trees were partly covered with bright green moss, strips of which hung

down many feet from the branches. Where the forest was most dense,
and the sun seemed almost unable to penetrate, azaleas and wild rhode=-
dentrum made beautiful underbrush. As the stream rushed down the
steep incline, hurrying along from pool to podl, I could frequently get
a glimpse of a trout darting to some hiding place amongst the rocks.

The trail, winding here and there through the trees, was very rough
in places and often was covered with loose shale rocke. Now it would
be close to the little stream, then again it would abruptly twist back
and forth along the face of a cliff and tne stream would ve seen dashing
along far below,

While I traveled the first seventeen miles, I passed just one E
humen habitation, - a small log cabin three miles out from West Fork,
where a trapper lived.

Because of the steepness and roughness of the trail, my horse
could travel only about four miles an hour, although on account of the
emergency, I urged him to go faster than I thought he should,

It was past s8ix ofclock when I rounded a curve where I was much
surprised to see ahead of me, a large cabin made of peeled logs whi&h
were stained and well matched. Because of the deepness of the canyon
here, 1t already seemed 1like twilight. But electric lights glowed |
here and there, the current for them being furnished by a small hydro-
~electric plant at the creek. To me, such a pléée seemed incredible,
buried in this dense forest so far from civilization.

At the door 1 was greeted by Mr. DeVarhey, who,I was later told,
was the buyer for the Pacific Telephone Company and who hgd built this
beautiful plaece in the wilderness for a summer home for himself and

family.

Indoors the cabin was well and comfortably furnished, much as the

better class of forestry lodges are. In spite of its being midsummer,

the gloWw of a fire in the fireplace dispelled the evening chill and
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added greater cheer to the already cheerful room.
The patient had been plsced in a bunk near the fireplace, and
Qwhi].e there was little evidence of external hemorrhage, still he was
suf fering much paine Immediately I gave him & h,podermic of morphine.

He told me that he had been carrying e revolver in a holster on
his right hip. ¥hen he had stooped to drink from a spring, he had
taken a position in which his hips were higher than his head and shoul-
ders, This caused the revolver to fall out of the holster and the
hammer struck a rock. Unfortunately hehad left the hammer on a full
éartridge and the blow caused the revolver to discharge.

The bullet pierced the biceps muscle of the right arm about half
way between the elbow and the shoulder, but very fortunately it missed
the bone, From there it had entered his right side just to the left of
the gall bladder and seemingly it was now causing the tremendous pain,

While he was telling me this, I cleaned the injured arm and applied

- a sterile dressing. As 1 did this, I wondered what should be done
concérning his more serious injury. ‘ould it be better to leave the
patient here after I had done what I couléd for him, or should we attempt
to get him over the long, rough trail to some hospital where he could
get competent treatment and remain near his physician?

Three men, young and vigorous looking, were present. They were
dressedlin rough but warm clothing, such as loggers or prospectors would
ordinarily wear when in the woods. All three of them had removed their
shoes and were walking about in the cabin in their heavy wollen sox.
¥hen I asked why they had removed their shoues, one of them said, "All
of us are wearing hobnailed shoes so we won't Slip when we are roaming
around in the woods. But we don't want to spoil Wr. DeVarney's beautiful

.olished filoors."

"Were any of you with tne patient when he was hurt?" I asked.

"I was with him," one of them said. "I'm his brother,"
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“You are the fellow I want to talk to," I told him, "Lets
go outside for a few minutes."

“I hardly know what to say ," I began as soon as we were out of
the cabin, where the patient couldn't hear us. ‘we are up against u
tough proposition and maybe you can help me to decide what to doe. The
big question now is, should we leave your brother here where he can
be quiet, and hope for his reecovery , or should we attempt to get
him to a hospital and near a doctor?

“we don't know where the bullet is, or what damage it has done.
It could have punctured one or more of his intestines, and if it did
he will be likely to die of peritinitis if we leave him here, and he
might die even if we manage to get him to a hospital and operate as
soon as possiblee.

“The bullet may have injured his spine. This would make it necess-
ary to put & body cast on him. But if the spine 1is badly injured
and we carry him over this long, rough trail to West Fork, the trip
will be a terrible thing for hime In fact, his movements on a
stretcher during such a trip might e¢ause a partial or complete,
permanent paralysis of all the body below the spinal injury.

"Without an X-ray it is impossible to tell whether or not the
spine is so much damaged that~££:ig¥§y is essentials, &also he simply
cannot get the treatment here that is needed in case of a severe
spinal injury.

“Whe ther or not we ought to try to get the bullet out, depends on

where it 1is, We can only tell this by an X-raye.

"Tn case an infection is caused by the wound, the patient cculd

&

get much better treatment at a hospital than he could possibly get

heree.

"Those are some of the arguments both ways. Also we don't know

whether or not the DeVarneys will be here long and whether or not they

{

|
|
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“ihy ere you asking me, Doctor," the brother sald, "You know more
ebout such a case and what would be the best tning to do than any of
us do."

“Still, since he is your brotner and isn't related to anyone else !
here, it seemed to me that you ought to xnow just what we are up
agzinst, and t ake some of the responsibility as to what we do." |

“Doctor," he said, "Do the thing you think is best. If he were |
your own brother, what would you do?

"] would try to get him to a hospital immediately. There is a
chance that his intestines are not injured, and that his condition will
not be made materially worse by the move, hard as it will be."

“Then let's be on our waye. Whatever happens, you are doing what
you think will give him the best chance, and if we can get him to a
hospital it will help a lote. we 1live in Roseburg end his family is ;
there. Can't we take him to the Roseburg hospital so that we will ‘
211 be hear him during his sickness?"

We called Yr, De Varney and told him that we were going to try to
get the patient to Roseburge He said that his children had a lazy
but gentle burrow armd that we could use it on the trail if it would be
of any help.

The young men went out and cut two slender fir poles, each about
twelve feet 1long. Iir. DeVarney furnished a piece of heavy canvass
‘six feet square. with the poles and the canvass we made a stretcher,
with the poles extending well out from each end.

Another piece of canvass Was fixed so that it made a broad band
over the back of the burrow, with & loop at each end, one on each side
of the burrowe. Tnto these loops the poles at the foot of the stretcher |

& f*

could be placede
lirs, DeVarney had hurried sbout in the preparation of a meal for us,%
and the burrow was given a good feed. vwhile we were ail eating, two

elderly men came into the cabin and said that they had heard of the i
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accident over the forestry telephone and if they could help in any way,
they would be glad to do what they coulde One of them arrived on
a horse, The other had walked a short distance over the trail.

My shoes were not hobnailed and certainly were the wrong thing
to wear on a rough trail. But another man was badly needed to help
take the patient to West Forke So I decided that I would let one of
the elderly men use my horse and I would try to take my turn at helping
to carry the head of the stretchers In this way we could arrange things
so that while Ewo of us were carrying, the other two could get some
reste

S50, shortly after dark we put the patient on the stretcher and
started the long trip to West Forke One of the two of us not carry-
ing the stretcher, walked ahead of the burrow with a light made by
placing a miners candle in a five pound lard buckete

The patient haed become quiet due to the hypodermic, and his con-
dition seemed to be fairly good considering the severity of the

injury. To me it seemed that it might be possible to get the wounded

man to West Fork in time to catch the early passenger train to Roseburge.

The two elderly men, with the horses, sterted out ahead of us with
a good supply of coffeeeo

For one not familiar with the conditions which confronted us, it
would be hard to realize what a difficult thing it is to carry a
critic ally injured patient on a stretcher over a rough, very mountain-
ous, winding trail through & heavy fir forest.

To get u faint idea of wha t we were up against, one could put a
WELL men on an army stretcher and, with:two men handling each end of
the stretcher, carry it first up, then down a stairway which has sharp
turns in it, and keep the stretcher constantly levele. Then multiply
the distance by severgl thousand.

Feature having at one end of the stretcher a donkey which cannot

be depended on to travel at a steady paceAeven though one of the party

|
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is constantly et its heade

Be sure to keep the stretcher approximately level, both going up
and coming down and going around sharp turns.

Imagine the stairs being covered much of the way with shale rock
and having small streams running ecross it here and there.

On this trip, at times our end of the stretcher would have to be
raised above the level of our shoulders, while at other times it was
necessary to lower 1t nearly to our ankles in order to keep it level.

The head was heavier than the foot, but we didn't dare to reverse the
ends because we couldn't as well weatch the condition of the patient and
because something might frighten the burrow and cause him to run or kick
eand injure the patiehte. We were campelled to keep an even pace with
the burrow, or the stretcher poles would slip out of the loops, and 1f
we fastened the ends in the loops eand the burrow should become unmanage-
able, anything could happen.

My first turn at helping went fairly well, but I heertily wished
that my shoes were hobnailed. I managed to get across two or three
very small streams with dry feete iy erms and snoulders began to ache
from the constant 1ifting, as the ends of the stretcher were raised
and lowered in an effort to keep it level. Worse yet was the fact that
when we were carrying the stretcher, we couldn't see the trail at our
feet and one of us was almost constantly stumbling,

My second turn at carrying ceused so much strain that I no longer
attempted to avold the streams, but waded through them, Iliy arms, should=-
ers and back ached intolerably and I wondered how I possibly could go on.
I wore light socks and my feet felt as thougn they were blisteringe

Midway of my third turn, we came to our two men at a camp fire and
they had plenty oif good, black, strong coffee for us. What wonderful
necter that coffee wasl We gulped down cup after cup, then started

on again, wonderfully refreshed.

But soon the old ache and exhaustion returned and increased, until
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mercifully, one became sort of numb all over armd ceased to wonder
about holding out. Even the brain seemed numb}§

That night I drank more black coffee then I ever drank in any week
of my life. At dawn, at a plsce where the trail was winding around the
face of a cl1iff, far above the creek, we saw a dead horse which had
fallen from the trail, part of its body being in the stream below us.e
Its feet were stiéking up and its bady was puffed out of shape,

we traveled through the night with no other light than the candle
in the bucket. However, this made a very good trail light.

Each time we stopped for coffee I would check over the patient
briefly and from time to time I found it necessary to give him more
sedation to keep him free from paine. Inis sedation caused him to be
ﬁractically unconscious during the entire tripe

wWwhen we were about two miles from West Fork, a party of four men
mét us and said that we would have to hurry if we were to get to the
station in time to put the patient on the morming train, They had been ‘
called over the forestry telephone and had beenstold that we were
bringing the patient in. We told them that we were "all in"“ and just
couldn't make any better time, so they took over,

I tdok my horse from the old man, and hurried on to VWest Fork,
determined to try to hold the train a few minutes if necessary,

the four fresh men really dig hurry and arrived at West Fork
ebout ten minutes before the train.

Examination of the patient showed that he had a very poor pulse,

In fact, his general condition had become so much worse than it had been
when we started, that I wondered whether or not he could live tine hour
still Beeded to get him to the hospitale We placed him in the baggage -—
car and his brother accompanied him to the liercy Hospital at Roseburge

By telephone I talked to the patient's doctor,explained the case

and asked that arrangements be made for an ambulance to meet the sick

Man at the Roseburg depote
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sbout thirty minutes later = Ireiht train carried me back to
Glendale. It was after nine O'clock when I arrived there, so I went
directly to my of fice.

Never had I experienced such exhaustion} zvery muscle in my body
ached and my feet were so badly blistered that it was agony to walke
iy shoes were entirely ruinede

Fortunately, no one was walting at the office, so I threw myself
down on a lounge and immedia tely fell asleep. Sometime later someone
was trying to awaken me, I remember dimly that I listened to him and
wrote a prescription, then wént back to sleep immediatelye.

again.I was roused after two or three hours. As soon as I woke
I was troubléa with the impression that I had talked to a man who was
coming ddwn with typhoid fever, and prescribed for him, but I had no
idea what I had written on the prescription blanlk, Hurridly, I went
to the drug store and was greatly relieved wren I found that the
prescription I had written was correcte Lacer I confirmed the diagnosisj
of typhoid fever. The typhoid patient was sick three or four weeks,
after which he made a good recovery. It is remarkable how well we
work automatcally with the aid of ths sub-conscious nind, even when
overcome by exhaustion}

approximately three weeks later, lir. Davis, the brother of the
patient we had cérried over the treil, came to my office and asked for
my Dbille I told him what the charge was for me, as a physician.
He then asked me, “How much more for the help you gave us bringing
in my brother?"

"You and your brother are both prospectors, arenft you?" I asked,
"If you did some prospecting for me you would cherge me a standard
price for the work wouldn't you?"

“Yes, of course."

"If you found me in the woods ir the condition your brother was in
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and helped to bring me out of the woods wrere I could be treated, what
would you charge?"

"I'd be glad to do a1l I could without cherge. That isn't a part
of my regular work," he replied.

"That is exactly my attitudes There is no charge further than
the regular one for my professional services".

He seemed to be very appreclative and told me that his brother
had been very 111 for a few days after his arrival at the hospital but
was now making a good recovery. X-ray showed the bullet lodged close
to the spine, back of the liver, but neither the spine nor the intestines
had been injurede The doctors decided not to make any effort to remove
the bullet unless it caused further trouble. 4s far as I imow, it

never did.

On the whole, work at our hospital went very well. It is true that
confinements, surgical and medical cases were all on one floor and
under the casre of one nurse and one practical nurse. I often look
back in wonderment at the low mortality rate we had, with so little help
and none of our present drugs,. and with practically no intraveinous
medication. For surgical shock we had adrenalin; for too rmich loss
of blood, six houces of normal salt solution, high in the rectum with
a colon tube, evert three hours; for severe pain, only morphine,

As a patient, lir. Farrant first came to my office one spring
afternoon. He complasined of a very severe and continuous abdominal
pain with progressive loss of weighte He was past fifty years of 8g€ e

For some days 1 tried a milk diet and alkalines, but with no

Successe e was nauseated mucn of the time, vomited frequently, and his

. loss of weight continued, I strongly suspected gastric carcinoms and

advised immediate surgery.

Wnen I suggested surgery tine patient told me trnet his wife was
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bedfest at their home near Leland, that ner ailment had been diagnosed
as cancer of the stomach also, and that Ler case had been considered
too far advanced for surgery. He said tlat he wouldn't submit to
surgery until efter she rad passed away because there was no one else
to care for her., Fe trought that her condition was so bad that she
couldn't possibly live long.

It was about three weeks later that he returned and told me that
his wife had died and thaet he was ready for surgery.

"lf you find that things are bad," he said, "go shead and do
your best if there is any chance whatever, I had to watch my wife
suffer for months and I would rather be dead than go through what
she dide In fact I would rather be dead than to remain in the condit-
ion I'm in now."

Before we operated, I told Wife to expect anything, and repeated
his stetement to her.

When the abdomen was opened, I found that nearly a third of the
distal end of the stomach and a very little of the duodenum was
cancerous. We surely had insufficient help to do a gastric resectim,
but in view of what the patient had told me, KMartha and I decided to
"go ehead and do our best." We femoved the distal half of the stomach
and a very little of the duodenum.

The patient had tremendous shock while onsthe opersting table -
so muchr so that I thought he would die before we could get out of the
abdomen e But in spite of his poor condition before we began our
surgery, he gradually recove?ed. He was put on & limited diet and
was disnmissed from the hospital about elgateen days after he was

operatede

Until the morning after he was dismissed, I supposed that he had
taken the train back to his home in Leland. But about mid morning

the agent at Leland called me by telephone.
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"wr, Farrant just arrived on the morning train," he said, "and
is having terrific pain. I'm afraid he will die here in the depot."

1t happened tnat another passenger train was coming through Leland
in a very short time, so I told the agent to get tne patient on that
traine I met him at the station, took him to the hospital and put him
to bede

After I had given him a hypodermic for pain, I asked what he had
done to bring on such an attacke.

"Nothing," he said. "I decided, after I left the hospital, that
I would spend the night with a bachelor friend of mine here in Glendale
and take the morning trein home. The pain started when I was on the
train."

“#hat did you eat for breakfast?"

"Nothing but a fine breakfasﬁ of fried ham and hot cakesi"

I was so disgusted that I told him tnat if he wanted to kill him-
8elf to go right ahead and do it - that he knew better than to eat such
a breakfast so soon after his operation - that I had tried my best to
give him a few more years of 1life and instead of following instructions
as to diet, he had pulled this stunt just as soon as he was dismissed
from the hospltale |

I was still talking when, suddenly he vomited violently and his
statement as to what he had eaten was confirmed.

Again he recovered, and after that time he followed instructions
as to diet very carefullye. Gradually he became able to enlarge the diet
to such an extent that he could eat a meal that was practically normale.

He brought me a wheel cheir that had been used by nhis wife during
her last days, and we found it very useful at the hospital. There
was nothing more that he had to give excepting his gratitude, which

he frequently expressed.

A few months later he left Leland. The last time I heard from
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him, he was working in a sawmill nesr Corvellis, Oregon, “hether
or not he had a recurrance of the cancer, I don't know,

How different confinements are novw from those which I experienced
when at Glendale! We now have the advantages of a googd anesthetist,

& modern delivery room with a full staff of nurses, a §$Spirator for
any newborn babe that doesn't seem to breathe readily, an incubator

for a premature child, vitimin X for cnildren wnose skin shows any
degree of yellowness within a few days of their birth, an Rh blood test
and a Wasserman for all pregnant women, and many other thingse.

During our’yeéré at Glendale, many of these things were unxnown,
end while 'a few women came to our hospital for confinement, yet it was
the opinion of the general public that hospitalization for these cases
was unnecessary and extravagant. 0ld sunt rennie killer posed as a
midwife and would care for a confinement for ten dollars, while I
charged twenty-fivel If a newborn beby had diarrhea, she would give
it doses of medicine consisting of a mixture of castor oil and paragoric
and would pay little or no attention to the diet of the sick infantl

In one instance, even the ownership of a baby seemed to be in
question at Glendale.

James Lee was a local chap who was said not to have s survlus of
brain power. One day he stopped me on the street.

"Doctor," he said, "I want you to take care of my wife in two
or three weeks when our baby is born."

“This is quite a surprise, Jim. I didn't even know thnat you were
marrieds when did the happy event take place?"

"about three weeks agoe You see, I am a fast worker, for I never
met my wife until last month and now we are married and settled downe
5ut Doctor, some of the fellows are laughing at me. They sey that
the baby isnt't minel"

"How do you figure it, Jim, if rou never met your wife until
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last month?"
"If you buy a cow and right after you buy her she has a calf,

it's your calf, isn't 1t?"

What was possibly my toughest obstetrical experience happened one
summer morning when I was called over the mountains to an isolated
home a few miles from Wolf Creek, to care for a horwegian woman who
was being confined for the first time,.

My old 1910 Ford casrried me,together with my obstetrical bag, to
~the home and there I found Mrs. Nellsen having good labor pasins.
Besides the patient, her husband eand I were the only ncrsons present.
The husband could talk some English, but at that tiime the patient could

only speak her native tongue, of which I had no knowledge whatever.

Near the bed was & stove in which a rousing wood fire was burning.

This made it impossible for me to use ether as an anesthetic, and the
only other choice at that time was chloroform.

With the help of the husband, I protected the bed with a rubber
pad over which was placed a clean sheet. 4s tae confinement progressed,
the patient was turned crosswise on the bed. Another clean sheet
was rolled diagonally and a knot tied in each end of it. The patient
was asked to flex her knees and I passed the sheet under them and had
her grasp the lmots at the ends, so that she could pull and "vbear
down" with each pain. Just a little chloroform with each pain
seermed to be elther a real or a psychological help.

After the cervix (mouth of the uterus) was fully dilated and the
head had come down considerably, progress suddenly stopped in spite of
the continuance of very heavy painé and much exertion on the part of
the mother.

Her husband said that approximately nine hours had elapsed since

the pelins became regular and severe and for a short time after my

i
i

arrival thne case seemed to be progressing fairly satisfactorily but very g
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slnwly. Then nearly two hours passed without any progress whatever,

As the patient was becoming exhausted and a little hysterical, I
put on my gown and sterial gloves and observed tne movement of tne
cnild's head during several pains. The head refused to come through
tae bony pelvic outlet and the heavy pains continued with no Progress.

1 removed my gloves, put them and my obstetrical forceps in &
small sterilizer that I now carried wits: me, and after the gloves and
forceps were thoroughly boiled, I placed them in a lysol solution which
was in e sterile basin beside the bede

Suddenly I was surprised to find that the husband, who had been
giving the patient a little chloroform with each pain, was gone. At
the same time his wife began to cry out very strenuously and talk a
torrent, none of which I could understand. I called for the husband
but received no answer,

What a situationl A forceps delivery with no help whatever, and
a patient who couldn't understand anytning that I said and who, for that
reason, wouldn't be able to pay any attention to instructions that I
might give herl 4nd there were no neighbors near enough to be called
in to help me,

Would it be possible, I wondered, for me to do an instrumental
delivery with no help whatever? 1t seemed almost impossible but there
seemed to be no choice in the matterl

I gave the patient a sufficient amount of chloroform to cause her
to snore lowdly, end continued until she was as deeply under the anes-
thetic as I dared to put here Then I dashed my hands through & hasty
wash in the lysol §olution, slipped on my gloves, and with much diffi-
culty managed to manipulate the forceps into place onsthe head of the
child. This was especially difficult because there was no one to
hold her knees in place, and all her miscles were so‘completely reiaxed

by the anesthetic that her knees tried to fall in most any direction
they coulde.
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But in some way I managed to apply tue forceps and hoped tuat I

hadn't contaminated either the forceps or my gloves in the effort.

By the time I had the forceps in place, the patient was beginning
to have severe pains again, as she had recelved no more chloroforme. She
was rapidly returning to consciousness and was beginning to be very hard
to manage, as she tried in her semiconsclous condition, to move here and
there to get away from thé pain and the forceps. I attempted to tell
her to 1lie still, but if she was conscious enough to hear me, of course
she couldn't understande

As she became wider awake she began to shriek at the top of her voice,
and seemed to be uttering the same words over and over. DBut in spite of
the severe pains, as she regained consciousness she gradually seemed
to realize that I was trying to help her, and moved her hips less.

At last, after many strenuous pulls on the forceps, 1 succeeded in
delivering the child. At first it seemed to Dbe dead, but with the
stethoscope 1 found that its heart was still beating, although very
slowly. After I had given it artificial respiration for what seemed
to me to be a long time, it began to gasp irregularly and finally it
was breathing normallye

The mother became quiet immediately after the birth of the child,
and appeared to be watching me as I worked with it. I was covered
with perspiration and out of breath from exertion. After the child
began to breathe, I managed to wipe the perspiration from my face with
s towele Then, suddenly, I felt very week and tired, but was greatly

relievede

Now the husband was with us again} Examination of his wife
showed that there had been quite a laceration and very willingly, he
helped by giving her a little more chloroform while I placed the

stitches necessary in the repair of the laceration. The placenta came

without trouble, and at last the confinement was overl
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The child had red marks on botn sides of his head where the forceps
had pressed, but the skin was not broken and no scarring resultede.

I turned to the husband and said, "Where under the sun were you
while the baby was being born?"

"Oout in the barn."

"Couldn't you hear your wife yell?"

"Yes."

"What was she repeating over and over?"

"She was saying that you were killing heri"

He seemed to realize that his absence had mede the case much harder
for me and that it had greatly increased tae danger to boti tune mother
and the child, and he seemed very sorry.

"But," he said, "it simply got so bad, Doctor, that I couldn't stand
it any longer to hear her yell, and I just had to leavei™

Two years later the same woman came into my office. She had
learned to talk English fairly well.

"Doctor," she said, "I am worriede. You remember that awful
confinement I had?"

I assured her that I could never forget it.

"Well," she continued, "I missed my last period so I got a plece
of slippery elm and put it up in the vagina as far as I could. A woman
told me that this would stop my pregnancy. Now I can't find the
slippery elm, and I am worried about it."

I went on a hunt and removed the slippery €lme. Possibly she was
not pregnant. At any rate, 1 don't remember of ever seeing ner again

and I never heard that she gave birth to another child.

It was in December 1919 that I purchased a wire wheeled Ford

sedan, the first sedan in Glendale. Wren I began to use it, the

loggers kidded me about it.
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"How do you like your new hearse,Doctor?"

At any rate, it was warm and I 1iked it.

Late in the afternoon one December day shortly after 1 purchased
the sedan, I was asked to go thirty-three miles up Cow Creek to see
a sick child.

Shortly after 1 got into the sedan and started on my call, a
snow storm began, j

For the first twenty-five miles there was considerable settlement,
but for the remaining distance the houses were scarce and far apart,

My destination was reached in time for me to look over the child
and prescribe for him before a delayed evening meal was readye Little
urging was needed to persuade me to remain until some fried venison
was served with hot biscuits and coffee,

Very liesurely I enjoyed the fine meal, and after it I sat and
visited with the family for some time. The minutes slipped by so very
agreeably that 1t was nearly eleven ofclock when I went outside to
start for home. When I opened the door to go out, I was surprised
to find that there had been a fall of several inches of snow since I
had come into the house. 1 paid 1ittle attention to this, however,
as I climbed into my "hearse" and started for home,

After I had traveled a short distance I ran into snow drifts that
were so deep that they made driving very difficulte Also the road,
when not in the timber, was covered with so smooth a white layer that I
found 1t very hard to follow its winding course,

Sometime after eleven o'clock I missed the road entirely. I had
no chains and soon I was unable to go either forward or backward in
the snowe, I decided that I would have to sleep in the car until morn-
ing, tnen walk to the nearest house for help. But, as 1 had worn a top
coat that was waterproof but of light weight, 1 soon found that the f

temperature in the car became so low that I couldn't rest. g
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Toward 1 A. M. I decided that I would try to get to the nearest
house., But I was not sure how far away the neasrest house was, or who
lived in it, The fall of snow had stopped but tine wind had become
quite strong so that the snow was drifting more than it had before,

Occasionally I could near the crasn of a tree falling in the nearby
timber, and as my way led into the forest I wondered when one of the
falling trees would flatten either the sedan or me,

I shut the car door tight before I began to walk slowly, trying
to follow the road. At first I could see fairly well, but before long,
as I entered tine heavy timber, I found it so dark tnat I had to feel
my way step by stepe It seemed to me that my progress was so slow
that I would likely have to spend the rest of the night feeling my way
along tarough the snow.

When I had about given up the idea of getting in anywhere for the
night, I saw tne dim glow of a distant light a considerable distance
ahead. As 1 slowly worked my way around a turn, the light began to
show more brightly and I was able to travel faster. Cold and snivering,
I approached a small cabin of unusual shape and constructione. Who,I
wondered, would be up at this time of nighte

At Glendale there had been a rumor that some spiritualists had
camped fer up Cow Creek the previous summer, and that they were said to
be building a cabin in the constrcution of which nothing but yew wood
was usede it was further said that these people expected that, when
the building was completed, the spirits would convey it to some special
spot where the builders would reside permanently. I wondered if this
could be the cabin.

In the 1light which.shown. througn the window, I looked at my watch
and found that it was just a few minutes after two o'clocke.

In response to my knock, the door was thrown open and a volce saild,

"Come in out of the storm. Wiat a storm it isl You must be nearly
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frozent Get rigiit over by the stove and warm up."
The speaker was a medium sized man neatly but plainly dressed,
My impression trnat he was very intelligent was confirmed by shelves
filled with books, whici covered nearly the entire wall of one side of
tne roome A large table stood about the center of the room and some
books and papers were scattered over the table, Two or thnree chairs

and the hot stove completed the furnishinge.

This place would have seemed wonderful to me under the circumstances,’

even if there had been nothing more than the hot stove in the roome. The
bright light was furnished by a gasoline pressure lamp.

"What a night to be out} I'1l have a cup of hot coffee for you in
a few minutes. Aren't you awfully cold? Have you been out in the

storm long? I didn't hear you until you knocked, Are you driving a

team or were you in a car? A car surely couldn't get far in this storm. "

When I told him.who I was and that I had been on a call to see a
sick child, but had gotten off the road in the storm, he was even more
cordial.

"You can't go out into the storm again tonighte As soon as you
get warmed up good, you must stretch out and get some rest."

How good the hot coffee tastedl I hadn't realized that I was so
cold. But I was soon very warm and comfortable and almost at once I
was drowsy and nodding. When he noticed this, he led me to a smaller
room where he 1it a candle and then left me after he had remarked, "The
bed is hard and the bedding very plain, but I hope you will rest well,
Doctor.,"

I found that my bed was a crudly built bunk, firmly attached to
the wall, There was no matress and the bedding consisted entirely
of quilts made of gunny sacks. BRut these sleeping accommodations

were so very welcome that at once I pulled off my shoes and climbed

into "bed" fully dressed.
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In spite of tre nardness of my bed, I fell asleep almost immediate-
. ly and tre next thing I knew it was bright daylight.
N "surely," I thought as I pulled on my snoes, "this is tie place of
which I have heard, said to be built of yew wood only. And my host
must be one of the spiritualists that are building it."
When I went into the living room, again my host was very cordial.
He cooked for me a good breakfast of hot cakes and ham and poured
two cups of steaming coffee. For all this he flatly refused to
accept one cente
I will never know whetiier or not the cabin was constructed entirely
of yew wood, but I do know that it was very small., Also I still
suspect that after my arrivael, my host sat up the remainder of the
night in order that I might have his bede.
I can't even affirm that any of the rumors I had heard regarding
‘ him end his cabin were true, but when I think of this trip I always
feel a warm spot in my heart for him, strange though he wase.
Never did I see him agéin.
The storm had blown itself out during tre night and when I left
the cabin in the morning, the sun wes shining and the morning was
beautiful. |
When * reached my car, I found that, due to some defect, the
gasoline had slowly dripped during the nignt and the tank was empty.
So I started to walk to the nearest house in which people that I knew,
resided - a family named “edfield. Before i resched their home I
found that a medium sized fir tree had fallen across the road during
the storm.
Two of the Redfield men returned to the car with me. They brought |
‘ a heavy crosscut saw to the fallen tree and cleared the road. One of
the men carried a can which contained two gallons of gesolinee. "When

this was poured into the tank and the engine was started, I was able to

ocet the sutomobile bscr into tne road witrh tre heln of the two menea




129 f
' |
After I took taem home I started for Glendale. «gain tae
gasoline was dripping slowly from tiie carburetor, but 1 was able to get
to a small country store at Azalea, ten miles from Glendale. There
I filled t.e fuel tank and from tiere to Glendale tie road was such that
I had no trouble, and arrived at home srortly before noone
%inen 4 came into town, some of my friends who knew that I should
have returned the previous night, were just starting out to hunt for me.
They fesred that I had been hit by a falling tree during tre storm,

or that I nad been stalled in the timber and was unable to get out.

In spite of the fact that I have lived tharough a span of years
in which my country has been in several wars, I have never been in |
active military service. When war was declared against Spain, I
was too young to get into it. Wnile located at Yoncalla, I went
through & severe abdominal operation at a Portland nospital and when
I attempted to get into the first world war, I was rejected because I
had so recently been operated and because of my extreme myopis.

#hen the second world war began, my health was good and the require-
ments for passing the army visual tests seemed not as severe as formerly,
s0 neitner of these things shut me out, My advanced age was then tle e
barrier, as it has been since then; this in spite of the fact that most
of us doctors who remained at home during tie second world war are
of the opinion that we worked rmuch harder than did the average medical
man in either the army or neavy, excepting those in combat areas.

It was during the second world war that, in spite of my age, I
experienced the hardest work of my life in the practice of medicine and
SUrgerys. In fact, during tnat time my work was so heavy that my heealth
became impaired and much of this impairment has been permanente
. At the time tie United States entered ti..e first world war, the

militery authorities seemed to fear tnat an effort would be made to



—-——

derangs our transportation systems, snd every effort to prevent this
was put into effecte

Because of tae fact t:iat t.e portion of tie ~outnern racific near
Glendale was then a part of tne only railroad between Portland and
Sen Francisco, it was extremely important that it would continue to
function without interruption.

One of tiie longest of the railroad tunnels on this system was not
more tnan two miles south of Glendsle.

Very snortly after our country entered this war, military guards
were placed at these tunnels. Not long after this was done, I was
taken on an engine to the mouth of tnis long tunnel, between Glendale
and Wolf Creek, where one of these guards had been found unconscious.
One foot had been lacerated so badly that all the skin on the bottom
of the foot and most of that on the upper surface of tne foot, nad
been torn off and the tendons lald bare.

We losded him onto the engine and brought him to our hospital.

The captain of the company to wnicn tunis guard belonged was tien
located at “edford. he came to our hospital the day after we received
tne injured guard as a patient, and for some hours he tried to obtain
from the patient, information as to what had happened. but after the
injured man had improved to suchan extent that he could talk, he seemed
to be so mentaly confused that his answers to the questions were without
any value whatevers

So far as I know, what really happened was never determined. For
many days the patient was mentally disturbed, but finally seeued to
return to mental nérmalcy. |

Bylsome it was thought that he had been injured deliberately by
some disloyal person oOr persons, wnile others had tane idea taat in
some way he had been hit by an engine and injurede.

After many days the foot had so filled in that a skin graft was

indicated. This was done and much later the patient left tne nospital.
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I have been told that he had a permanent limp ani was discharged from

the army service because of this disability.

As the rallroad extends north from "Jolf Creek toward Glendsle,
the grade is very heavy, as it is necessary to gain sltitude in order
to reach the south entrance to the tunnel. ® gain this altitude a
long curve, known as the Wolf Creek Loop, exists. Because of this long
loop, northbound trains run east as they pass close to the Wolf Creek
depot, and a complete reversal of direction is rapidly mede as altitude
is gained. Consequently the same trains again pass the depot, running
west but far above the station, before they enter the tunnel.

One winter day I was called to Wolf Creek when there was so much

snow on the road at its highest point, where it passed directly over

the railroad tunnel, that it couldn't be travelede Therefore 1 telephon-

ed the station at Glendale and found that there would be no trains
passing from either directions for about two or three hours.

As the cese was urgent, I decided to walk the railroad track and
go through the tunnel with the aid of a flashlight. This plan proved
to be successful, and after I had seen my patient I went to the Wolf
Creek depot and again asked about the trainse.

"There will be one train going to Glendale in about a half hour,"
the agent told me, "but it will be a train load of .banannas sand usually
the frult trains run on a fast schedule in order to get their fruit to
the markets quicklye. For this reason the bbmpany dislikes to stop
them unless it is absolutely necessary. But I'11 call the despatcher
at Koseburg and seé what he says."

The train despatcher would usually give' permission to stop a train
in order that I might be picked up. But when pe was contacted, he
reported that in tnis instance the frult was being rushed north and
that the train shouldn't be stopped unless an emergency existede.

"Give the despatcher my thanks and tell him just to forget the
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mattere. I can easily walk back to Glendale trhe way I came," I said.
"y4111 there be time for me to walk basck through the tunnel between
trains after this one has gone through?"

"What's the use of walking? Why don't you climb up to the unper
end of the loop, above the depot, and catch the train there? ihe grade
is so steep that the trains nesrly slways are traveling very slow at
that point and usually a person can easily hop onto the end of the
caboose."

The ideaAseemed good to me, so I took my medicine case and climbed
the mountain side to the top of the loop. # track walker happened to
be there, and when I told him wnat the situation was he said, "I'1l
hold your medicine case and flash light while you jump onto the train.
Then I'11 run behind the caboose and nand them to you, after you are
on."

There was so much snow and s0 many large uneven rocks along the
side of the track that it was impossible for me to run with the train
as I got one I simply nad to stand still and grasp taoe curved nand rail
which is on the sides of the caboose at the steps, and make a jump for
the steps without being in motion in the direction the caboose was
moving when 1 jumped.

When the caboose passed, ; gresped the hand rail firmly with both
hands and jumpede

I thought my arms would be pulled offl Excruciating pains shot
through both shoulder jolnts and down my arms} My feet didn't come
down on the steps as they should, but trailed out behind me, almost
as high as my shouldersl .

1 could see the snow and rocks whirlingrbast as I looked down,
and xnew that either I had to hold on or take an awful plunge down
among them. Somehow I managed to cling to that hand rail until, at

lest, my feet came down and t{ouched tie steps.
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How my shoulders and arms did achel

The track walker, with my csse and flashlight, was hopelessly
left behind.

I stood on the platform of tie caboose for a few minutes, ruboing
my arms and shoulders, then went inside.

The conductor sat at his desk, writinge. Ag I went in, he looked
up and said, "Where the devil did you come from?"

"I just jumped on at the top of the Wolf Creek Loop. Here's my pass."

"I can't see any pess. As fer as 1 know, you're not on tials train.
We came through Wolf Creek and over the entire loop so fast that I
wouldn't have tried to jump on, myself. 1f I peported that you jumped
on here, some official would yell his head off for my letting you get
avoard, in spite of the fact that there wasn't any way I could help ite
I had no idea that anyone would be such a fool as to try to get on when
we were running so fasti"

With that, he went back to his writing and after he had written
for & minute or two, I heard him mutter;

"mools still butt in where angels fear to treadi"

No doubt he was righte

The next morning the Ulendale depot telephoned me that they had
my medicine case and flashlight,- to come and get them.

is I went into the depot, a freight train stopped and the engineer
came ine When the agent handed my medicine case to me, I said, "rhanks.
And believe me, I'1l never try hopping onto a bananna train again, Once
is enough. My shoulders and arms still ache and every time I move,
they are so sore that they hurt." - |

"shat bananna train?" the engineer asked.

"The one thet came through yesterdaye It was just too fast for

me where I jumped on, at the top of the loop. The conductor gave me

the devil for getting on but I didn't realize that the train was running
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so fast,"

"11]1]1 say it was too fast," he said. "I was on the front engine
and I wouldn't have tackled that train myselfl If you had just given
me some sort of a sign, I'd have been glad to slow for you."

From that day to this, I have never attempted to ¢climb abord a

train that was in rapid motion.

At the upper end of the Wolf Creek Loop, barely in Josephine
County, a long trestle had been built to support the railroad along
the side of the mountain. The “outhern Pacific decided to blast and
dig rock out of the mountain and make a fill to replace the trestle.
This would make a solid fill which would do away withh the expense of
maintaining the trestle.

An extra crew, largely Italians, was brought to the trestle to do
this work and crews were working there day and nighte. |

It was midnight when my telephone called me, and I was told that
there had been an accident where the Italians were working, and "It's
an emergency, Doctor. Please hurryl"

An engine was waiting for me at the station and immediately took
me to the scene of the accident,

When we arrived at the treséle, I found that one of the Italian
men was dead and terribly mangled. Another was unconscious and had a
fracture of the femr, a fracﬁured skull, and one eye nearly torn out.

We lifted the injured man onto the engine and rushed back to the
hospital with him. In doing this, we crossed the county line, from
Josephine County back into Douglas Countye.

At the hospital we used every supportive measure that we knew
at that time, but the patient never regained consciousness,. He only

lived untli about 2 P.M that daye.
Afterward I was told that these two men had been blasting some

rock and had placed blasting powder in a hollow metallic tube. Then,
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with a small metallic rod, they had attempted to tamp the powder
down into a crevice in the rock. It was thought tnat a spark was
caused by the friction of the metallic rod against the metal of the
tube, and an explosion resulteds

Inquiry among the Italians gave me ti.e information that the
patient had no people in this country, but had a wife and children in
Italy who were very poor. The family would be financially unable to take
the remains back to Italy or to stand the expense of burial here.

By telegraph I notified the nospital department of the Soutnern
Pacific of the death of the patient and asked for instructionse
Promptly a telegraphic reply came, which informed me that the benefits
of the Southern Pacific Hospltal Department provided for care of em=
ployees while they were living, but that the responsibility of the
reilroad company ended with the death of an employee. It was suggested
thet I turn the remains over to the countye

By telephone 1 called the judge of Josephine County and told him
of the instructions I had received from the railroad.

"Just why are you calling me?" he sald. %your hospital is in
Douglas County isn't it? And the man died there didn't he?"

"Yes, but the man was injured in Josephine County and was taken
to Glendale because that was by far the nearest place he could be cared
for, and tie case was & real emergency."

"ohat makes no difference to us. The man died in Douglas County
and Josephine County will acecept no responsibility in the matter."

This sounded unreasonable to me, but the only thing I could do was
to telephone the Douglas County judge at HRoseburg.

"You say that the accident happened in Josephine County?" he
asked when I told him the circumstances. "The only decent thing for
you to do was to get the injured man to the nearest place he could Dbe
given cqmpetant treatmente. But it is Josephine County's case, anc we

cen't do snvthing about 1it," and the telephone was dead,
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What a situationl We had done tie only decent tining tiere was to

do under the circumstances, and tne result was that I had on my hands
the remains of an Italian who had been killed by an injury received
when working for the railroad in Josephine County!

After tainking trnings over for a few minutes, I decided t-at there
was only one tiing I could do, and decided to see 1f 1 could get away
with it.

Once more I called the Josephing County judge at Grants Pass and
told him wnat was tie attitude of Douglas Lounty regarding tae case.

"Well," he said. "It looks just too bad for you. You have a dead
Italian on your hands, Doctor, and we are sorry for you. But we aren't
responsible for the case and will do nothing about it."

"There seems to be only one thing left for me to do,"™ I replied.
"I'11 put the remains of the injured man on a stretcher, carry him onto
the main street of Glendale and put a sign on him which will say that
he died as the result of an accident in Josephine County and that
Josephine County refuses to tgke care of the remains, I will leave
him there for public inspecfion."

"Thet's unreasonable. You can't do that," he said.

"Wait two hours and see if I don't do it," I replied, and hung
up the pnone,

Again I called the Dougles County judge.

"Much as I hate to do it," 4 told him, d can see nothing tuat I
can do concerning the dead Italien, than to put the remains on the main
street of Glendale, together with & sign which will state that the man
died in Douglas Younty, is destitute, and that the ccunty refuses to
do anytrhing about 1it."

This judge I knew personally, and immediately he asked that I do
nothing for a little while and he would see what could be done about

the matter and would call mee
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In less than an hour the telephone rang and the Douglas County
judge told me that I should call an undertaker from Grants Pass, and
assured me that each county would pay half of the burial expense.

This was done and each county did as was promised.

This brings to mind eanother experience 4 had witn the Southern
Pacific.
That company always treated me well, and when any exception has

taken place, it has been due to the action of some employee rather than

the management, and this has happened very seldom under eny circumstances

The following occurrance did stir me up considerebly for a few hours.

On the morning of my birthday, Novemner 11th, I was called to
meet & heavy passenger train wnich was traveling to Portland from
San Francisco.

Just before I left the house, Wife said, "Don't forget that this
is your birthday and that we intend to celebrate at home this evening.
Try to save a little of your energy for the party."

"I wouldn't miss it for a lot," I ssid.

Immediately I went to the station and there I found that the
conductor had put a sick woman off the train and the traln had gone
on its waye. The woman was waiting for me and a glance told me that
she was thoroughly broken out with the smallpox}

There is no place in the average small town to isolate a person
who has a contagious disease, and the citizens of such a community are
inclined to have something of a panic when they hear that there is a
case of smallpox in the neighborhooﬁ. Glendale was no exception.

I knew of no place where I could take this woman and isolate her.
Ir I took her to our hospital and placed her in isolstion tuere,l was
certain that some very ill patients would be so frightened that they
would insist in getting out of the building immedietely regardless

of consequencese



In spite of the fuct t':t she ha# come all the way rom ©

javl

and hac pagsed turough various clties wrere tiiere were provisions for
‘:uc,‘z casez, the conductor L&’ pus her ¢fF at our little villagel

Tre station agent was esger to 222 her out of tre bwﬁlﬂing inmed-
lately, sut I was irritasted secsusze she had been left in UYlendsle by =«
Southiern Pacific emplcyees Also,I krnew of no other place to take her,.
S0, in spite of his protests, I insi:-eé on leavings her in the depot

waltinz room until I could locate sc-cone who was irmune to smallpox

an’ wno would csre for her,

A1l day I continued a ses mingly “ruitless search for sucl a plece,

There were very few houses ir the ccurinity that I hadn't vis

l"{'

ed
when twilight was upon us,

At last, shortly before it was tire for the cuests to arrive =t our

rr_.

heme, I found an elderly couple wno seil trat they ha! both had the
smallpox some yeers earlier. After ccnsiierabile persuasion they very
eluctently consented to care for trn: rstient in their home,

.Wren I went to the station for
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-2 women, I found the agent very

angry because I had not t r he had ssid what
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was on “1s wmind, I became so irritate: c.et I said, "In csase anyone puts

a patient with & contagious disesse o077 tre train at Glendale again,

I'1l guarantine the place end put a tei ir t-e waiting room and keep

the patient there until it hss recovered,
"You know you can't quarantine suic. & public place as the depoti"
"Perhaps you sre right, Maybe I can't. Dut if L am still the

local health officer, I surely will tr7,"

ed to cet home in time tc =ake & quick bath, shampoo and

a change of clotning before the guests bszan to errive,

+he p.tient had a typical, moferaiel“ severe case of smallpox,

‘tr. recovery in due time.

Of ten I have wondered just what t-e law would l.ave been azout

the aquarantine of & depct under suc:. cir umstances, but 4 have never

n Francise c,
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had = chance to try 1t,
Anotier petient was put off tie trair. at Glendnle, but t.is one

Fac rnot
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contagious case,

ien called, 1 yas Lold ti.at tiere was & woman at the derot who
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rriage and bleeding bedly." At the station
I foung walting, a middle aged women with a little girl about six

Jears of age,
After tie mother and child were brought to our f1ospitel, I found

t.at tie patient was having a severe hemorrhage as tre result of an

atorted eerly pregnancy.
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tie time ti:is 1is written, tre regular et-iesl procedure in

>

Sucil 2 case 1s for tre attending physician: to call anotrer doctor
for consultation, But at that time I nad not heard of such a
procedure, Also, the nearest consultation was thirty miles away and
t.ie woman was loosing =50 muer blood that she might nhave been past
help if one waited long enough for anotuer pnysician to arrive,

Tre ~emorrhage wss so profuse tiat it was evident that tre only
thing to be done was to empty tre uterus, in this Wwa, stopping tre
hemorrhaze, This I dig imredlately,

The little girl had no place to go so we took cere of her st

e _.ospital, The mother hzd obrougint no extrs clotiing for tue
¢r:11d and tie result was teat kartia dressed her in some of elents
ocutfite.

Tne petient requested that I telegrseph ner nusvand at their rame

In Los Angeles, and tei} him wiat had happened., Almost imiedistely

8 reply vas received which urged us to "give my wire every attenticn

Tter a few davse the wother war azein ahle to trevel. She and
her dewgrser contipned Lhelr trin e Paptalna where trey expected to

visit wits relatives, Later a bill was sent to the nusbhand. fn witeh
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During tl.e next several —ont s occasions]l statementa were sent
to tihe rusbande But 1t secrz: that, in spite of the instructions
ne nad glven us, tne usband r:- forgotten tist we were to "spare
expense" in the care of ais wils,

Some time after the wome: left us, I admitted Into our unospital
a Los Angeles female patient w.c hzd “een injured in an sutomobile

accident. ler husbesnd, an = was with tter and haed not been
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injurede We happened tc tel: zim scmetiing of the case of tne
former Los Angeles women, ari .z suggested that we give him the bill
for collection. We were heprvy o do thics and three or four weeks

later 1 received a letter fror rnim, togetiier with & cl.ecke he lette

g

ct

eted that, with much diffics:1ty he had succeeded in ccllecting the

Dill in fulle

It was just a:t daybresk cnes summer morning during the first
world war, that the telephcns zot me out oi' bed and I was told te
come to tunnel number thirtser $ust as fezst as I could, 4 south
bound peassenger train had beern wrecked trere.

Hurridly I dressed and rus.ed {o the depot wiiere an engine
velited for me.

There I was told tiat t-¢ wreck had been caused by the entire
end of the tunnel caving in on we front of tne engine as it entered
the tunnel.

Possibly a mile before we rezched tie scene of the wreck, the

block system showed red, inii:eting ti et the railrcad was blociked

w

by sorething akead of us, “e 211 knew trat st leest a pert of the

:

wrecked train was or. the tracic and that there wss no waj that anythls

else could have gotten betwesr us and tne wreck, Zowever our engine

{mmedistely stopped and one 57 tne rallrocad men got out and percred
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on tiie frent of the locomotive, Then, very slowly, we continued our
way towurd the tunnel.

"Is it necessary,”

I asked, "to waste sc mucl: time in getting
o tne wreck when we positively know that nothing but toe wreck 1=
the blonk signal to show red? Hany neople may be badly Lurt

.
cals 1n

a3

anc s few minutes delay could cause a lot of unnecesssy suTcrirg,”

e vailiroad rules are so strict about disrsgarding a red slgnal
for any cause whatever, that I could be discharged if 1t was found
taat I had broken the rule. We will scon be thera."

At that time such a strict adnerance to tiis regulation seemed
to me to he very extreme,and 1t might cause unnecessary loass of life,
Zut later, wanen I had thought the matter over, I came to tie conclus-
1on that it 1s tae only safe thing to do.

At the south end of the tunnel we stopped and walksd along the
track until we cane to the'locomotive, wiich was derailzd but still
apright in the tunnel. Large chunks of rock were scattered over

~e front portion of tire locomotlve and a pile of broken rock was in

%ish difficulsy we were able to climb pest the engine and we
cound that the baggage cer and one mail car were also off the track

hut uprighte The remainder of the long train stood on tne track

o

as t-ougn nothing had nappenedes

The engineer and fireman were badly bruised butb nof serious

b

lerk had been thrown most of the lengt. of & mall cer

<
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but, fortunately e rad no fractures and was not severely injurede.

“nile I was examining the meil clerk men. sald to me, "Doctor,

fS]

b4

em a Southern Pacific claim agent and just happened to be on this
aine I wish _ou would go trrough the entirs traln wilth me, talkx

to svery pessenger and take oire of anyone taat claime to have even
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signed a release form tizs e ~al, which stated toot a satisfactory
settlement hed been msde,

Some sort of a kitsle Tilles with water, had been 20iling on the
range of the dining csr w.en t-e eccident heappencdyand t-e avrupt stop
caused the boiling wassr in t-4s <etzle to be thrown onto the cook.
The extensive burns w-izh resul-c3 were more serious than any of the

¥e menaged to get tne
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back to the nospital, wiers we g&ve aim first aid. The next dav he
wes sent tTo the Soutrer: Pacific

remeined under treatnen= for soms tinme. Ultimstel,; he mede a T004

v (403
I'eECOVEDry,
Anroxdmately & rear lz-ap 2 ~ervened to mest the sane ~lainm

-~

fiec had sxperisncsd arF Lroubls

"Twe or three law sulbs wers sterted," he sald, "ou: t-.2 ware
fairly easlly settled due Sc Lz feat that treatment was offered to
all tne pascengers so premntly,"

S0, in spite of trne fect thst train number 13 had teen wrecked at

tunnel number 13, thne luck hadn't besn as bad ag it might have been,

It sesns t.at raillroais, like 231 other or
the public, have to deal with 211 sorts of peonie, desirable and
undesiravle,

It was about midnignt, w.en I sas called to the reilrosd station
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Lo s-e a man wno had been injured.

e depot at Glendale was locsted on ;roun! wiich siones consideap~
ably so tast the front plabiform of tie station was on the same level
az e walin rallroad track, whilles the bsck platform waes just fap grouzn

above tnie rallroad siding so that the floors of tne frelgat cars on

ct

n21s siding were on the same level as the platform,. At one end of
thé stztion, near the back, steps led down from the platforam to the
ground,

"l'en 1 arrived at the depot I found that a tramp, who had Leen
wandering about in the darkness, had started down these steps and hred

fallen and injured his left arm, I took him to my office and X=rayed

és]

tie injury. The radius was broken just above thie wrist. The
frecture was reduced and a splint applied, and after this was done
ancther Xeray was taken which showed that the broken fragments had
been placed in good apposition.

The patient was Instructed to return in a day or two so that I

rm was getting along normally. I forwarded

leb}
£

contld e sure that th
this usuel accident report to the railroad, but never secw tie patient
agaline Leter I informed tie Hospital Department that the patient

had never returned, which made 1t impessible for me to render a final

report of the

o)

rogress of the case.
Avout a year from the tlas tihe zrm was broken, I received =

elegran from the chief surgeon of the Southern Pacific, wnish asked

c‘f‘

if I still had the X-rey films of tiis potientt's arm. The films were
immedisately mailed to nim,

A month later a letter arrived in wiilcih: tne surgeon taanked me
for ths films. He said thet the Injured man had brought suit against
the reilroad company, claiming tisi he hiadl teen injursd on railroad

property, had . een Jiven incoupetant tre-tment and that he “ad s
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defective arm as a result of the accident and the poor treatment.
The surgeon added that as soon as the X-ray films were siiown, and

a letter was read which I had written when I sent in the films, the
suit was droppede

This injured man was not am employee of the company and had no
reason to be on railroad property except‘possibly because of a desire
to steal a ride on one of the company's trains. Yet he would have
been glad to obtain damages from the railroed for his Iinjury.

So many experiences in connection with railroad work have been
related that it may seem that the Southern Pacific had more than its
share of accidentse. But at thaet time traffic was very heavy over
this part of the system. Also these experiences happened during
twelve years of practice, in an exceedingly mountalnous country where
grades were heavye It is noteworthy and really remarkable that
in all of these accidents, none of the passengers carried by the

company wWere among those who were seriously injurede.

During the last fifty years, transportation has so changed that
now it is hard for young people, whatever thelr occupation, to
realize how much easier it is to get from place to place than it was
during the early days of my practicee

At that time there were no pavements outside of cities and very
little of it in most of them. Where pevement was found 1t was
usually constructed of either cobblestones, cedar blocks or bricke
¥Most of the rural roads were practically bottomless at least a third
of the year, excepting in the portions of the country where the
highways froze solid during the winter.

Automobiles were very scarce and those that existed were

mechanically crude and non-dependable as well as unpopular on the
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highwayses Well 1 remember when the driver of a car had to reduce
his speed to ten miles an hour or less when he approached a horse
drawn vehicle, and if the horses seemed frightened, the law required
that the car motor must be turned off and the driver of the car must
assist the driver of the horses in getting them past the car.
In 1911, our druggilst purchased a Ford touring car. I stood
and looked at it and wondered whether or not I would ever be in such
good financial condition that I could buy so wonderful a vehiclel
But I comforted myself by thinking that the car would be very expensive
to keep in repair and, besides, it could only be used a small part
of the year because of the mud}
In western Oregon the winters are so wét and so warm that the
roads rarely freeze and consequently become practically bottomless
unless they are rocked or pavede While a team of horses and a buggy
formerly were the ordinary means of transportation until autumn rains
began, soon after the rainy season started the roads would be in such
condition that one had best travel on a saddle horse, Even then one
would often find it necessary to ride along the side of the road
because the mud was so deep that even a saddle horse would find the
going very difficult, | ?
Many times I have ridden for hours in the night, when the rain |
was falling steadily. On such occasions my hat frequently has been
brushed off by branches of trees that + couldn't see in the darkness,
and at least twice I remember that my glasses went along with my hat,
but were recovered by the use of a flashlight,
In 1913, when I was associated with Doctor Hewett, he purchased
a Ford touring car and let me use it a portion of the time, At
that time I noticed that during the surmer some of the young fellows

seemed to et over the country fast and echonomically with a motorcycle.
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I asked Doctor Hewett what he thought of the idea of our purchasing
a motorcycle and his reply, while blunt, was certainly to the point.
"It might be all right," he said, "but I think that one of those
things would jolt your guts right down into your pants pockets "
It was in Azril, 1914, when we purchased our first car, a used
1910 Ford sedan which has been described. Thls car we took to Glendale —
with use. Snortly after we located there I found that I needed an
ambylance very bad, as the loggers were frequently seriously hurt
when working in the woods,
The expense of purchasing an ambulence was prohibitive, so 1
bought an ordinary army stretchers The top of our car could be
let down and the stretcher placed across the backs of the two seats, i
end in this way the patients could be transported to the hospitale i
The roads were so winding that I needed a better alarm than the |
0ld sutomobile horns which were in vogue at that time, soO I purchased
a siren somewhat like those used by amublances and police cars nowe.
In spite of this, I was often delayed unnecessarily on the road when
an emergency existed. There was no physician's insignia to put on
cars, such as we have today, so 1 bainted a red cross on a white
background on the lower right corner of my windshield. This would
look rediculous now, but it certainly did clear the way for me at
that time.
In 1915, the idea of purchasing a motorcycle again appealed to
me, TFrom a friend I bought a used Indian motorcyclee. Only'a few
months were needed to dampen.my enthusiasm for its use.
with it I certainly could get from place to place quickly and
echonomically, but usually 1 arrived covered with dust or spattered

with mude This objection should nave fheen sufficient, but there —

were two specific experiences that made me abandon entirely that

ma+thnd of transportatione
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The first of trnese happened whep I was called on a confinement
mid-afternoon in the summer. A basket had been attached to the
handle bars, into which I placed my obstetrical bag and started on
my calle The weather was so hot that I had my coat of f and my
sleeves rolled upe

About two blocks from our hospital, suddenly an enormous dog that
I had never seen before, charged at me and sprang with a tremendous
leap. I was knocked flat on the roade.

The only injury I had was along both forearms, where the skin
was peeled of f in‘duite large areaso Fortunately, the dog ran
gway as soon as I fell. I managed to get to the drug store and
there the druggist painged both forearms with tincture of iodine,
and spplied dressings, while I said uncomplementary things about the
doge Did that iodine burnl

Some bottles in my obstetrical bag were broken but the motore
cycle wasn't injured.

When I reported the accident to the police I was told that this
dog had attacked and bitten.several people, but that those injured
hadn't wished to do anything about it because of the unpleasantness
it would cause€e.

The dog belonged to Mr. Bennett, who lived several blocks
from our hospitale when I went to see him and related my experience,
he seemed to think that it was & great joke, and laughed heartily.
His attitude made me 8O &Ngry that I said, "Mr. Bennett, the police
tell me that your dog has attacked several people and should be
killed. I'1l give you ten days to get rid of 1it. If it &s in town
after that length of time, I'11l shoot it, and I have told the police
thet I wille They approve of the 1dea."

"If you do that, you'll have one nhot lawsuit on your hands

right now,"
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"You might as well hire your attorney now and get ready for the
lawsuit 1f you intend to keep the dog more than ten days, for I'11
certainly shoot 1ti"

I doubt very much whether, after my anger was past, I would
have carried out the threat. At any rate, a few days later the
dog disappeared and that was the end of the mattere

My final experience with the motorcycle, while more dangerous,
was not as disagreeable, It happened when I was golng to Wolf
Creek on a call, and was passing over the old, steep Wolf Creek
mountain,

The road was a narrow dugway, cut out of the side of the
mountaine I had passed over the summit end was riding at a very
moderate speed down the steepest portion of the road, when the front
wheel dropped into a deep rut. Automatically, I twisted hard on
the hand grip which controlled the gasoline, in en effort to stop.
The grip broke and my hend was released so gquickly that, with the
rubber grip still in my fingers, I was thrown off balance and suddenly
the cycle and I pitched over the side of the road into the canyone

It 1s wonderful how fast the mind works under such conditions}
I turned completely over while in the air, and had a vivid view of
the canyon while my feet were up and my head down, and I was flying
through the air touching nothingl

That view is still as plain in my memory as though the fall
had been yesterdayl

The thought flashed through my mind, "wWill I‘land on a rock or
across & log, and will the motorcycle land on me?"

Agalin autometically, I spresd my arms and legs out, and thfough
sheer good lock I found myself sliding, face down and head up hill,in

loose shale rock. In this position I slid along with the shale
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for fifteen or twenty feete

While I was still sliding I looked up, expecting to see the
cycle tumbling after me. It was a great relief to see it caught
in the 1limbs of a fir tree & short distance below the rosd.

After the shale and I stopped sliding,l picked myself up and
looked for sore spots. None were found excepting a very few super-
ficiel scratches on my hands and some small holes in my clothing.
My medicine case, which had fallen free of the motorcycle, I picked
up end walked the remaeinder of the distance to Wolf Creek and made
my call,

Shortly after this I disposed of the cycle. But I will never
forget the wildness with which one of these vehicles responds, the
suddenness with which 1t lunges forward when one feeds it gas. It
is this which mekes it very attractive to one who is young and

vigorous,.

It is regrettable that wrnen a young physician enters the practice
of medicine, or when any physician, old or young, moves to & community
in which he has not been known, many of his first patients are
indivicduals that are undesirsable. Among them are people wno
never pasy their debts even though they are able to do so, people ﬁho
are narcotic addicts and come begging for some narcotic drug, and
women who have become pregnant and wish to be abortede

If a doctor is ethicael and honest, the time soon arrives when
a much smaller percentage of those who enter his office come to ask
for any dishonorsble or unethical treastment. But always there is
an occasional person who wants narcotscs or wishes to be aborted.
Examples of experiences with narcotic addicts will be told in another

portion of this narrative,
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The women who wish to be aborted frequently tell the physiciean
. such pleusible tales that in his early practice he 1s often sorely
tempted to help them ocut, although he knows it is morally and legally
wronge

For instance, a hard working women who has so large a family
that she and her husband are unable to support it decently or to give
the ohildren many of the advantages that children should have, will
come &and say;

"Doctor, I did everything I know how to avoid becoming pregnant,
but here I am caught again. We just can't possibly decently support
the family we have. It wouldn't be fair to our children, to bring
another child into the world. I am only a few weeks along, so you
can easily stop 1t. We will never tell anyone, and will take all
the responsibility. Won't you help us out just this once?"

. Or a mother brings in a daughter who has entered college a short
time before they came to the physician's office, and the story is;

"Jennie has always been a decent girl and has never run around
with undesirable boys. She has fallen in love with a fine young man
and wants to marry him. But he doesn't want to be married until he
finishés his educatione If she goes on with this pregnancy, her
whole life will be ruined. Can't you help us, just this time?"

Or a girl comes in and says;

"My parents are very stricte I love them both and would rather
die than disgrace thems I can't understand how I was foolish enough
to get into trouble = possibly it was because I had taken a cocktail
or two more than I should at the party before he took me home, If
I go on, it will neesrly kill my perents and will ruin my life. Can't

Q you put aside your rules just this once and help me out?"
Or: "Here I am again, pregnante It is no one's business but

mines I don't want to marry the men and he dontt want mes I have
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the money to pay for what I want, and after all, thatts what you are
working for, I'11 sign any sort of a statement you want me to,
which will clear you if it is every found out. low about 1t, and
what will you charge?"

All these stories and many others I have heard. So many
abortions are done by unethical physiciens, that when a woman becomes
desperate and does some foolish thing in an effort to abort herself,
then gets into trouble and has to be curetted because she has caused
a dangerous hemorrhage, the doctor who cleans up the case is often
suspected of being an abortionist although he is innocent of doing
any wronge

It is for that reason that, for the past few years, the ethical
physician insists on calling consultation before doing a curettage,
even if the uterus is curetted for some reason that is in no way
aséociated with pregnancye. By calling this consultation, the
physiclan better protects both himself and his patients

If such a procedure on the part of the ethical physician was in
vogue when we lived at Glendale, from 1914 to 1921, I had never heard
of it. Moreover, as has been stated before, we were so far from
other physicians that if a woman suffered a severe hemorrhage end I
walted for consultation, she could be past all help before consustate-

ion was possible,

Late one summer morning & woman, accompanied by her husband,
entered our hospital. She told us that she hsd no children, but

that she was very eager to become the parent of one or more children,

She had become pregnant and was very happy about the matter until,when

she had been pregnant about three months, for no reason that she knew

she began to have severe backaches. This gradually became worse

until a mass of material hgd been expelled from the uterus, and she

=



1682

supposed it was the product of the three months pregnancye. Her
husband confirmed all that she said and I believe that she was telling
the truth.

She was flowing very heavily, and had lost so much blood that
she was pale and weak and her pulse had become abnormally rapid,

Immediately after an examination, I took her into the surgerye
Ether was given and the uterus was curetted. Aside from blood clots,
some small pieces of placenta were all that was found. The excessive
flow stopre d immediately,

When the effects of the ether had nearly worn of f, she seemed to
be unable to talk, At first I thought that the trouble was just
hysteria, but when I asked questions, she persisted in making vocal
sounds that formed no words.

I got a pencil and attempted to place it in her right hénd,
but found that the hand and arm were limp and useless. Further
examination showed that her right leg, thigh and foot were in the
same condition,

This was my first experience with & blood clot which, as a
result of surgery, had caused paralysis by getting into the blood
stream and lodging in the brain,

Wife and I were terribly alarmed, but quickly decided that the
only thing to do was to have a conference with the husband end frankly
explain exactly what had happened, Fortunately for us, when we told
him that this was a thing that could happen in any surgical case, he
was very ressonable,

We frankly asdmitted that no one could tell what the outcome
would be, but that in case the patient recovered, the recovery would

be very slow,

Tnis patient did survive and very gradually improved. A year
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later she walked with only a very slight limp. The right hand and
arm seemed to be quite normal again; but her voice never had quite
the same tone that it formerly did although she could talk readily.
Some years later I had a second experience with paralysis caused
by & blood clot during surgerye This time it was after a simple
hernia operation, at the Dallas Hospital, Dallas, Uregon. Again the

paetient and I were both fortunate in the fact that the patient very

gradually recovered.

One summer evening after office hours, I was -just finishing
pla;ing a set of tennis when an excited voice called over the telephonej;

"Doctor, please come quick, A child is choking to deathi"

I managed to get the information that the child was on a farm
near Canyonville, more than twenty miles from Glendale,

The speaker added, "Hurry, Doctor. It surely is an emergency §"
And the phone was dead.

Many messages come to every doctor with the statemet tnat an
emergency exists and often he finds later that such was not the case.
However, any physician would much rather hurry unnecessarily many
times than to 101tei once and afterward regret it.

Recklessly I drove over the rough mountein road, and when I
reached the farm house, I found a four year old boy who was resting
quietly excepting that nis respiration was irregular and noisy.

Before the parents could give me a history of the case, the child
begaen to cough so violently and so continuously that he became blue
and L feared that he would die Pefore anything cquld be done for him,
But suddenly he seemed sble to get some air again and, exhsusted,

stopped ctoughinge
The parents then told me that he had been perfectly well until
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the evening meal. At that time the child had been eating sweet
corn and his mouth was full of i1t when something was said that
caused him to laugh heartily. He inhaled quickly and violently
and drew some of the corn down into his trachea and lungs,

Immediately a doctor from Roseburg was called, who examined
the child. The parents maintained that this doctor had regarded
the case as hopeless, and had returned to his home without rendering
any treatment. That statement is hard to believe . It would
seem to me much more likely that there had been some sort of disagree-
ment between the parents and the physician,

How much corn, I wondered, had been drawn into the respirastory
system of the patient, and how far? It seemed to me that there
might be a reasonable chance of the child recovering if we could
get him to & hospital, under constant supervision,

So I loaded him, together with his mother, into my car and
started back to our hospital,

Along the way he had several more severe baroxysms of coughing
and by the time we arrived at our destination, I was inclined to
agree with the prognosis thsat the parents had told me the Roseburg
doctor had given. These paroxysms of coughing brought up no
corn, and each attack would be so severe and would last so long
that I feared that the child would surely die,

When we arrived at the hospital, the boy's condition wss so
poor that I decided that an immediate tracheotomy was the only
treatment that could possibly keep him aliwe,

He was taken to the surgery immediately. But before we could
get anything serilized, he coughed again,- this time until he lost

consciousnesse. His condition became so bad that I dashed some

iodine onto the anterior surface of his neck, dipped a scalpel in
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alcohol and, without the use of any anesthetic, cut into the trachea
just below the thyroid gland.

After two or three grains of corn had been removed, the blunt
end of a large rubber cathether was cut off, making it a very small
rubber tube with both ends open. This tube was pushed a short
distance into the traches and fastened in place with adhesive tape,

The patient then seemed to begin to breath easily, although
with each breath one could hesr the rush of air as'it traveled thrugh
the tube, in and out of the lungs,

‘Our patient soon regained consciousness and was taken to bed.
But there he rested quietly only for a very short time, Soon he
went into another terrific paroxysm of coughing. To relieve
this, the tube had to be pulled out of the trachea and it was found
that more corn had lodged against the end of it, because the kernels
were so large that they couldn't pass through it.

It was certain that the patient couldn!t recover with the tube
pleced as we had arranged i1t. Our only choice was to keep open
so large an incision in the trachea that the corn could pass out
readily when the little fellow coughed., In order to do this,
the opening was enlarged and each side of the cut was stitched to
the skin, in this way holding our incision wide open,

Many times during the next two days it seemed to us that the
child couldn't liveo £n unbelievesble amount of corn weas
coughed up and each time the patient coughed, one would hear the air
rushing in and out through the opening we had made, making a noise
almost like a small steam whistle. For a week we thought that
pneumonia surely would develop as the result of the intense irritation
that his terrific caughing caused, and it 1s a mystery why it

didntt.
After the week hed passed, at last it seemed that the cough hed
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stopped permaemently, and the stethoscope no longer picked up any
faulty chest sounds. The stitches which held the trachea open
were cut and it dropped back into place without being sewed together.

The repair was completed by a few stitches which were put into the

) skine

The eighth day, the patient seemed normal and was sent home.
Some time later I received a letter from the father which said that
the lad seemed to be in perfectly normal health. A check was
enclosed. No doubt the recovery was complete, as nothing more

was heard regarding the case.

Many things experienced by the wife and I in our work, have
been neither tragic, nerve racking nor particularly serious. A

certsain number of them have been even ludicrous. Naturally this

haed to be true, as we have had to deal with all types of peoplee.
One of the most striking cases of the latter type was tnat of §
Mrse. Goldene. Her case was sometimes rsther irritating and bother=- |
some, but as I look back at the experiences I had when we cared for
this women, to me many of them have a very humerous aspecte I
really would have missed quite a study in psychology had I not

cared for hers.

Her husband was a genial, middle aged fellowe. He had a general

store which was somewhat like the old country stores we frequently
resd about but which it seems, seldom exist now.

To one going into his place of business, thing would appear t&-‘l
be in utter confusion; a chunk of sausage might be on the counter
close to a pair of shoes; the shoes could be found nestling against

a bolt of dress goods, while the dress goods would possibly be in

close proximity to a partly sold, large, circular cheese.
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In spite of the seeming confusion, if a customer asked for any
article in the store, be it hardware, dry goods or groceries, Mre.
Golden had the uncanny talent of pu%ing his hands on it almost
immediatelye.

He was quite a character himself. To illustrate;

A few years before we went to Glendale, there had been a
physiéian in our village who, when he left town, owed bills at
prectically every storee

"How much did Doctor Nearer sting you, Will?"I asked Mr.Golden
one daye

"Not a penny."

"Sow d1d you menage to come out even with him?  You seem to
be the only person that did."

"well Doctor," he told me, ™"you know Doctor Nearer was a great
fellow to put on a big front, He would often get a group of men
around him and then proceed to spread the bull pretty thick,

"When he would get a fair sized bill with me, I would wait until
he was blowing off before a bunch of men, and then I would walk up
to him and say, loud enough for everyone to hear, 'Doc, when are you
going to pay me that seventy dollars you owe me? I need the money
end I'm getting tired of dunning you for it.!

"That would always break him down so he would pay me within
a day or two."

Shortly before we moved into Glendale, the first Mrs. Golden
had died following a confinement which had Seen supervised by a
socalled midwife. This left the husband with several small child-
ren and he found it necessary to hire a woman to take over the care
of his household. This woman was nearly six feet tall and I would

judge that she would weigh nearly two hundred pounds. She was good

to the children, and in spite of the fact that she had an ungovern-
able temper, they liked hers
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After she had worked for Will for a time, she doubtless thought
that she should have a permanent home with the family, At any rate,
in 1915 she came to my office and told me that she was pregnant and
wanted an examination to confirm it. She said that she was busy
making baby clothing during her spare time and that she wanted to
be marrieds

I gave her a check over and told her than I couldn't give her
a positive diagnosis of pregnancy, <« that I could find nothing
that would justify such a positive diagnosis, Immediately she
flew into a rage and plainly told me that I was a "rotten doctor,
just another quack, and didn't know anything," and left my office.

A few days later dartha and I went to the 1915 VWorlds Fair at
San Francisco and were gone two weeks, Shortly after our return,

a friend said to me, "Have you heard, Doctor, how Will got hooked
while you were away?" _

"what do you mean 'got hooked!? What happened to Will?"

"A day or two after you started on your vacation, the woman who
works at ‘his home told him that she was pregnant, She said that
she had wanted to be sure about it before she told him, so she went
to you for an examination and you told her that she was in a family
way and that she and Will ought to get married right away."

"Now, isn't that sometning?" I said.

"She did come to me for an examination and L told her that as
far as 4 could tell, she wasn't pregnant. She was unreasonably
peaved and left my office in a rage after she had. called me a lot
of uncomplimentary names."

"Anyway, Will merried her. She sure is Mrs. Golden now}"

As far as I know, she never did have a child and I knew her

for more than five years after that time. But she did have a home.
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From that time until we left Glendale, she would have an
occasional burst of temper that was tremendous,

For instance, one night about 2 A.M., I was called to see her,

1 found her seated in a rocking chair. A bathrobe had been pulled
over her gown and she rocked violently,.and chewed as though she were
masticating a mouthful of tobacco. But as far as we could see, she
had nothing in her mouth.

When she saw me, she thrust out a bare leg and I saw, all along
the front of it, brulses that could have been caused by a severe
beating, The other leg had the same appearance,

"Well, Doc," she cried, "tell me, if you can, what did that."

Will was standing directly behind her, grinning from ear to ears

I thought for a minute, then said, "I wonder if it could possibly
be that you have purposely battered your legs against something when
angry and that now you are looking for sympathy?"

Will immediately nodded his head in confirmation while she
yelled, "I think you don't, know a dammed thing about it., Get to
hell out of here, as fast as you cani"

"0. K., I'1l be on my way, Will," I said. "This call I'1l put
on the books and you can pay for it whenever you find it convenient.
I'm sorry that I have to charge you for a call that was unnecessaryl"

When I left, lrs. Golden was still yelling things at me that
shouldnt!t be printed,

Some two months later I was called to the same home again,
this time by the police, It was requested trat I come immediately.
Again, it was about 2 A.M. when I received the call,

This time I found the patient dressed the same as before,

seated in the same chair, and around her were seated four or five

men, Will included,
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"wi1l called me about eight otclock this evening," the police
said, "and reported that his wife was trying to commit suicide.

She told him that she would throw~herself in front of the first
train that came along. I found that she moved around tbo fast for
me, so I called the rest of the fellows to help me watch her and
keep her gway from the railroad. We have been following her around
constantly since that time and whenever a train comes through, she
makes a dash for it. Can't you give her something that will quiet
her down? e are getting mighty tired of 1it."

I opened my medicine case, pulled out a hypodermic syfinge and
got ready to give her a dose of morphine large enough to make her
sleep for a few hours,

"I won't take that devilish stuff and you cant make me take 1t,"
she yelled as soon as she saw what I was doing, énd went on raving
furiouslye.

"A11 right," I told her. "I'1l put things away".

Then I turned to the police and said, "Why don't you fellows
let her go? She is too much of a coward to let a train hit her.
| bqlieve she is putting on a wild act because she is peeved about
something."

With this, she became more wild than ever and more abusive.

I was so disgusted that, between her outbursts, I added, "I
just cant't help but wonder how much of & loss it would be 1if she
succeeded in doing what she says she will."

Immediately after I made this statement, she became very
quiet, and I left without giving her any medication or any further
attention, The men followed me out and I suggested that one of
them wateh the door, for I could be wrong and we would all regret

1t 1f she did jump in front of a train. But I suggested that

whoever did the watching should be careful not to let her see him.
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The next day Will told me that she called me many more things
after I left, then quietly got up and went to bede

In the winter of 1918, there was a heavy fall of snow at Glendale,
which tore down much of the local electric line and left the town
without light or power. The power company immediately sent a group
of men to repair the damage. When the days work was over, many of
these men frequently dropped in at a confectionary and ﬁool hall
called "The Smoke House" which faced the railroad., Across the
track from the Smoke House, a little more than a block from it, the
back of the Golden home and store could be seen.

One evening shortly before dark, the men who were repairing
the electric line stopped at the Smoke House as they came from
their work. One of them happened to look across the track and there
he saw a woman in the back yerd of the Golden home, who was rolling
in the snow and kicking. He also saw in the door of the home, a
man standing and watching the woman but seemingly making no effort
to help here

"What's going on over there?" the lineman asked the clerk.

"Oh, think nothing of it,"the clerk said with a shrug. "It's
just the old lady having another of her fits of temper"

*But,' the man said, "It isn't right to leave her out there
rolling in the snow. She might get pneumonia,"

After several of the men talked things over for a minute or
two, three of them went over to see what they could do to help.

"Ts that your wife?" one of them asked Will, who was still
standing in the door.

"yes, 1t is."

"Why don't you take her in the house?"

"she won't let me."

"what!s the matter with her?"
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"Shets crazyl"

"Shall we take her in for you?"

"Sure, if you want to."

So they picked her up and started for the door. Immediately she
seized the arm of one of the men and bit it severely. He yelled
and they dropped her,

" one of the men said, "this is your affair after all"

"I guess,

Then they returned to the 8moke House and shortly afterward
they saw her get up and walk into the house unaided,

Many more instances of such bursts of temper by this woman could
be relatede Fery frequently I was called to see ner, but I have
no remembrance of ever finding her really ill. And usually when I
met her, she was very pleasant and agreeable,

Four or five years after we left Glendale, we were told that
she "took off without warning," with some drifter who came through
town, gand was never seen there again, But during all the time that
she lived in the Golden home, she was good to the children, took
good care of them, and they were very much disturbed when she
disappearede

These experiences with Mrs, Golden bring to mind the conduct
of a very different sort of woman who came to me as & patient at
Glendale,

This woman lived at the sawmill camp of Reuben, & few miles
from Glendale, where George Jennings asked me if dropsy was catching,
The camp included quite & group of houses in which the workers and
their families livedes

This patient came to my office three or four times for trivial
ailments, such ss a cold or sore throat. She was smalle ILikely

she weighed a little over a hundred pounds. Her hair was black and
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her eyes were dark brown and snappye She was extremely neat and
always well dressed, and appeared to be very intelligente.

With her husband, or sometimes without him, she came several
timese The husband was a fine looking, well dressed chap and had
a very pleasing personality.

One summer day, toward the close of office hours, this woman
came to my office alone. She told me that she had been suffering
from a severe headache, but that it was improving. Further, she
said that her husband had decided to quit his work at the mill at
Reuben, and that he had been offered employment in Alaska and had
gone there to look over the situatiom.

When the time came to close my office, the office girl left
but the woman remained and talked on and on. She became so familiar
with her talk and actions that I became suspicious of her and told
her that I had a call to make and would have to leavee

Even after I had excused myself, I had to get my hat and get
out of the office and wait for her to come out before I could close
the door. But at last she lefte.

Two or three days later, on the street I met a worker who lived
at Reuben.

"By the way," I gsked him after we had talked together for
s few minutes, "what do you know about that pretty 1little Mrs,
Jackson who lives in your camp?"

"Shet's all right I guess. What do you want to know about her?"

"I wouldn't want to misjudge anyone and it would be very
obnoxious to me to cast any reflection on the reputation of any
decent womane But somehow 1 wondered whether or not she is entirely
straight."

"we1l," he said, "We call her the tt.ousand dollar kid! out

at camp. We can't prove 1t, but there is a persistent report in
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camp that she hung around one of the men who onlyis at home week
ends, gnd that she told him that her husband was in Alaska. A
night or two after she had told him this, the husband walked in

and found them in bed together. She and her husband are said to

have told the man that they would hush the matter up for a tuousand
dollars, end rather than have his home broken up, the man dug up
the money."

"Have you seen her husband lately?"

"sure. I see him every day."

"Has he been away recently?"

"Not for several weeks."

"Well, just keep your mouth shut,"” I told him. "I don't want 1
to stir up any trouble, but she told me the same story about her |
husband being in Alaska thevlast time she was in my office, and I
was & 1little suspicious of her."

That evening I told Martha about the affair.

It was not more than two days jater that I met her husband
on the streeto

Three or four weeks after this, when Wife was reading the
Orgonian, she looked up end remarked, "Your little friend made
the headlines."

"Whet 1ittle friend?"

She then read ean article which stated that M¥r. & Mrs. Jackson,
who had the same initials as my "epiends" claimed, had been arrested

for blackmail.

Sne and her companion were in Seattle, the article said, and
again they hed tried tne same old story about the husband belng
in Alaska. The party they had attempted to trap had become

suspicious and 1in some W&y he had planned things SO that they were
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investigated by the authorities.

" as the

It had been proven that they "pulled tne same stunt,
paper put it, in various places and that her companion was not
even her husband, but that they traveled together and divided the

money they made on a fifty-fifty basis.

Jim Hayes was & good policeman for & small town. He tended
strictly to business and seemed to be very competents

It is true that he had been a hard drinker several years before
he became a police at Glendale, But he had stopped using liéuor
excepting once every yesr or soO. At those times he would brezk
over and drink so excessively for a few days that he would end up
with a case of delerium tremens. During the entire period between
these spells, he was capable and dependable.

It was during the summer of 1919 that I last had him as a
patient. The report at thaﬁ time was that he had been consuming
lerge amounts of lemon extract and "canned heat" and various other
things that:intoxicated individuals then consumed when they ran out
of locally distilled liquore. When he came to me, I took him to
our hospital as usual and did my best to get him back to normalcy
as rapdily as possible.

Three or four days later he seemed to be his usual, reasonable
self and was eager to get back on the jobe.

Shortly before noon he was dismissed from the hospital. When
he left, he said that he would go down to a local restaurant and
get a good meal, then go on duty.

He went directly to the restaurant, sat down at tiie counter
and ordered a meal, While waiting for it, he chetted with a friend

who sat next to him, and this friend efterward said that Jim seemed
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to be feeling fine. He acted and talked as he usually did.

A car pulled up and stopped in front of the restaurant. As
it stopped, Jim turned to his friend and said, “Here they come
now, af ter me. I've got to get out of here."

Without another word, he left the place so rapidly that he
neglected to pick up his hat. He walked across the railroad
tracks and went on to Cow Creek. Seemingly without hesitation,
he waded through the stream and went into the forest which was
not far beyond the creek, and disappeared.

When it became known that he was gone, a party went to hunt
for hime They found that after he got into the woods, he removed
parts of his clothing and left them along the way, until he must
have been practically nakede.

His brother, Elmer Layes, who also lived at Glendale, had
some hounds brought in from one of the neighboring towns, but
& out the time they started on Jim's trail, it began to rain and
soon the trail was lost.

That was the last that was ever seen of Jim, No trace of him
ever was founde. I have never known of another cese in which
liquor so effected an individual that, several days after its use
had been discontinued, he became as deranged as did Jom.

was 1t caused by the liguor, tre lemon extract, the "canned

heat," or what?

The telephone called just at dusk one evening in September,
"7 am using the forestry telephone at the mouth of MNule Creek,"
the speaker saide "Young Mr. Billings has had a bad fall and

has either dislocated or fractured his right shoulder. Can you

come out right away?"
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The Billings lived in a large nouse at the junction of lule
Creek and the Rogue fiver. To get there I had to go by rail the
fourteen miles to West Fork, where I could obtain a saddle horse and
travel twenty-five miles over a rough mountain trail.

At that time I had been working unusually hard and had lost
considerable sleep, so was ver& tired when this call came. Reluctent-
1y I put into my emergency bag a can of ether, some bandages and
other things which I might need, and went to the depot. There I
found that a light engine was going from Glendale through West Fork
in a few minuteses

After I had climbed into the caeb, I found a seat back of the
engineer and rode to West Fork. On the horse that I hired there,

I followed the trail all night. So many hours on this trall were
necessary because of its exéreme roughness and steepness, The
horse was able to travel only three or four miles an hour,

The sun was just coming up when I arrived at the Billings home.

The patient was found to be generally bruised and battered, but
he had no serious injury except a downward dislocation of the right
shoulder., He had fallen over a low cliff and had landed on a steep
"slope in loose shale rock, With the shale, he had slid a consider-
able distance and had been battered and bruised and was nearly
covered by the loose rock by the time he reached the bottom of the
slopee.

I found that he was so very muscular that I was unable to
reduce the dislocation until I had given him enough ether to relax
his musclese When the ether caused him to loose consciousness, he
relaxed completely and things slipped into place fairly easilye.

After the shoulder had been cared for, I was told to come to
the dining room where a good breakfast of ham, coffee, eggs and hot

cakes was waitinge
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As 1 sat down at the table, the thought of food nauseated me.,
When I tried to eat, the taste of the food only caused me to gag
and strain. The people were much concerned until I told them
that on several other occasions, when I was exceedingly tired, I had
experienced the same sort of illness, and that all that was needed
to cure it was a few hours of rest. Immediately they took me
to a good bed and soon I was sleeping.

When I woke, about two hours later, I felt much better and
returned to the dining room. One of the men came and asked me 4if
I didn't think that a good, cold bottle of beer would pep me up
a little. I told him that it was a little early in the day for
it, but I believed I would try it. He disappeared for a moment, then |
brought me a bottle that was wet and really cool.

When I asked him how it was kept so cool, he told me that the
beer had been brewed at home and that several bottles, with a
string attached to each bottle, were let down into a deep well,
When a bottle was wanted they oﬂly had to pull up one string, and
there was the beer, just right for consumption,

"Besides,"™ he said, "If some prohibition officer would become
inquisitive and would go to iooking over the place, he would never
find the bottles in the welll"

Ordinarily I don't care much for beer, but that bottle tasted
wonderfully good. And immediately a fine breakfast followed.

After I had eaten heartily, I started back to West Fork, where
1 arrived late in the afternoon. There was no train to Glendale
for two or three hours, so I ate my evening meal at the little
boarding house, and afterward caught a freight train which arrived
at Glendale at late twilighte

At the Glendale station I was met by an elderly man, lr,McGee,
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who told me that a deer hunter had been shot through the right

shoulder and needed help. The wounded man had been carried out

of the forest, to the place where the road ended at the nesad of.Cow
Creek, thirty-four miles from Glendale. Mp, McGee said that the
man's condition was such that they had been afraid to move him further,
and asked me to go and see him where they had made camp.

The road alopg Cow Creek was hilly, narrow and rough. I told
Mr. McGee that if he would drive my car I would go and see the injured
man immediately, but that I was so tired that if I drove, I was afraid
I would fall asleep while driving,. He ssid that he didn't know how
to drive a car, so I consented to do the driving if he would sit
beside me and would do something to keep me awake if I seemed to
be going to sleep.

Several times during the trip my passenger nudged me and said,

"I don't think you are asleep, Doctor. But would you mind driving
a little further from the edge of the road?"

When we arrived at the camp, I found the patient resting on the
ground, between two robes which had been taken from cars. He was
in much pain and very weak from loss of blood, but the hemorrhage -
had stopped. '>The bullet had gone entirely through his right
shoulder, a very little below the collar bone and had barely missed
the sub=clavian artery. This artery is of such size that had it
been torn or punctured, the patient would have bled to death in a
short time,

The road was so rough and the condition of tne patient so poor
that I thought it best to relieve his pain with a hypodermic of
morphine and let him rest gquietly until morning. Likely by that
time he would have recovered somewhat from shock. So I cleaned and

dressed the wound as well as I could, directed him to drink lots o f

water, tren rolled myself up in a blanket that I carried as a robe.



Almost immediately I was asleep,

!.’ Only once during the night did I awaken. This was when

- Mr. Springer, on whom we had done a mastoldectomy some months
earlier, covered me with an extra blanket and tucked it around me.

In the morning the patient seemed to have grown stronger and
was able to take a littile broth made from venison, cooked over the
camp fire,

The men told me that the patient, with two other hunters, all
clad in red shirts and red hunters! caps, had made a drive and then
had sat down on a large log in a 1ittie canyon, to rest, Another
hunter, not one of their party, came over & ridge above them and
in spite of the garb that the hunters wore, he immediately shot
when he saw something move,

The man who did the shooting was an old woédsman, used to

.~ 'the mouﬁtains. When he saw what he had done, he came to the
wounded man immediately, thréw down his gun and said that he would
never hunt again, But only a few months afterward the rumor reached
me that he had so far changed his mind that the petient had to bring
the matter into court before he could collect any deamage for the
eéxpense the injury cost him and for the time lost,

| We laid the wounded hunter in the back seat of my c&r and

brought him to our hospital. He slowly improved ang ultimately made
& good recovery and was dismissed from tre hospital in about a monthe,

Shortly before he left, Wife said to me,"George, I-wish you
would do your hunting out of season}"

"“Whet's the big idea? Do you want to get me in bad with

he police?™
"I'd rather have you risk tre police than the woods full of

fools! You know that every year, during the hunting season, you
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bring in someone tnat has been shot, or you call the coroner.

The result was that I was persuaded to stop hunting deer,
Instead, 1 equipped myself thoroughly for fly fishing for trout
and steelhead. Never have I regretted it.

Still, there seems to be some danger whatever one does. Shortly
after the injured hunter was dismissed from the hospital, a man was
brought to me who had been slightly injured by a hunter. He was
wearing an o0ld black suit.

This man told me that he had been fishing along Cow Creek when
suddenly a bullet pierced his arm and he heard the report of 2 shote
Quickly he threw himself down behind an o0ld log.

"Come on, fellows," a hunter cried as he fired a second shot,
"Itve got & black beari"

A cry from the fisherman stopped the shooting. Fortunately,
the second bullet missed the victim entirely.

The same autumn another man was brought in with his right side
plastered with shot. He said that he was a Southern Pacific
section worker and that he had been shot during the noon hour while
he was not workinge. When he was eating his lunch,he had seated
himself on a dirt bank by the side of the railroad. Suddenly,.from
a short distance away, a boy hunter shot him with a shot gun.

The boy declared that he thought the man was a bear, Fortunate=-
ly the distance was such that none of the shot penetrated very
deeply.

It seems incredible, even in the face of such evidence, that
even an inexperienced boy would be foolish enough to shoot at a

bear with a shot gunl

In order that one might better understand the experiences which
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happened in tre fogue niver district, it 1s necessary that a brief
description of the few trails which penetrated this region, be given,

As has frequently been said, t:is country is extremely rough
and mountainous, Or, as one of its inhabitants said, "It is mostly
on edge". heavy forests exist everywhere and the few brush
ranches that at that time were in the region, were many miles apart.
Mo roads penetrated that portion of the country and no boats were
then used on the wild and treacherous Rogue River, so that the only
way to reach these widely scattered ranches was by trail.

Even at that time, a road did extend from Grants Pass, down
the river twenty-five miles, toward the coast., Here this road
ended and the Rogge'River Trail began. Tnis trail followed the
river through many miles of a long, deep gorge, sometimes hundreds
of feet above the river, again down close to the bank of the stream.

The HRogue River Trail was said to be ninety miles long, and
passed three remote inland postoffices, none of which could be
reached at that time otherwise than by trail. Thirty miles down
from the end of the Grants Pass road, was the karial post office.
eny miles further down the river were Illahee and Agnes. At the
coast, where the Rogue fiver empfies into the Pacific Ycean, on the
coast highway, is the ﬁown of Uold Besach.

Let us return for a moment to West Fork, which has been
described before. One who wished to travel to th¢ coast cculd
start by trail from tals railway station, taking the only trail
that extended west, \

1wo and a half miles wést of West Fork, tnis traill divided.

The right fork followed qloné West fork Creek, past the beaﬁtiful
De\/arney.home where 1 had found the wounded prospector, then on
through Eden Valley and fiﬁally arrived at tne logging town of

Powers. At Powers the trail connected wiﬁh a primitive, steep and

s
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rugged road that extended on to the racific Coast, reaching 1t at
Coos Bay.

If one turned to the left where the trail divided, two and a
half miles from VWest Fork, one could cross West Fork Creek on a log
bridge and immediately he would begia to climb a long and fairly
steep slope. At Nine lille Spring, he would reach a large table land
and would follow along this for some miles. Then, by going ahead on
the mein traveled route, he would ultimately have to descend steeply
for about twenty-five hundred feet,and would come to the regular Rogue
River trail at the mouth of Mule Creek, near Marial post office.

Just before the trail started the steep descent that took one to
Marial, a small trail took off to the left, and after 1t has passed
close to the cabin of one of the pioneer characters of this country,
Hethaway Jones, it also deécended and joined the Rogue River trail
a few miles up the river from Marial.

In order to reach the Rogue River by either of these routs, one
traveled twenty-five miles from West Fork. The cabin of Hathaway
Jones was sixteen or seventeen miles from the last human habitation
on this route.

In his remote cabin, Jones dwelt with his wife, a young daughter
and a younger son, far from schools, markets or human beings. The
family lived very simply on their little brush ranch. In order to
earn funds with which to purchase things that couldn't be raised on
the ranch, Jones frequently had to go "outside" and work for a

short time.

He was a slender, tall, wirey man with black hair and dark eyes,
and & hair 1lip that never had been repaired. His speech had the
typical defect that usually is caused by & hair 1ip and cleft palate.

He was known far and wide for the wonderful stories he told at

every opportunity, concerning his adventures with mountain lions,
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wild cats and beare Ile was harmless and reliable, and tiis
reliability covered everything except his wonderful tales. Even
these were harmless, but they were so tremendously overdrawn that no
one who knew the man and the country could possibly believe them,

For instance, he told me how his ten year o0ld daughter and six
year old son were on:the trail one day, some distance from the cabin,
when a cougar began to follow them. The children became terrified
end started to run, and the cougar immediately gave chase, growling
and snarling and showing its wicked white teeth. The daughter
realized that the cougar could soon catch them, so she told the
1little brother to run for the cabin as fast as he could. Then she
pulled an ordinary pocket knife from her pocket, opened it and stood
her ground.

The cougar stopped and watched her until he saw the knife,
then turned and ran into the forest at full speed} wpoth cnildren
arrived at home unharmed,

Hathaway also told of the great richness of the soil on his
place, The only trouble with the ranchn, he said, wes that every
foot of it was steep, fie planted potatoes on one of the slopes
on the mountain éide. When he dug the potatoes, he saved those
from the best hill and was intending to take them to Grants Pass to
show the people there how rich his soil was,

As he dug, he put the potatoes into a bushel basket, and those
from this one hill filled the basket heaping full} Unfortunately,
the basket slipped out of his hands and the potatoes rolled so far
down the mountain that they were lost} e never could find
another hill of potatoes that equaled this one}l

Another character that was well known in this country was
Dutch Hénry.

If the trail were followed past the cabin of Hathaway Jones. on
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down to the river; one could travel anout four miles up the regular
river trail and would then come to the "Dutch Henry Treil." This was
very narrow and somewhat indistinct, and wound back and forth ascross
the face of the mountain, with many switchbacks to gain altitude.
Eventually it arrived at another small table land. Here in this
solitude was the ranch of Dutch Henry,.

This individual was entirely different from Hathaway Jones.

His speech and name indicated thet he was German, and he was never
called by any other name than Dutch Eenry.

He was short, rather stocky, and in spite of his advanced age
he was still a powerful person physically. He was qﬁiet and never
spoke of his past, Possibly it was partly for this reason that a
story had become prevelent that; somewnere in the past he had been
in a fight and had killed someone, after which he had fled into
the wilderness end had settled here and was never found by the
‘authorities.

From the age and appearance of nis orcihard, it is certain that
he had been located at this place many yesars. He had entered his
rahch as a homestead, but had never proved up on it, thus evading
the payment of any tax on the property. The ranch reverted to
the government at the time of his death.

It was reported, and 1 believe rightly, that he once sold
some of his cattle to a Grants Pass butcher, VWen the butcher, with
one or two helpers, all on horses, came after the stock, they turned
it loose and attempted to drive it tnrough tae forest on the open
trail. The stock proved to be &s wild as deer and took off the
trail in every direction, and was soon lost in the foreste.

The butcher asked Dutch fenry if he could get the cattle inteo

the corral again. Upon receiving an affirmative reply, a certain
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day was appointed for his return, When the day arrived, the
cattle were again in captivity, as agreed. lhe butcher came on
schedule, but tiais time he brought with him several pack horses and
a rifle, and proceeded to shoot all the cattle and load them on the
pack horses. Only in tals way was he able to succeed in getting
his beef to Grants Pass,

The first time we saw Dutch Henry, he was brought to our
hospital late one evening by a local merchant, Fred McGregor.

Henry had a badly 1nfected foot and wanted to be admitted to the
hospital for treatment. We gave him a room and he looked so shabby
thet we asked Mr. NcGregor privately whether or not Dutch was in

any way financially responsible.

"I wish I had half the money that that o0ld boy has," was the
replye.

After this patient had received treatment for two weeks, and
had recovered, he left our hospital. Before he left, he told us
that he didn't have a dollar, and that,"Hospitals are for the purpose
of taking care of sick folks, whether they have any money or noti"
And that was the extent of our payment, excepting the consciousness
that we had cured a very bad infection,

That was the only time I saw this individuel axcepting once

when the circumstances were very different.

Juéﬁnat dusk one August evening, a call came over tne forestry
telephone, again from Marial, The wife of UMr, C raven, known as
Red Craven, was having a hemorrhage after she had a miscarriage, and
bedly needed help quick.

1 threw the necessary instruments and some chloroform and ether
into a bag and hurried to the depot. After a few minutes wailt,

I caught a north bound freight train to West Fork, where Tim Rerry

had horses for rent,
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From pest experience I knew that Tim had a mule named Blondy,
that had a good gait, was more sure footed than a horse and was
a fine and trustworthy animsl. I asked Tim for this mule and i
he let me have her.

I bought four miners candles and a five pound lard bucket,
with which to make & trgil 1ight, and with Blondy for traensportation,
started out in the darkness, ‘

The person who called me told me to go through the Hathaway Jones
place and there to ask Hathaway how to get to the Dutch Henry cabin.
There Dutch would direct me on to the Cravens.,

I traveled as fast as the mule could over such a trail, and
about midnight came to the smaller trail which led to the Jones
ranch, After I had followed it for a couple of miles, I came to a
place where, a few hoursibefore, a forest fire had burned across the
trail, In spite of the fact that the active fire had been put out,
the ground was still covered with live coals and the smake was i
still thick.

It wes impossible to go further on this trail, but I could go
back onto the regular treill to Marlial and up the Rogue River trsi, ;and
in this way reach the Dutch Henry trail and ultimately resch my

destinstion, But I had never been on the Dutch Henry trail and

wasn't sure that I could find it without further instructions from
Hathaway. Besides, to go that way would be much further and would
take much longer then it would teke to go as I had intended, if only
I could get around the smoldering portion of this trail. I hested
any delay » for fear that krs., Craven's condition wduld become
hopeless. If, in the darkness, I left the trasil and tried to go around
the burned area, I could easily get lost in the forest,

Suddenly it occurred to me that I must be within a mile of the

Hathaway Jones place and that he had several dogs. I shouted s=s
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heard, faintly in the distance, the andwering bark of the dogs,
With tnils to guide me, I decided to leave tie trail sand make an
effort to work my way around the hot portion of the burn.

After I had left the trail, I would travel for fifteen minuets
or 80, then stop and shout and get my reply from the dogse In this
way I gradually managed to work my way around the smoke and coals,
and finally got back on the trail again, Then I was very close
to the Jones home,

As I neared the cabin, old Hathaway came charging out.

"What the hell do you mean, making the night hidious with your
noise? 1I've heard you yelling for the past hour, and I can't sleepl"

When, in the darkness I told him wno I was and what the situation
was, he lmmediately became quiet and obliging and gave me detailed
information as to how to resasch the Craven place.

"After you reach the regular Rogue Hiver trail,™ ne said,
"travel up the river about four miles, taen take the first trail that
turns off to the left. 1In fact, that!'s tne first trail that you will
see that turns off the Rogue niver trail; This will lead you right
past the cabin of Dutch Henry and Red Craven's raich is a mile or
so further, on thc same trail,"

Through the night I traveled on and at last reached the Rogue
River trall where it was far above the river., About four miles
further, I found tne narrow, indistinct trail waici I had been told
led to the ranch of Dutch henry, As I escended tnis, I had to
switch back and forth over and over, following the trail that had

been dug out of the face of an almost vertical, high cliff,

At last, as dawn was breaking, I came to the top of tne cliff
and found myself on a high table land, where the traveling was much
easier, After another twenty minutes, I wes pounding on Henry's cabin

door, in order to make sure that I was on the right rajy to tne

Creavens .
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Henry invited me in to breakfast, which he said he would get
immedietelys He lived in & suall, one room log cablin where sanitary
conditions were such that I had no desire to eat there, alt..ough I
did appreciaté his kindness and was very hungry. I excused myself
by telling him that Mrs. Craven was very sick and that I should get
there as soon as I could, - which was true.

After + had declined the breakfast, Henry handed me a 1little
ﬁatermelon and asked that I take it to the Cravens with his
complimentse.

I was so ravenously hungry that as soon as I got out of sight
of the cebin, I stopped, cut the melon and gobbled the edible portion
of it, with much relish. .

4 arrived at the Craven cabine. I found

Thirty minutes later
Mrs, Craven white and weak from loss of blood, but still in far from
a hopeless condition, The bleeding had been very slow, but was
still continuing.

Another woman was present. Where she came from or wno she was,

I have no idea. She had water on the stove, boilling, and I soon
had my dilator and curette sterilized,

As in many other instances, here it was necessary to use
chloroform as an anestinetic, as tne fire in the stove was so close
that trne use of ether would have been dangerous,

With the nelp of the woman and kr, Craven, I plsced the patient
crosswise on tihe bed, hod the woman and ir, Craven support her knees,
and put her under the chloroform as deeply as 1 tnought was safe.
Then my hands, which I had already scrubbed, I bathed with alcohol
and sipped them into sterile gloves and hurridly curetted the uterus.

The patient had told me tnat the foetus and placenta had come

away the previous daye. The curette brought away some small pleces

of after-birth which had remained in the uterus, which no doubt
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caused the bleedinge.

After we had made the patient comfortable, the visiting woman
cooked us a good breakfast, which I enjoyed imuensely in spite of
the recent watermelon episode. Examinetion of Mrs. Craven showed
that the bleeding had stopped, but I remained there until about
10 A.M. in order to be sure tinat the patient would have no more
trouble, By that time her condition had improved so much that I
prepared to make my trip back to West Forke

Mr. Craven told me that many years before, even previous to
the time tue regular fogue River Lrail was made, Dutch Henry had
slashed out a little trall across the mountaeins, directly to West
Forke. This trail was much shorter than the way I had come, and passed
not far from his house, No one had traveled it for 2 long time,
but he had no doubt that I could return to West Fork over it and in
this way save several miles of travel and much time, He then
took me a short distance from his cabin and showed me where to start
on my return tripe.

For three or four miles the going was good and the old trail
was easily followed. Then the way began to become less and less
plain where the underbrush had covered it, until I came to a place
where a fire had burned across the mountain a year or more before,
and I simply couldn't see any trail whsastever, However, Blondy, the
mule, didnt't show the least hesitation, but went right along at a
brisk walke even turning sharp corners here and there in the dead
vegitation where I could see no faintest sign of a trail,

Soon I was entirely lost, I didn't know the way either forward
or backward, so decided to give Blondy a free head, in the hope that
she would know her way home,

Many times I have marveled that she could have known her waye



181

But after about five hours of travel, during w.icn she s:.owed no
hesitation at any time, suddenly I was much relieved to see a
railrosed in a deep canyon, so far below that it appeared like & toy
railrosad, Not & building was in sig:te I wondered how we could
ever get down to the railroad, end if we did get there, how I would
be able to get Blondy back to her home at West Fork,

Suddenly the mule started down the side of tne mountain, where
I could see some slignht treaces of tre old trail in some places,

The going was so steep that I had to lean far vack in the saddle,
while the mule switched back and forth across the face of the cliff,
Even here the trail was so obliterated that often I would have had no
idea wihich way to go. And in spite of the fact that this animal
had always proved to be so sure footed, I was much alarmed for fear
she would meke one slight mis-step and we would plunge, together,
hundreds of feet down the face of the cliff,

After we had gone back and forth time after time, always working
our way a little further down, we came to a place where I would look
along the railroad for about a half mile. There I saw the little
West Fork stationl

When at last we reached the railroad, I looked back up the cliff
over which we had just come down, and it secemed impossible tnat we
could have traveled down over it,

The remainder of the trip was easily made,

About a week later_I received word that Mrs, Craven was rapidly
regaining her strength. Dutch Henry I never saw agaein, but some time
later I neard that he had died. Hathaway Jones I did see once more,
about a montn after my trip to the Cravens, under such circumstances

thet I was glad to see nime
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There dwelt at Glendale an o0ld man by the name of Williams,
who alwayc had been active, But old age had caught up witn nim to
such an extent that he thought life was not worth 1living. So one day
he took a good, hearty drink of formaldehyde.

When I was called and was told what he had done, hurridly 1
grebhed a stomach tube and rushed to him. I urged him to drink a
glass of water and while he was drinking 1t, I gave him a hypodermic
of a tenth of a grain of apomorphine, Apomorphine would cause wiolent
vomiting in a very short time, Then, as rapidly as possible I got
the stomach tube down him and began emptying the stomach and washing
it out with more water.

Meanwhile he had changed his mind and decided that he wanted to
live a little longer, so he became quite cooperative.

After I had done what I could, and after he had vomited repeatedly,
he seemed to be in fair conditione. A very sore stomach for a
few days resulted from the action of the formaldehyde, but the patient g
gradually recovered.

This man's son had a rahch at the head of Cow Creek, tnirty-four
miles from Glendale. About six months after the fatner nad taken
the drink of formaldehyde, the son came . into my office,

"Doctor," he said, "my father has been spending the past six
montns with me at my ranch., Yesterday he died."

"How long was he sick?"

"About a week."

"Did a doctor see him during his sickness?"

"No."”

"Why wasn't a doctor called?"

"] wanted to call one, but he wouldn't let me."

"TPhat means that the coroner must go to your ranch and make

a post-mortem examination."
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"Oh no. I brought him in with me.

"Where is he?"

"Out on the street in my wagon, on some hay."

So the coroner was called, = post mortem examination was made,
and the cause of death was found to be pneumonis,

Even at that time, in as primitive a region as the Cow Creek
Valley then was, it seemed to me to be rather an extraordinary

occurrance for a man to place his dead fathner in a wagon, "on some

hay," and haul him thirty-four miles to town in order to report his

death,

On the trail that leads from West Fork along West Fork Creek to
Eden Valley and on to Powers, Oregon, a family hsd recently homesteaded
a few acres of land and had built a log cebin close to tne trail, Not
long after the cabin was built, the wife of this rancher came to our
hospital for a confinement, In this way we became well acquainted
‘with this family,

One evening I was called to go to Eden Valley to care for an
injured man, Eden Valley is a beautiful, heavily forested valley
twenty-five miles from West Fork by this trail.

I caugnt a train to West Fork, and at the boarding house there I
ate an early supper before I started on my trip,. For this meal
I had roast beef, and at my request I was given an outside cut,

Once more + rode my favorite trail animal, Blondie, and left the
boarding riouse a little before dark, Less tran a mile nad been
traveled wnen suddenly I began to have intense abdominal cramps, A
few minutes later I began to vomit violently. Rapidly my condition
became so much worse that the pain and vomiting were repeated every

few minutese

When 1 first became sick I got off t-e mule each time tre nauses
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returned, but soon tne illness became so bad that I was afraid that
if I got off, I would be uneble to get back into the saddle, so I
remained on the mule,

When about nine miles on my way, I decided that I had best go,
as rapldly as possible, to the nearest place where I could get any
sort of care. . This place now was the little cabin of the rancher
whose wife had been our patient recently. Their home was about eight
miles further toward Eden Valley.

By this time the strsining in an effort to vomit had become
almost conétant,and the pain very intense, I knew that I couldn't
have appendicitis because my appendix had been removed surgically
several years before this time,

It was nearly ten ofclock when, at last, I arrived at the cabine.
At the door, I told the woman that I was terribly sick and asked if
I couldn't stay there until I was better. She said thnat they had no
extra sleeping quarters, but that she would spread a heavy quilt back
of the stove, givé me a pillow, and that she would keep tae fire going,.

I threw myself down on this makeshift bed and continued to vomit
and strain until 1 A.M., when I decided that I could stand no more
paine With my hypodermic I gave myself a quarter of a grain of
morphine, the only dose of any narcotic 1 have ever given myself,

During all these hours of sickness, I had no bowel movement and
felt sure tnat if I could get my bowels to move thoroughly I would
get relief, While I was taking the hypodermic I told the woman
that if 1 only had a fountain syringe and could take an enema, I
believed I would improve immediately, She told me that she had
nothing of tne sort in the home.,

As soon as the action of the morphine put me to sleep, she

hurried up the trail to the DeVarney home, which was about a mile

from her cabine. There, over the forestry telephone. she called mv
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wife and told her that I was very sick, and repested what I had said
about a fountain syringe.

Wife telephoned West fork and it happened that Hathaway Jones
was spending the night there. When he was called to the telephone,
she told him the circumstances and asked if he wouldn't carry a
fountain syringe over the trail to me, if sne could get one to him
at West Fork.

"I can go in the morning," he replied. "But + don't want to
travel over that trail at night,"

"The Doctor goes over that trail anytime, night or day, to help
sick people," she said. "Why shouldn't someone do this much for him?"
After he heard tnis argument, he consented te make the trip.

Wife sent the fountain syringe ﬁo West Fork by the cbnductor of a
freight traine. Jones brought 1t to me as fast as he could, and:
arrived in the morning just as the effects of the morphine was
wearing off,. That was the last time I saw Hathaway Jones.

Vhether or not the syringe helped, I don't know,. But when the
effects of the morphine were gone to suci. an extent that I was weli
awake, I took the enema, and had no more p»ain.

After a coupie of hours rest, 1 went on my way to Eden Valley.
There I was much disgusted to find that the injured man hed received

such a slignht injury thet he could have come to Glendale for treat=-

ment easilyl

Only once more before we left Ulendale, did + travel this same
trail,
Barly one summer morning the eall came, over the ferestry
telephone as usuals sixteen miles oub on the trail, snd sbout a

mile from it, there had been qulte a forest fire. While severel men,
mostly pypne wardens, were fighting the fire, an old dead tree that
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was burning, suddenly fell and hit three of tae men,

One of them msnaged to get out of the fire in spite of the fact
that he had a badly injured shoulder. But tne otiier two were unable
to free themselves, and the fire went over them, It is not certain
whether tiie fire killed tnem, or whether they had been killed by the
falling treee

I was called to take care of the injured men, and was told that
there would be someone to meet me where I was to leave the trail,

2 Again 1 rode Blondy from West fork. Wnen I had traveled sixteen
miles, I found no one where I had been told that one of the men would
meet me, Slowly I went back and forth for a short distance along

the trail and finally found a place where the grass had been trampled
slightly and the fern had been broken in places, so turned off the
trail theree

The mule and I, by watching the fern closely and by following
fresh tracks that were here and_there in the dirt, came to the scene
of the fire after we had traveled avout a mile from the trail, The
men were surprised to see me so soon and said that they had expected
to meet me but that they had thought I wouldn't get there until

~

considerably laters,

The fire was out except for smoking spots here and there,

I did what I could for the shoulder of the injured man and
arranged to see him again the next day at our hospital. The other
two men were lying where they had fallen, their bodies badly burned.
It was really a hideous sight.

I told the fire fighters that I would report the circumstances
to the coroner at foseburg as soon as I returned home, and that they
could call West Fork and find whether or not the coroner thought it

necessary to come out. They then took me to a tent and gaveme a fine

venison feed., After I had eaten heartily, I started for home.
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A mile from West Fork i met a trapper who told me taat iie had
xilled a blg cougar that morning and ned skinned 1it. fe invited me
to come in and see the hides 1 have never seen another cougar skin
as large as that onec was,

The trapper asked me if 1 liked panther meat, and I told him
that I really didn't know, because I had never tasted it.

"It is really fine meat," he said. "It is 1light colored and
tender like pork, and tastes much like pork, I'll give you a pilece
of tenderloin to take home and try."

ne cut a nice piece and put it into a little cloth sack,

As I went down the trall, every time I would think of eating
cougar meat I would imagine tnat I could hear a cat squall} The
further I went, the more I disliked tne idea of eating it., When I
got off the train at Glendale, I went to & little chicken yard that
we had, and shook the meat out of tihe sack into the yard,

A week later I was attending the idasonic Lodge at "oseburg,
and there I was Introduced to a man wio said, "Are you the doctor
taat went out where tie fire had burned over two of tne.fire fighters?"

"I went out with the coroner," he continued, "and the sight of

the men was horriblel I went just for the trip and I'1l never

‘forget ity

"As we came back, just & short distance out of West Fork, we had
e wonderful venlson feed at the cabin of a trapper. Of course ne
called it couger meat, becsuse 1t is out of the legal deer hunting

season. But was it good "

"Did you ever eat venison before?" I asked him.
"No, I never did."

"Was the meat 1light colored like pork?"

"Yes," he said.

I broke into a hearty laugh. He was puzzled and asked what the



joke wase But I didn't went to spoil his memory of the "fine venison
feed," so I began to talk of other things that he saw on the trip.

No doubt he still thinks that the venison feed was wonderfull

December 15th, 1918, Martha presented me with another daughter,
Frances Harriet. She is still our youngest child. In spite of our
having experienced so many unusual occurrances when at Glendale, we
st111 consider this event the most important thing that occurred

during our residence there.
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MY ChnISTIAN SCIENCE FRIENDS,.
)

During all the years of my practice I have had but few arguments
with the Christian Scientists. With me, the belief has persisted
that every individual has a right to his own opinions, religious or
othherwise, as long as these opinions or beliefs do no harm to those
around him,

Kost of the incidents tnhat have happened between those of that
belief and myself, have seemed to me to be rather amusing so far as
the outcome 1is concerned, and I hardly know who has been the winner
in the few discussions that have taken placee

Shortly after we located at Glendale, there was a wave of local
sensational talk about "divine healings." Not all of it,héWevér,
was specificélly under the head of Christian Science. |

One evening I dropped into the Presbyterian church when the
sermon was partly over, and heard tae minister make some statements
which, in my opinion, were extreme and belittled the practice of
medicine, '

I was surprised when suddenly the speaker saild, directly to me,
"Don!'t you think that what I have said is true, Doctor Knott?"

"T will much appreciate it," 4 replied, "If you will give me a
few minutes to reply. I would hesitate to give a brief positive
or negative statement in answer to your question,"

After enothér four or five minutes the minister said, "We will
now hear from Doctor Knott."

"Curiously enough," I begen, "A few monthis ago I begair to receive

through the mail, coples of the “hristian Science Monitor ard
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Sentinal, but whoever sent them to me didntt put sufficient postage on
theme At first I tnougiut it was a good joke to make a medical man pay
postage on Christian Science literature which was sent to nim, not at
his request, But as time went on, it became tiresome. So I wrote to
the Sentinal at Boston, explained the situation to them and asked if, in
case tney knew who was the sender of the literature, tiey would tell him
to plesse pay the postage, as I was not interested in the literature.

'Besides,' I wrote, 'I don't believe as you people do, and I have
an offer to make you.

'I understand that you don't believe in the power of drugs. 1f
that is true and if you will pick out one of the most faithful and
devoted members of your church and will let me fi11 mﬁ hypodermic with
whatever drug I wish and inject 1t into that person, - if after this
1s done that individual is alive a year from that time, I will join
your church,!?

‘"The reply was very courteous. The writer stated tla t he regretted
that I had been bothered, ahd I received no more literature, but in
the reply, no reference was made to the offer I had outlinede And of
course such an offer was really nonsense, because, had my offer been
accepted and had I been consciousless enough to follow out my part of
i1t, I would immediately have been taken into our courts and tried for
murder or manslaughters.

"I certainly believe," I continued, "that God is capable of healing
the sick if He so desires. However, I also believe that we are expected
to use our own intelligences in this regard, the same as we are in
regard to other things. The farmer may be an earnest Christian, but
if he depends on the Lord to produce his crop and makes no effort
himself, he wil} certainly be disappointed.

"Picture, 1if you will, a scene at Johnstown at the time, many

years ago, wuen a dam broke there and many people were drownd. Imagine
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an old lady, an earnest Christian, sitting in her nome reading the

QBible when the alarm was spread that the dam had broken and people

| were warned to flee for their lives., Do you tnink, had she sat still

and said that sne had absolute faith in the Lord, and that He would
take ‘care of ner - do you think that the Lord would have taken her
bodily out of the way of the flood and saved her 1ife? wp would she
have been expected to cooperate and do all that she could to save
herself?

"It seems to me that it is not a question wihetner or not the Lord
would have been able to save her wiﬁhout her help. No doubt He could
have done so0. But rather, He would have expected her to use all the
intelligence and effort He gave her the ability to use, in an effort

to save herself, And the penalty for her not. doing this would have
been the loss of her life, |

"To me, it seems that the same principal holds true in the
practice of medicine and surgery. In this work we should use all
the knowledge tnat God has given us and in addition we should ask God
to direct us in what we do and to help us to bring about the recovery
of our patients."

As 1 sat down, the minister simply said, "It is getting late. We
will sing a Ham and be dismissed."

Particularly in another experience, I am still wondering whether
the joke was on me oOor on the patient.

People by the name of Forge came to me with the request that I
care for lrs. Forge in confinement. They were excellent people,
ethical and intelligent, and they told me frankly that they were
Christian Scientists. Mrs. Forge repor“ 1 to my office regularly

.for blood pressure readings and urinalysis, which was exceptional at

that time,
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The Forges lived on the second floor of the local bank building,
. the same building in which my office was located. I was called
promptly when tne confinement began.

This was the patient's first confinement and from tne very
beginning of it, things progressed very slowly, - even very slowly
for a first confinement. When the mother had endured heavy labor
pains for twelve hours and progress seemed to have gradually practical-
ly stopped, Mrs, Forge began to show signs of exhaustion, The pains
became w eaker and less effective until they seemed to accomplish
nothing., In spite of this, all I was permitted to do was just to
be there quietly waiting to deliver the child when and if it came,

It was about four ot*clock in the afternbon when I told the family
that I wished they would call a doctor from Grants Pass or elsewhere,
and put the cease in his hands, as I didn't care to continue on the

‘ case and take the responsibility that went with it, and have my hands
tied qoncerning the treatment of the patient, I assured them that
I would remain on the case until another doctor would come, With
that, I left the room so that the husband and wife could talk the
matter over privately,

it was only a very few minutes later that I was told to go ahead
with whatever treatment I wished andg that they would not call another
doctor,

Pituitrin, a drug which increases the strength of uterine
contractions, had come into use shortly before this, and before its
power was fully recognized, there were = few cases in which consider-
eble harm had been done by its administration in too large doses,

. I put two drops of this drug into my hypodermic syringe and gave
. it to the patient. In a very few minutes, the lavor pains.became

heavier, and after avout an hour, we had a fine baby girl,
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"Well," I thought. "That is once wnen they will have to acknow-
ledge that drug therapy has some things in its favor." é
But I wes mistaken,
The next morning when I came to my office, a friend said, "I hear
that the Christian Scientists gave you a 1ittle lesson last night."
"Just what do you mean?"
"It is reported that at about four o'clock last evening you
wanted to give up the Forge confinement, So Mr. Forge went to the
depot and sent a message to a Christian Séience practitioner at Grants
Pass, asking for an absent treatment, and within about an hour the
treatment worked so well that the baby was borni" _ : ;
"A person just can't win," I said, with a laugh, and told my
friend just what had happened.
The‘whole story was soon noised about town and created quite a
laugh. And it is likely that many peorle still wondered whether the
absent treatment did the work, or whether the hypodermic of pituitrin
caused the pains to become more régular and harder and brought the
child into the world, or whether the woman would have given birth
to fhe child normally without either the pituitrin or the absent

treatment,

My third, and I believe my last unusual experlence with Christian
Sclentists was brief, extremely regrettable, tragic, and I believe
unnecessary and avoidable even in those days.

Toward noon one day in 1916, I was called to the sawmill village
of Fernvale, five miles from Glendale, in an emergeﬁcy.

"There is-a woman here in confinement who is having convulsions

and is unconscious."

I hurried to Fernvale and there I found Mrs. Wilkinson unconscious, 5
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but partly roused every few minutes by heavy uterine contractions,
The entire rignt side of her face was badly burned, also one forearm
and hande. =zer husband told me tnat tne burns had been caused by
her falling sgainst a very hot stove while she was heving her first
convulsion,

1 hadn't Mnown that she was pregnant, and asked why she hadn't
come in for pre-natal care.

"She is a Christiesn Scientist," he said. "I am not and I did

everything I could to get her to come and see you, because she has been

“feeling very bad lately,. Awful headaches."

He further said that they had several children and that she ‘
had gotten along all right in her previous confinements, without
the help of & doctor.

Exemination showed that the uterus was well dilatedland that
the child would soon be born, The mother needed no anesthetic
as far as the pains were concerned, as she wasn't conscious of pein

or of anything else,

With much difficulty, because. of her mental condition, I was
able to get a small dose of epsom sslts down her, In this way I
hoped to reduce the toxemia, Shortly after she took the salts,
she went into enother ccnvulsion and during this convulsion her
child was ocorne

The mother never regained consciousness and died about five
minutes after the birth of the child. Artificial respiration was
given the baby, but it refused to breathe and its heart stopped
beating shortly after the mother passed awaye.

After I had done all I could to help the husband, I went home.
On the way I was thinking constantly of the unnecessary sascrifice

of the lives of the mother and child, and of the loneliness of the
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father, left with several small children, - and of the burden that
was unnecessarily placed upon him. How helplesé I had been on
the casel

When I reached home, for the first time in my practice of
medicine, 1 broke down and sobbed like a child.

And so, agaln may we say that we all have the right to believe
what we please and to put in practice our beliefs, as long as it

does not injure others}
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ROGUE RIVER.
Fesesr st

Shortly after we located at Glendale, I began to hear about
the wonderful fishing on Rogue River. Before this, I had become
used to ordinary trout fishing with an artificial fly, but when I
was told that the fall run of steelhead in the Rogue River would
hit a fly, and that these fish weighed all the way from two or
three pounds to twelve or even trirteen pounds, I became eager to
try this sporte

It was further claimed that wnen & steelhead was hooked, a
terrific fight ensued, much like the angler encounters with a large
rainbow trout only much more strenuous, becasuse the steelhead is an
ocean going fish and develops tremendous strengths

Also I learned that the steelhead is really an océan going
reinbvow trout; that if a young rainbow trout goes into the ocean,
he will become a steelhesad, while if he remains in fresh water he
will always be a rainbow trout. The steelhead always come into
fresh water to spawne

During my first autumn 1n.Glendale, I often went to the Kogue
with experienced fishermen and tried for steelhead. Those with
whom I went were entirely fly fishermen and could handle an artifice-
ial fly wonderfully well. Graduvally I improved my accuracy and the
length of my casts But while I could catch plenty of trout, it was
not until late October that I hooked my first steelhesade

To become a confirmed steelkead fly fisherman, it is only

necessary to use light tackle and get one of those fellows on the

~m A AP v Y2~
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When I prepared for this type of fishing, I put on light weight
waders that came well above my walist, and over them I pulled heavy
woolen sox and regular loggers sharp shod boots. Then I would wade
out into the fast water as far as possible and begin castinge.

Is the Rogue River wildlAlso, is a steelhead willdl e is so
wild that he is seldom found in quiet water,

Because of the wildness of the Rogue, in spite of carefulness
we fishermen would occasionally slip end fall into the turbulent
water and would have to fight our way to shore.

My favorite rod was & six ounce jointed bamboo, on which I
plaeced a Hardy reel. On this reel was ninety feet of double tapered
line, back of which was spliced two hundred feet of twenty pound
test black silk line. On the tip of the line was a six foot, ten
pound test leader, and the fly that was used most often was either
a royal coachman or a bucktail royal coachmen. However, at various
times many other flies were usede

It is hard to describe the battle which takes place when &
steelhead is hooked with this sort of tackle. The instant . the
fish would strike, the reel would shriek with intense action and the
line would begin to disappear from the reel with tremendous speed,
The angler would have the break on his reel tightened as much as he
thought the tackle would ordinarily stand, and in addition would put
as much pressure on the outgolng line as he dared without danger of
loosing his catche

After the fish had run et a surprising speed, for an indefinite
distance, it would leap out of the water from one to six feet, and
the instent it again was submurged, it would start in some other
direction at the same terrific speeds

Sometimes it would go to the bottom and sulk, or it might keep

up these long runs one after another until it is exhausted,
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I have hooked steelhead that would go further in their first run,
than all the line I had would permite. I would either 1o00se the fish,
or would have to get out of the water as fest as I could and run along
the banke Again, the first run may be only thirty or forty feete
After the first run, the steelhead often would turn and come right
back at the angler, when it is necessary to reel line in with all
possible speed, in order to keep a tight line; for a loose line
usually means that the fish will get away.

After the steelhead is entirely worn out, he may gradually be
brought ine.

Zane Gray is reported to have seid that this fishing 1is the
wildest, most attractive fresh water fishing in the world. He and
his party were often camped near us. Both they and we much preferred
to wear waders and go into the river rather than to fish from a boat,
and both they and we considered fly fishing with 1ight tackle to be
by far the best way to get the maximum thrill.

L have seen very large steelhead caught in the winter runs on
heavy tackle, salmon eggs being used for bait. These fish will not
strike a fly. I have never cared muck for this sort of fishinge

The largest steelhezad I ever.saw caught in the fall run, was
caught on light tackle, with a fly,and weighed a 1little over thirteen
pounds., My record‘steelhead was ten pounds and three ounces, However,
ebout & six or seven pounder usually gave the most violent, sSnappy
fighte

Late in September, 1917, L found a doctor whno consented to take
my practice temporarily, and I went by trail to a remote portion of
the Rogue. I reached the river at tne mouth of Mule Creek, approxi-
mately sixty miles below Grants Pass, twenty-five miles from any
road. A Mr. Corwin was then operating a placer gold mine there,

On my trail trips in my professional work, I had become well acquainted ;
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I rode the seme mule that I had hired so often before, Blondie.

When I reached the river, 1 could see NMp. Corwin's home, a
small log cabin, just across the streams, After I had announced my
arrival by several lusty shouts, Mr, Corwin and one of his helpers
came across the river in a row boat. They told me that there was a
small, fenced pasture near the cabin, where I could leave the mule,

"Can the mule swim?" one of the men askedo

"I don't know," I replied. "I never saw a dog that couldn't
swim and I think that a mule has about as much sense as a dog, so
letts try."

We took off the saddle and put it in tre boat, and left both
the bridle and halter on the mule, The two men got into the boet
and while one of them handled the oars, the other held the halter
rope a&nd the bridle reins. I went back of the mule end urged her
to go into the waters

After I had tried for some minutes to get her well into the
river,.suddenly she seemed to gain confidence and walked forward
e few steps, then stepped off a ledge into deep water,

‘Can a mule swim}

This one came up and started for the opposite shore so fast
that the boatmen could hardly keep up with her} She swam with her
back and much of her shoulders well out of the water, higher than
I have ever seen a horse swim! And in a surprisingly short time
she was across the river,

The cabin had only crude bunks in which to sleep, wnich were
hard, but which seemed comfortable to me after the first night,

One morning I was awakened suddenly by some noise, and listened
intentlye.. Something was going tap—ﬁap-tap again and again, I

looked around and found that I had overlsept and the men had gone
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to worke The outside door had been left open. Close to my

bunk a little animal, with white streaks down his back_and witi a

bushy tall, seemed to be playing around. I watghed it for a

minute or two and decided that it wasn't doing any harm, so I left

it alone. Low very fortunated it seemed to frisk about in the

cabin for a time, then out the door it went and I saw nothing more j
of it. Llater in the day, I told the men about it.

"Sure ," ohe of them said. "It comes in almost every morning,
and keeps the mice awaye. It's a civit cat and if one bothers it,
it will act just as a skunk would act and will leave the same odor.
Igts mighty lucky for you that you didn't botner it}"

That was my first introduction toc a civit cat,

The trip was a wonderful one. I could catch so many steelhead
end there were so few of us to eat them, that I would have to turn
most of them loose, |

One day, after the men had gone to work, I decided to go over
to Fell Creek, a place that the men had told me about, and fish
for trout. They said that as far as they knew, no one had fished
there that year, It was about mid afternoon wnen I started, so
I left without seeing any of the fellows and none of them knew
where I had gone,

Usually I didn't carry my creel with me when fishing for
steelhead, because they were so large trat fhey couldnt't be put
into it. But as 1 was going after trout, I picked 1t up and started.

Fall Creek, I had been told, was so named because & series of
very high waterfalls were there, one a short distance below the
other, Nearly all of these falls were located only a mile or two
from where the creek empties into the river.

When I ceme to the edge of the canyon wall, where I could
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first look down upon the creek, I was amazed and delightedl Trhe
beautiful stream was far below me, in a deep canyon, and each of
the series of fall: that I could see, seecmed to me to be fifty fo
seventy=£five feet highe For a long time I stood admiring the wild
beauty of the scene. |

After I had viewed the wonderful panorama, I began to wonder
how I could get down the canyon wall, to the creeks I could see
no place where one could go down except by traveling down a very
steep slope which was covered witn loose snale rock, with just
oceasionally a scrubby osak sticking up through the loose shale.

In spite of the fact that I knew that the whole mountain side
might slide with me, 1 gecided to try to go down that way,

Although I knew that loose shale made a very uﬁ%ertain footing,—
I certainly had not anticipated how completely and suddenly the
side of that mountain would movel I had gone only a short distance
down the steep slope when it seemed that in an instant, without
warning, everything around me began to slide and L was carried
faster and faster downwarde. I was thoroughly frightened for fear
I would be covered with loose shale and injured to such an extent
that I couldntt get oute. Fortuantely, 1 was carried helplessly
along, close to one of the stunted oaks,and as I passed it I
managéd to grasp a limb and succeeded in. ¢linging to 1t.

My trousers were torn and 1 was somewnat scratched and bruise
but not badly hurte In fact, I didn't think of being hurt, I was
so excited by my slide and by what appeared to be almost the whole
side of the mountain, sliding down the canyon wall amid a dense
¢loud of dust, I wondered just where I would have been had it

not been for the oakl

After the slide was over and the dust had cleared away, soO
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much of the shale had been carried down that the footing was better
and I was able, by being careful, to work my way down to the
creek, There I found the trout fishing to be so good that it
soon ceased to be interesting. In order to catch a nice trout,
I only had to stand back of a rock and drop a fly into the water
and I would have a fish eight or ten inches long,. Soon I had
all the trout I wantede

As I fished, * looked around and decided that I had never
seen any more magnificant scenery. The portion of the stream
that I was able to fish was about a hundred yards in length. Above
was a waterfall fifty or more feet in height, over which the water
plunged and roared. Below was another fall, of still greater
height,. ; wondered how the fish ever got into this portion of
the creek, between the two falls, |

As + continued looking, still drinking in the beauty, suddenly
the thought struck me, "Just where am I going to get out of here?"

I soon saw that I could go neither up nor down stream, as the
canyon walls were straight up and very high on both sides of each

waterfall, The creek was so deep and swift that I couldn't cross

'1t, and back of me was the shale mountain that I had managed to

come down in such an undesirable way;' The only way out that
I could see, was to go up some part of that same wall of shale}

After I had looked around for some time, I found a place
where the wall was partiéularly steep so that less loose shale
had collected on it. But the footing was miserable, because the
wall itself was composed of pleces of shale, many of which were
hanging loosely in place,

Heartily I wished that I had told the men where I was going,

for I knew that tihey would have no idea where I was, And should I
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not return to the cabin, they would likely never think to look
here for me., But in spite of this, I could see no way out other
than to try to climb that miserable shale wall,

I unjointed my fishing rod and tied tae joints togetner with
an old piece of fishing line, then tted the rod securely to my creel,
and took the reel off the rod and pu£ it in the creel., Then I
arrenged the creel straps in such a way that the rod and basket both
were placed on ﬁy back, well up between my shoulders. With this
preparation, t started to work my way up the canyon wall.

When 1 had gone only a little way, I found that the only way
I could get footing was to take a heavy hunting knife that I carried
with me, and carefully dig out loose pieces of shale., 1In this way
I could make enough roughness so that 1 could get a toe hold. Each
time I took a step, I was afraid that the rock under my toes would
crumble or slip and that I would fall. And constantly 1 feared
that the knife would break and leave me helpless, |

After I had progressed about half way up the canyon wall, the
going‘became so bad that it seemed to me that I could go neo further,.
I thought that the best thing for me to do was to go back down to
the creeke.

"possibly," I said to myself, "I can still find a better way
out when 1 get to the bottom of the canyon again. Or, if I am
unable to get out of here, when the men find that I don't return
to the cabin, they might hunt for me and find me here. How I
wish I had told them where I was goingl  Likely they would never
think of looking here for me. But my chance of gﬁtting out in one
plece will be better if I can get back to the creek and try some
other way, than it will be if, in trying to go up this way I fall

and am badly hurt."




204

Q When I attempted to start down the shale wall, I could find
| no footinge One look down over my shoulder showed me that I had
come up so far that a fall might easily cripple me so seriously
that I would be helpless., Likely, if this happened, it would be
the end of mel
I was quite badly upset, but said to myself, "Quiet down and
take it easy. Excitement and anxiety are the worst things that
can happen in an emergencye. Take it very slowly and carefully and
do your best to work your way up."
So, very slowly indeed, step by step, I worked my way
carefully up, constantly avolding putting a strain on the knife
and placing my toes as solidly as possible each time I took a

step upwardee. It was deep twilight when at last I reached firm

‘ footinge

When 4 got back to the cabin, supper was over and the men
were getting ready to start out on a hunt for me. They thought
fhat I had likely become lost in the forest, near the river,

I will never forget what ¥r. Corwin said when I told him what
had happened.

"Doctor, you did a dammed foolish thing when you went where
you did without telling some of us where youiwere going. ie vou
had fallen ahd broken a leg, you couldn't possibly have gotten out
of there and we never would have found you. Always, without fail,
tell us if you are going to leave the river and go any other
place than the river to fish.,"

He addied that the "shale bluff" was so difficult to climb

‘!' that he knew of only one other person that had succeeded in climbing
it.

For more than thirty years I nave insisted on going to the
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Rogue River for'two weeks in late September or early Yctober to
fish for steelhead. There is no other place on earth I would
rather go for an outing, were the fishing what it was for many
years,

The wild beauty of the scenery is still there, but it is
very regrettable that the fishing now is such that there is no
longer much attraction so far as fly fishing for steelhead is
concerneds The advance of civilization together with the tremendous
shift of population into Oregon, has spoiled it, as it has much of
the other wild 1life in the northwest,
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THE MALPRACTICE CASE.
Ciirgia g saiad

It was in 1918 that Mrs. Lehman came to me for an examination
and I found that she had an enlarged uterus caused by a tumor that
probably was a cancers The body of the uterus was approximately
the size of a small grapefruit and the patient had suffered and was
suffering such a grgat loss of blood that I considered immediate
surgical treatment imperative if she were to live longe She
entered our hospital a few days later and the tumor was‘rémoved.
She made an uneventful recoverye

This patient lived on a little brush ranch ten or twelve miles
from Glendale, well up in the mountains. At the time of her
_operation, she had no money whatever, not even anything to apply
on her hospitel bill,

About a year later, in the winter, I was called to her home
to see here I plowed through the mud with chains on all four
wheels of my car, and found her bedfast, with cloths that were
saturated with blood, wrapped around her rignt wrist,

She told me tihat her ten year old son, when he happened te
look out the window, had seen a deer with a nice set of horns.

As the animal was close to the house, he hurridly took the .22 rifle
and shot at it, wounding it. Mrs. ILehman heard the nolse and
hurried out to see what was happening.

The deer, instead of trying to get away, lowered his head and
charged at the boy. The mother rushed toward the animal, shouting

and waving her arms as she ran, in the hope of keeping it away from

her son. The deer wheeled, charged at her and knocked her down
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forciblye. It then turned and disappeared into the foreste

I wanted to take tinis woman to the hospital immedlately, but
she sald that she was so sick that she couldn't go then, and asked
that I do all that I could for the arm without moving her. -She
assured me that she would come to our hospital the next day, for
X=-rays and for whatever further treatment that was necessary,.

I found that she had a compound, cominuted fracture of both
bones of the forearm, just above the wrist. That is to say that
both bones were broken and splintered, and the broken ends had been
driven out through the skin, into the dirt. The whole wound was
mixed with mud and dirte

I had no anesthetic with me, so 4 gave her a hypodermic of a
half grain of morphine. And as soon as she became semiconscious,

I swabbed the wound out with tincture of iodine as thoroughly as
I could, removed all the mud and dirt that 1 could find, then placed
the bones as nearly in normal approximation as possible.

After I had placed a sterile dressing over the wound, I applied
yucca board splints to the forearm, extending them from just below
the elbow, down nearly to the tips of the fingers, These splints
were placed, one on the posterior surface of the forearm and the
other on the anterior Sufface. Over the wound, openings were made
in the splints so that any drainage from the wound could get out.

Again I offered to take the patient to the hospitale Now she
was only semi-conscious, due to the effects of the morphine, but
her husband promised to bring her to the hospital without fail, not
later tnan the next day, so that we could get tne needed X-rays and
could taeke better care of the entire situation,

Instead of the next day, it was three days before I saw her

again, Then a foul discharge was coming from the wound and the

arm was swollen and verv nainful. X=rava ahawed +hat the hAnee
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had been more badly shattered than I had thought.

We took the patient into the surgery, gave her some ether and
again cleaned the wound thoroughlye The bones were placed as
well in line as possible and a fresh, sterile dressing was applied
to the wounde The same splints that were used before were
replaced in their former position on the forearm after tihe openings
for drainage had been enlarged.

When we were taking the patient'from the surgery, I told her
husband, who had been in the surgery with us, that the case was
very serious, that Infection was already present, and that no one
could tell what the outcome would be. I strongly advised that his
wife be taken to some good bone specialist, and suggested Doctor
Dillahunt or Doctor Ut1s Aekin of Portland.

Later, when his wife was fully aweke, the husband talked the
metter over with her and informed me that she refused to go else=-
where for treatmente

Mps. Lehman remained in our hospital for about two weeks, The
discharge from the wound was fetld and stinking, We had no such
remedy as penicillin or the other things which we now have with
which to fight infection. At the end of the two weeks, in order to
save expense, she went to the home of a woman & short distance
from our hospital, and there t cared far her. I dressed her arm
daily for a long time.

It seemed that the condition of the arm was fairly good for a
time, 4in spite of the infection. But one day I suddenly noticed
that the bones were somewhat out of alignment. I couldn't understand
how this had happened, and she sald that she couldn't understand it
elther, However, rather than to run the risk of stirring up the

infection again by attempting to remedy the misplacement at that
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time, I decided that it would be best to wait until the infection
had cleared up entirely. Then, if it was found necessary, the
bones could be operated and re-set without danger that the infection
would threaten the 1life of the patient or again complicate normal
recovery of the arm. '

Before the patient went home, she was instructed to return soon
and that then we would make further arrangements as to treatment,
should more treatment be found necessary.

Many months passed without any word from the patient,

One afternoon a man entered my office and served me with a
subpoena, which ordered me to appear, not in Douglas County where
we lived, but about two hundred miles away, in Uregon City, only
a few miles from Portland. 1 was named as the defendant in a suit
which clsimed malpractice ahd demanded damages in the amount of
ten thousand dollers, “t stated that the suit was being brought
by lirs. Lehman. '

Ny first thought was, "How typical of a certein class of
peoplel I have removed the melignant uterus which threeatened ner
life. I-have not bothered her about the bill for that work and she
has paid nearly nothing on the hospital bill and nothing wﬁatever
for her surgéry."

I had sent her no.statement for the hospital and surgieal bills
which sne owed for the care of the arm, Now, in spite of the fact
thaet I had done the very best I knew how under very difficult circum=-
stances, end in spite of the fact that she had not followed any of
my instructions after the arm was broken, she was starting suit
against mel

Her attorney, I found, was 4r, Earl ¢; L'atourette, of Oregon

City. He was to be assisted by Attorney Brownell. ur. Latourette's

brother nad married a Glendale girl and I had met him a few times,
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when he was visiting at Glendale,

As far as I coulc see, the sult was called in far away Oregon
City so as not to inconvenience the attorneys. It was my opinion
that the whole thing was just a "frame up." I believed that Nr.
Lauterette and the patient thought that I, being a small town
doc tor, hadlneglgéted to carry medical indemnity insurance, and
so would be a source of easy money for both of thems If such was
their belief, it was a mistaken one, for I was covered with medical
inhdemhity insurance by the Aetna Insurance Companye

Martha and I worried very little about the case, We were
1nstructed'by our insurance company to appear in Oregon City long
enough before the trial began to enable us to have a conference
with our attorneys. Our lawyers were Kr. Senn and Mr. Ekwell, of
the firm of Senn, Ekwell & Recken of Portlend.

The trial was to be held under the direction of Judge Campbell
of Oregon City.

Besides the protection I had with the Aetna Insurance Cpmpany,
I carried medicé&l indemnity insurance with the Oregon State Medical
Society, but at that time this organization moved so slowly that
their protection proved to be worthless to me.

after we arrived at Oregon City, Martha and I found that
Attorney Dimick was to be associated with our other legal help
in this casee

Early in the trial, Martﬂa and I were amazed when two witnesses,
that were brought onto the witness stand, swore that 1 had applied
"side splints" to the injured forearmn. That is to say tunat I had
applied splints to each side of the arm rather than to the anterior
and posterior surfaces, as 1s always done.

When I was called as & witness, I said and I still maintain

that if anyone ever applied a so-called "side splint" to a forearm,
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'I had never seen such an application and did not so apply the splints
to the arm of this patient, I had never even heard of splints
being so applied.

Wife and I were our only witnesses, because we had thought
that there would'be no doubt whatever= about the testimony of all
the witnesses being honesty, and we had made no attempt fo obtain
other witnesses.

In the selection of the jury, one or the other side objected
to so many of those called for jury duty that available material
was exhausted when only eleven had been‘selected to acte

"Go down on the street and bring another up," Judge Campbell
directed,

Afterward I was told that the man who was brought up from
the street was taken from a wagon load of manﬁre that he was hauling,
It is certain that during most of the trial he sat with a vacant
smile on his face, I was also told later that anoether of the
Jury members was a Christian Scientist. ‘

While on the witness stand, I also tried to bring out the fact
that I had advised the injured women and her husband to have a
specielist on the case, but the court ruled that such evidence
was to be "stricken out because there was not conclusive evidence
that the patient had fully recovered consciousness when so sdvised" =
this in spite of the fact that the husband hsd told me that he and
his wife talked things over between themselves and decided not
to go to a specialist,

I further testified that when the patient was treated at our
hospital, the splints originally used, after they were thorbughly
cleaned, had been replaced in the same position in which they had‘

been placed when I first saw the patient., I called attention to

the fact that Martha had been with me when the splints were removed



21z

and replaced and that she would know whether or not they had been
properly placede.

On the witness stand dartha confirmed all that I had said, in
spite of persistant efforts on the part of the attorneys to confuse
here.

Doctors who were called to testify found no fault with the
treatment I had given the case, providing the splints had been
properly placed. But under the continued hammering of the
plaintiff's attorneys, one of the doctors admitted that he was
glad that the wrist belonged neither to him nor to a member of
his familye. |

I can agree with that statement in the event of any broken wrist.%

The triai dragged along for nearly . two dayse. i

In the closing speeches of the attorneys, lr. Brownell, one
of the attorneys for the plaintiff, became very abusive. He said :
that I was not only unfit to be called a doctor, but that I shouldn't ;
even quaiify as a "bone setter." He explained that by the term |
"bone setter", he referred back in history to the time when barbers
dressed wounds and even attempted to set broken bones, although they
had never received any instruction in this work and were absolutely |
without skill.,

"But," he affirmed, "Most any of them would have done & better
job than this socalled doctor did."

The abuse continued to such an extent that I asked Mr. Senn
whether or not there was a way to compel an attorney to stick to
the factse. I found that an attorney seems to have the llberty to
hend insults to a defendant in the court room, which is supposed to
be the place where injustice is ruled out, which would not be toler=

eted elsewhere; and seemingly with utter disregard to factse i

I greatly regret to say that, in tris trial I lost much of
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our attorneys, and still have not found reason to change my opinion.
and I also greatly regret that a tremendous percentage of thne people
to whom I have expressed this opinion, heartily agree with me. Defore
thié time I had been of the opinion that the court room was the one
place to which one went for justice. But in my experience, 1t had
seemed to me to be a place where, for the prospects of a good fee

or for the sake of an attorney's professional reputation, many

lawyers carry on a legal battle in which they try by fair or unfair
means; to win a case, be theirisidé justror.unjuste

At last the case went to the jury, which withdrew. It was
out for a long time, and when it came in a verdict of "guilty" wes
rendered and demages to the plaintiff in the amount of §750.C0 were

recommended e

Mr. Senn asked me wiat I thought about the verdict.

"If I am guilty of malpractice," I replied, "the plaintiff
should have much more than $750.00. Irf 1 ém ﬁot guilty, she should
have nothinge. Since I feel that I am not guilty, I ask that the
case be carried up to the supreme court."

Records show that the attorneys for the plaintiff tried very
hard to cause the Supreme Court to refuse to allow the case to be
appealed, but were unsuccessful in their efforts.

Nearly a year passed before the case was brought up before tne
Oregon State ©Supreme Court at Salem.

| T went and listened to the attorneys' arguments and was surprised
that none of the abuse, which had been so prominent in the trial at
Oregon City, was usede No doubt this was because the justices
of the ©Supreme Yourt were much more intelligent than were the
members of the jury at Oregon City, and the attorneys knew that such

abuse would fall flat before theme
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Not long after this I received word that the Supreme Court had
reversed the decision rendered by the jury in the lower court,

It was stated that there was a conflict of evidence as to how
the splints had been placed at the hospital. But evidence given
at the time of the trial nhad confirmed the statement that jyucca
board splints, when wet, could be moulded to fit an arm or leg.
Therefore the court could see no difference whethner the splints
were called "side splint;$ or anterior and posterior splints. No ——
other fault had been found with the treatment rendered.

-‘Also it was stated that a part of the evidence that had been
ordered striken out by the lower court, should have remained as
evidence. further attention was also called to the fact that the
law provides that & surgeon should render treatment which would
compare.favorably with that giveﬁ by the average surgeon under like
conditions, and that this seemed to have been done.

After a few months, we were again ordered to appear in Oregon
City, to fight the case through the lower court once morel

Immediately I began to look for people who had seen the arm
when it was in splints, and who ﬁad been present at some time wihen
I dressed the arme.

I was much surprised when a little lady came to me voluntarily
and told me that she had been an observer wnen a man Who lived at
wolf Creek, a farmer, had removed the splints while the arm was
still being treated by ﬁe. She said that after he had looked at
the injury he remarked that & good job had been done. He then
replaced the splintse

That explained why the bones had suddenly gotten out of

their proper position when both I and the pastient had remarked

about it.
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We also found several people who had seen the splints as tney
had been applied at the hospital, and all agreed that they had
been applied to the anterior and posterior surfaces of the forearm,

Mr. Senn hed a copy of the proceedings at the first trial.
When the witnesses for the pleintiff went on the stand, one after
another forgot how he had testified before, and became badly tangled
during the cross examinations

The testimony that the splints had been removed and re-applied
by a man who was not a doctor, and that this had been done without
my knowledge, seemed to show the ultimate 1n unreasonableness so
far as holding me responsible for the condition of the arm was
concernede

The attorneys for the plaintiff called onto the witness stand
an 0ld doctor who seemed to be so nearly intoxicated that he walked
with difficulty, and when he spoke it was with the slur of speech
so common in one mildly intoxicated. During his testimony the
proceeding seemed to me to be so ludicrous that I, together with
many of the people in the court room, laughed.

Agein the concluding telk, with the usual abuse, was given
by Attorney Brownell. In this talk he said in substance that
the good doctor had risked his life to come to the court to testify,
because he knew that it ﬁas the honest and necessary thing to do;
that . the doctor had so bad-a eold that he was on the verge of
pneumonia and should be resting in bed at home. In the face of
this great sacrifice and effort, "Doctor Knott, seeing him suffer,
laughed in his facel"

Even the jury members could hardly keep down the smiles, the
condition of the witness had seemed so apparante.

“ihat a farce it 1s," I thought. "And carried on in tie name

of justicel"
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The jury was out about fifteen minutes, It tken brought in
a verdict of "Not guilty."

When court adjourned, Attorney Llautorette ceme to me, and I
understood him to say that he wanted me to know that he had not
been out after mej; that he had been out after the insurance
companye. I turned away without comment.

As I look back over the experience, 1 can see one bright spot.
The trial cost me considersble time and worry and also disturbed
llartha greatlye But the financial side of 1t cost us not one
cent because the insurance company stood by according to their
agreement,

The cost of the case going through the lower court twice and
the supreme court once, must have been considerable. I know that
the plaintiff couldn't pay these costs., Who did pay them?

That is the bright spot.
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OUR LAST STAND.
it

Late in 1921, Doctor F. G. Hewett, with whom I had been
associated at Yoncalla, wrote that he had more than he could do
and asked that I come to Independence, Oregon and enter into a
partnership with him there,

Our hospital was paid for, we had bullt a very comfortable
home directly across the street from our hospital and we were very
content where we were. However, I decided to look over the
Independence territory before 1 refused the offer. With this in
view, I made & trip to Independence one-week-end and was very
favorably impressed with the town and its surrounding country.

Independence 1s located in the heart of the Willamette Valley,
only twelve miles from Salem, the capital of our state, There I
would be close to other doctors, and not so terribly isolated as
I had been at Glendaleeo Various schools of higher educsation are
only a comparatively short distance from Independence., Our
daughters were growing up and in a few years would want to attend f
some of these nelghboring collegese. |

Still, we were so well satisfied at Glendale that I couldn't
make up my mind positively as to what we should do. So the following
week, both the wife and I looked over the Independence territory.

The result was the same. We couldn't be sure what we should do.
I told Martha that I would go to Myrtle éreek and Riddle, the
two nearest towns north of Glendale, and offer to sell our home to
doctors there. If I made no sale, we would remain where we were,
This plan was carried out and we sold our home to Doctor G, J. Fawcetti
|
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We still wondered wiiether or not we were doing tae rigat thing,
but prepared to leave Glendale just after Christmas, 1921,

When we told the Glendale people that we were going to move to
Independence, we were surprised to be asked repeatedly, "Why are you
moving there, of all places? It is the toughest, most undesirable
town in Oregon. When Salem voted itself dry, Independence
remained wet and there is more drunkenness and more undesirable

things there than any place we know of}"

However, we packed and shipped our household goods and drove to
our new location in our cars - for we now had two cars, a Nash
touring cer end the little Ford "hearse"., Before we left our home
at Glendale, Wife broke down and cried and I felt like 1it,

Vur hospital we rented, and a few months later it was sold
and became.a hotel,

We found the people of Independence, like those we had known
elsewhere, mostly fine people with the usual mixture of undesirables,
The population was then sometihing over twelve hundred, but thne
surrounding country was very thiékly populated in every direction,
due to the type of agriculture carried on there.

The town is situated on the west bank of the Willamette River,
and at that time 1t was said to be, and likely was, the "hop center
of the world." More hops were said to be grown in this territory
at that time than in any other 1like territory.

This type of agriculture brought many migratory ferm laborers
here from early.spring until hop picking startede When the harvest
began, at lsast ten thousand pickers were employed near us. They
came from everywhere, Two and a half thousand of these pickers

were emplbyed at one place - the E, Clement Horst Company's ranch

t

i
i
|
|
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which was said to be the world's largest hop ranche.
dgny of these migratory workers were fine PeoPle,hiut there was

quite a percentage of them that were shiftless, unreliasble and in
many ways undesirsable, Doubtless this fact is what gdve the

town so hard a name throughout the state, This undesirable portion
was composed of individuals who were usually unsanitary and dirty
and who would avoid paying for anything they could get without
immediate payment, such as groceries, clothing, and often doctor
bills,

We found the whole social and echondmical structure so different
from any we had experienced in the past, that after we had been
in Independence a few months, we heartily wished ourselves back in
Glendale,

The school buildings were then antiquated and unsuitable, but
the instruction was good., The school system was under the supervision
of the Uregon State College of Education, which is located at monnou,n,
less than three miles from us.

Things went falrly well with us until September, As we became
acquainted, my work steadily increased. Because the roads were stil1
very bad between Independence and Salem, Doctor Hewitt and I establish-
ed a little hospital in a private home, Again Martha was called
on to be surgical nurse when we héd major surgery, but now the after
care of patients was turned over to others,

In September hop plcking began. When I went to the first "nop
camp" where the pickers resided while tihe harvest was going on, I
was both shocked and disgusted} 5anitary conditions were fearfull
Outdoor toilets, not Screened, were in common use and thousands
of flies inhabited them and went from them to tie peoples! tables.

As a result there were hundreds of cases of diasrrhea and intestinal

disorders in the camns eseni fal1.
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The shacks in winlch people lived at tie different ranches,
differed in regard to suitability and sanitation, but many of the
places for sleeping were wooden ounks on w-.ich a little straw was
thrown. On this the pickers placed tneir bedding. The cooking
fecilities usually consisted of flimsy little portable sheet-=iron
stoves,

There were not nearly enough camp shacks to supply all the
pickers and at many hop ranches tents were put up by the owners, to
suprly the shortage. I have been in some of these tents to see
patients, and in a few instances I found that the people living in
them were too indolent or lazy to carry out their urine and feces,
but dug a hole in the €orner of the dirt floor inside the tent, and
threw the body excreta in the hole and Scattered a little dirt over
it to cover it until more excreta was thrown in,

Garbage cans were provided but usually they were not covered,
and again flies would gather, At one camp I objected to this and
wes told that when covers were furnished, they were thrown away or
destroyed by the pickers, so thst it was nos worth while to furnish
them,

I had thought that some of tne logzers at Glendale had living
quarters that were undesirable, But they were palaces when compared
with many of the living quarters I have seen 1n hop camps, And
incidently, our association with the loggers at Glendale caused us
to think of them as rather s rougn lot, zut under the rough surface
they were generally good and dependable,

Un the contrary, our association with hop pickers taught us
that the two classes were sharply divided; possibly more than half
of them were desirable and dependable, but the remainder were usually,

as has been stated, dirty, unreliabls and in most every way

undesirable,
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"o doubt it was tnis portion of them that caused tu€ hop camps to
be so unsanitary, rather than any fullt of the owners of the ranches,

Also 1 found that many of the hop men, for whose benefit the
pickers were brought into the neighborhood, didn't care to shoulder
much of the responsibility for bringing them here, The first fall we
were here, I was called repeatedly to see hop plckers that were sick or
hurt, and was informed that "we carry insurance," and afterward found
that the insurance simply insured the owner against legal damages and
in no way protected the person who was sick or hurt, Some of the
largest ranches really carried sick and accident protection, but the
percentage that did not was so great that after two or three years of
taking a tremendous loss in caring for these people, I decided that
I had stood enough of it,

S0, the first of September, about the time the harvest began, I went
east for some post graduate work, at Chicago. I didn't return until
hop picking was over, in mid October. Two doctors besides myself were
then located in Independence, Doctor :rvine and Doctor Fawcett, When
I returned from Chicago, the first time Doctor ¥rvine Saw me he ourst

out with, "Those & hop men and pickers can't do this to

me again. I'm getting out of town, " “ month later he was located
at Myrtle Creek, Oregoﬁ.

After a few more months, Doctor Fawcett told me that the loss he
took was too great for him to stand, and he also left this location,
This left me the only physician in Independence.

The next autumn some of the hop men asked, "Doctor, are you going
to leave us holding the sack again this fal112?"

"Sure, I will unless insurance 1s carried to cover these workers,
I will leave about the first of September, "

I didn't need to go, for I found that nearly every ranch nad

insured their pickers before the harvest began,
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My experiences at Independence have differed greatly from those
at Glendale. Here, in a pinch another doctor could always be had in

thirty or forty minutes in spite of the bad roads. However, I found

it hard to adapt myself to the care of confinements in tents or hop
shacks, with the women fregquently in bunks filled with filthy bedding L
on a little straw,

There are now fewer hop ranches in tais vacinity, and those that
still exist, for the most part, have plsasant and reasonably sanitary
places. for thelr employees,

Now all our confinements, w hether the patient is a hop yard
employee or the wife of a permanent resident, are cared for by us at
the Salem hospitals, none outside of hospitals, This change of condit-

ions has occurred very gradually, through more than thirty years,

During our first few years at Independence, many of our confine-

meénts went to our little hospital here. As far as I know, one of these {

was the first Caeserean operation done in this county, f

The mother was a little woman who had contracted tuberculosis of ,
the spine, The usual resulting deformity had caused such an angulation
of the spine that she was what is commonly called a hunchback, Also
one hip had an opening which wouldn't heal snd was discharging pus,.

This woman became pregnant and Doctor hewett had the case, When
asked if he thought she could have a child normally, he said he thought
that she could. However, when she was confined, a full night of neavy
pains brought no result.

Yuring that night the doctor made seversl pelvic examinations,
and when morning came he decided that the child couldn't be born

normally. Iore than twelve hours of severe pain had caused her to

show signs of exhaustion, when the doctor asked me to take charge of

the case and do a Caeserean section. 1 hated to do this, both because
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of the greater danger of infectlon when opecrated after having had
those pelvic examinations, and also because she already had the active
>infection of the hipe Poth of these things made the case seem to

me to be very unfavorable,

But it seemed that there was nothing else to do, so we took the
patient to our little hospital and {1 delivered the child by the
abdominal route, When I handed the baby to Doctor Hewett, who
assisted me in the operation, he became somewhat excited so that when
he gave the child to Martha, he was afraid that he had contaminated
his hands. As a result, he gave me no more assistance, and Martha
stepped in and helped me suture the uterus and close the abdomen,

Again the good Lord was with us, for the mother recovered without

any complications. The child is now grown and has a family of his

own. The mother died of tuberculosis a few years after her son was . : J

born,

My first call after we arrived at Independence, was at the Beaver
Hotel,. 1 hag gone to Masonic Lodge and was called from there to
the hotel, where I was taken to a room on the third floor, Here I
found a man who was just crazy drunk,

The hotel proprietor, Moss Walker, was in the room together with—
several otner people, and they were carrying on a‘conversation with
the drunk man that was really comical, At times the patient was
inclined to be so violent, that after I had examined him and found
that his general‘condition was good, I gave him a hypodermic which
quieted hime

Almost immediately after I had returned to the lodge, another
call for me came, this time from the local plumber, Mr, Clifford McReth.,

His wife was having a very severe gallstone attack. She told me that |
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their family doctor lived in Albany, and that she wished to go
there if surgery was necessary,

The patient was given a hypodermic to take care of the pain
temporarily and the next day I took her to Albany wbere she was
operated successfully,

The morning after I made these two calls, my partner, Doctor
Hewett, and the other Independence doctor, Otis D. Butler, met
me at my offite doar and said, "Good advertising last night. Two
calls at lodge for the new doctor. Honestly now, how much did 4t

cost you?"

Dick Haley and his son operated a hop ranch across the river
from Independence, I made several cslls on people who were hurt
on thelr ranch and Dick said that he carried no insurance but thatl
he would pay me for my trips. This arrangement existed for.many
months and Dick paid me nothing, in spite of requests for payment,

One afternoon a member of the Haley family cecame into my office
and asked to see my partner, When I heard the request, + said
to my partner, "Doctor, they are irresponsible financially, T
feel that I should tell you that it is likely you will never get
a cent for taking care of them."

Only a few days later I was celled tc the Haley ranch to see
a sick patient, While I was looking him over, Dick and his son
both got into my car. When I went to the car, Dick said, "Doctor;
get in here. We want to talk to you."

It looked to me as tnough there might be a resl "rough house",
but I e¢limbed in and sat down by the side of Dick. As soon as I
was seated, he said, "I understand that you have said that we are

dead beats. Is that right?"
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. "Yes. Dirl- ’ *6s  You have never kept any
promi sl C};{{*L}~ * finances. But I know how
] LA
you ¢ P you want to,"

{
"

" 1 and we went in together.

There QQ’S 20 X 57“’}(‘ \& entire amount, much of which
was the What a relief! Both to get
the mon iment with two men both of

which We . wore powerful than I}

I never had any further trouble with Dick.

The description of Independence as it wés in 1921 should not
. be taken in any way as a description of our present little city,
As the years passed, the hop pickers became more ang more undepende-
able, iany of them would work until they had a few dollars, then
g0 on a drunken spree and cause trouble for thie hop men,

Groups of tie well known people of Independence had formerly
picked hops each fall, They had considered it as sort of a
vacation. But conditions became so bad that most of them quit
helping with the hop harvest, Because of these conditions, the
hop men begen to have a vVery serious time getting their crops
harvested each autumn,

The solution of this problem was brought about by the installat-
ion of mechanical hop picking machines. As a result, the pickers
who now come to harvest the crop are but a few in comparison with

m the number that formerly arrived here.
Our little city has had a healthy growth and the homes are,

on the average, much better homes. New school buildings have been
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built and new businesses established, including two lacal sawmills,
a shingle mill and a firm which manufactures farm maci.inery,

cince we located in Independence, thre gégter portion of the
time I have been associated with otner men of oy professions Doctor
Hewett, with whom I entered into partnership when we arrived here,
died of cerebral hemorrhage in 1924, After his death I was alone
in my office until 1929, wien Doctor Orban G. McConnell joined me.,

By the time Doctor lcConnell became associsted with me, all the

main highway between Independence and Salem had been pavedes We could

then easily reach the Salenm hospitals in tiirty minutes or lesse
The result was that we closed our 1little local hospital and both

became members of the staffs of the Salem General and Salem lilemorial

Hospitals, We cared for all our major surgery at these institutions,

and many of our confinerents and other cases were treated bv us

there, One of us made tre hospital rounds each morning,

Wnhile Doctor lMcConnell was associated with me, I was involved
in another lawsuit, This time there was no clsim of malpractice,
The trisl was the result of s diségreement which occurred between
Doctor icConnell and one of his patients.

One afternoon I was taking an X-ray of a Japanese man who was
suffering from an attack of renal calculi (kidney stones), when I
heard sbunds that indicated that a scuffle was going on in an
adjoining room. Hurridly, I went to tie door of tris room and
was followed by the Japanese, Nr. Ghikuo.

When I opened the door, we saw Doctor lkcConnell and a local
Chiropractor, Doctor Elliott, engaged in a rough and tumble, knock
down fighte Neither of us who were spectators, said a word or

took any part in the scuffle, Back of us a door was open into our

waiting room, where several patients were seated, watching the
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fight with much interest, Our receptionist came to the door, took
one look, then calmly closed the door,in this way shutting off the
view of the struggle from our patients,

After quite a round, in w:ich some black esjes were obtained,
Doctor #cConnell galined the upper hand to such an extent that
Doctor Elliott said he had enough and the fight stopped,

When I asked what was the cause of the trouble, Doctor
lMcConnell told me that he had glven professional care to Doctor
Elliott several timeso. He had sent Doctor Elliott Several state-
ments and the doctor had come in Just before the fight and said that
he was not going to pay the bill. He claimed that professional

ethics demanded that when one doctor csred for another, there should

be no bill.

Doc tor MNcConnell replied that this was true of medical men,
but thet it didn't apply when a medical doctor cared for a f
Chiroprsctores This attitude on the part of both of them, ended |
in so hot a dispute that the fight was started,

Doctor Elliott claimed that Doctor lirConnell began the fight
by striking him, Doctor McConnell maintained that Doctor Elliott
was the one that started the struggle. He said that he, Doctor

McConnell, saw that there was going to be trouble, so he started to

pull off his coat. When the coat was half off, Doctor Elliott hit
him in the eye as hard as he could. Doctor licConnell certainly
did have a beautiful "blsck eyel" In spite of this, my partner
managed to get out of his coat, after which in self defense, he
finished the fighte

A few days later, Doctor lcConnell and I were each served with
a summons to appear at the Dallas courthouse at a certain date -
that Doctor Elliott was bringing suit against us for assault and was

claiming a considerable sum in the way of damages. e immediately
ontained the services of a well known attorney, Mr. Oscar Hayter,
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of Dallase

Bef~r- we went into the court room I said to Doctor wcConnell,
“Whatever you do on the witness stand, Doctor, don't loose your tempers.
Every effort lixely will be made to confuse you and to stir you up to
such an extent that you will say something harmful."

"7111 do my best," he promised. "But it seems to me that we are
up against such a rotten deal that it is going to be mighty hard for
me to keep from getting mad if the attorneys get rough with me."

When the day of the trial arrived, the plaintiff's witnesses told
of the battered appearance of Doctor Elliott when he left our office
the day the fight had taken place. Doctor Elliott testified that
the whole ;ffair had been unnecessary, was an outrage, and that
Doctor McConnell started ite.

When called to the witness stand I confirmed the fact that
there had been a fight and that I had witnessed it. When I was
asked why I didn't try to stop it, "It would have been folly for me
to jump into a struggle with two strong men, both larger, more powerful
and much younger than I. S0 I simply stood aside and took no part
in 1t."

#hen our Japanese witness was put on the stand, the conversation
went something like this:

"were you present in Doctor Knott's office when the fight
occurred?"

"Yes,"

"Did you see the fight?"

"Yes,"”

"Tell the jury just what happened."

"I only know that there was quite a battle."

"Can't you give us any more details of what happened than that?"

Cie “NO. 11
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"Do you mean to tell us that you watched the fight and can't
give more of the details of what happened?"

"Well, you see, I wasn't well. I had a hell of & bellyachel"

The audience roared with laughter and the judge hammered with
his gavel to restore order.

When Doctor “cConnell was called as & witness,.he really had a
hard time, I could see him move his Hands and feet restlessly,
and the color of his face changed from normal to violently red several
times during his siege.

‘He was a man who would weigh at least two hundred twenty-five
pounds, was more than six feet three inches tall, and powerfully
built, On the other hand, Doctor Elliott was only slightly over
average height and rather slender,

The attorney for the plaintiff asked Doctor icConnell;

"Didn't you start the fight because you are physically so
powerful that you knew you could whip Doctor Elliott?"

The doctor constantly maintained that he didn't start the fight,
that he only acted in self defense and that the size of Doctor Elliott
and ﬁimself had nothing to do with it.

after the plaintiff's witnesses had finished their testimony, our
lawyer asked the judge that "Doctor Knott be eliminated from the
trial, as he had nothing whatever to do with the cause of the struggle
and took no part in it."

The judge adjourned the court for fifteen minutes, and when court
proceedings were resumed he said;

"The only stetement that the plaintiff's witnesses have made
concerning Doctor Knott's having taken a part in the fight-was that
he stood and watched it, with & smile. I know of nothing in our

laws which says that it i1s not lawful to stand and watch a fight
and to smile while it is going on. The trial will proceed, and will
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{nvolve only Doctor McConnell and Doctor Elliott."

So the triasl went on hour after noure To me it seemed tnat
the closing argument of the plaintiff's attorney was rather rediculous.
e drew a mental picture of Doctor McConnell as belng an "enormous
giant who attacked the poor little Doctor Elliott, with the certainty
that the poor doctor would be unable to defend himself" - and what
& heartless brute Doctor McConnell must bel

So on and on, the same 0ld procedure. Le continued to
infer that Doctor Elliott should have much compensation in the way
of damages,

The members of the jury seemed to be more familiar with this
type of argument than sometimes is the case, for the final argument
of the plaintiff's lawyer seemed to have 1little if any effect on
them, After only a few minutes of consultation, the verdict was
returned that Doctor McConnell was innocent of any wrong, and the
case was closed.

After the trial, Doctor McConnell said to me, "When I was on
the witness stand, the ‘actions of the plaintifffs attorney made me
so furious that if you hadn't warned me, 1 certainly would have
lost my:temper and would have told tse attorney what I thought he
was".

Some time later the bill which Doctor Elliott had refused to
pay, wes put into the hands of a collecting agency and Was collected

in fulle.

The financial depression whicnh hegan in 1929 became so severe
that, in spite of the fact timt Doctor ¥cConnell and I had plenty te

do, ~Our collections were very bad. Because of tinis financial
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Q situation, in the summer of 1932 Doctor #cConnell left Independence
B and located at San Jose, California. This left me alone until
the summer of 1934,
Meanwhile c¢ollections had improved and the work had increased to
such an extent that in the summer of 1934 I was so worn out that I
became 111 and was a patient at the Salem General Hospital. while
I was there my family persuaded me to send a telegram to Doctor
Ce. ne Fratzke, who is a nephew of lMertha's, and ask him to join
me here.
Doctor Fratzke 1s an alumnus of the College of lMedicine, State
University of Iowa, and had studied under several of the teachers

who were members of the faculty of that institution when I was a

student there. He had finished his interneship at the Southern
Q Pacific General Hospital at San Francisco, in 1932 and had located
in souther Iowa. However, before he located there, he seriously

considered locating in one of the Pacific coast statese
When he received my telegram he jumped into his car and arrived
here in just three and a half days. He has been associated with me

here since that timeo

Shortly before we closed our little Independence hospital, I
was called across the Willamette River to see a sick woman, and found
thet she was suffering with an acute attack of appendicitis. She
said ti.at she had been sick for several days.

Normally this pstient would have weighed about two nundred
pounds. But at the time I was called to see her, she was approxi-

. metely eight months pregnant, and had been without any medical

supervisione. She must have weighed then considerably over two

hundred. Immediate surgery was essential, so I rushed her to our

T ——————————
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hospital and, with Martha's help, removed a very bad appendixe
Due to the pregnancy and her weight, her abdominal distention

was such that there was much tension on the stitches when the

abdominal incision was closede Two other things further complicated
the cases. In the first place, she had quite a severe bronchisl
coughe Also, she Lad several ckildren, waented mo nore, and frankly
seid that she hoped tais ¢xild would te Lorn so prematurely as a
result of thils surgery that it wouldn't 1live,

When the operation was completed, an abdominal binder was
applied as snugly as we thought was safe, The patientts condition

seemed to be good,but it seemed to me that she coughed more violently

and more continuously than was necessary. Frequently I wondered
whether or not she thought that in this way she could complicate
the case to such an extent that the expecked child might not live,

After ten days had passed, I removed the abdominal binder and
took out the skin sutures. When the stitches were removed I was
amezed to see the incision gradually break open and the intestines
begin to buldge up at mel I grasped & sterile towel and packed it
over the incision, then applied the binder snugly and took the patient
back into the surgery.

With much difficulty I again managed to e¢lose the abdominal
1néisiono The woman had become frightened, not for fear that

something would happen to her child, but rather that some thilng might

héppen to herself, After the anesthetic wore off, the cough
seemed to cease entirely, and this time tne incision healed normally,
In another two weeks she was sent homes

Several of this patient's neighbors and friends came and talked
to me about her case. 1t seemed that the general 1mpression was

that when she would be confined, the abdomen would again open and
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she would die,
I tried to persuade the patient to go to the hospital for her

confinement, but she refused. I will admit that when, about
three weeks after she left the hospital, I was called to confine
her in her home, I was worried about the case.

She had been told that she must call me immediately when
labor pains began, and she was so worried sbout herself that she
did so. Immediately I strapped her entire abdomen with adhesive
tape. With this support she went througn a normal confinement
and we had a gnod, healthy baby girl.

The second day after her confinement, I went back to see her
and found her sitting in a rocking chair, nursing the babye. The
child is now grown, merried, and has a family of her own.

This is the only case I have experienced in which a patient's
"incision has broken open and the intestines are trying to come
out," as was reported to me so many years before, after the

appendectony of George Jennings.

It was about the middle of a spring afternoon when a frenzied
voice urged that I hﬁrry to a house not far away. The person
who called seemed to be under such stress thst I dropped everything
and rushed to the home I was asked to visit. As 1 ran up the
stairs, a woman rushed out of a door near the top of the stairs,

' she cried, "we have a young woman here who has had

"Doctor,
a babye No one was with her when it was born, The af terbirth
haesn't come yete But we can't find the baby and the woman won't
tell us where it isi"

"where have you looked for it"?
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"I've looked everywhere L can think of in her room and I'm
sure she hasn't been out of the room since the baby was born,"

she led me through the doop where I had first seen her, and
a glance around showed a good sized bedroom, rather scantily
furnishede A wooden bedstead of the type that was so common
fifty or sixty years ago - the upper end of wnich was very high -
stood 1in one side of the roome. 4 dresser, two straight backed
woaden chairs and a small woalen table on which were some books,
completed the furniture with the exception of one corner, This
was curtained off from the rest of the room and hooks had been
fastened to the wall, making the space serve as a wardrobe. On
the wall near the only window in tne room, hung a fair sized
mirror, _

As I began to search for the cnild, I seid to a: young
women who was resting quietly in the bed, "are you married?"

"No. 4and I don't want the badbye I just have to get rid
of 1t,"

"She doesn't 1ive here, Doctor," the lady who was searching
witnh me interrupted, "She is working for her board and going
to schools This noon she waited tsbles st a restaurant, and has
been doing that work for her bosrd right alonge No one has
lmown nor suspected that she was pregnanti"

I looked under the bed, back of an; thing that could be moved,
and hurridly searched through the dresser drawers. No babyl

A glance back of the curtains in the corner showed some
clothing hung on hooks, and a 1ittle pile of soiled tnings thrown
on the floor in the corner, Under these I found a medium
sized sultcase, tight shut, It scemed to me that a child

couldn't live in that suite . se as long as it had taken me to get

from my office to that bedroom and hunt as I had, but just to be
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thorough in my search, I Jerked the suitcase out and opened 1it.

. There before me, I was amazed to see a fully developed baby, biue

and almost sufficated but otherwise normale

Vith the help of a very little artificial respiration, the
calld began to breathe, ‘The woman took it, and I turned my
attention to the young mother. In a few minutes the placenta
had been delivered and the girl seemed to be in 500d condition

"Who helped you when the baby was born?"I asked her,

"No one. I wasn't sick very long and I tied the cord and
cut 1t myselfe When I was doing this, L heard someone coming,

so I hid the child in the suitcase,"

"Didn*t you know that the baby would die in a very short. time
if you put it into the suitcase and shut out the gir?"

' "I never thought of that, honestly Doctor, until you found
it and began to tryntO»make.it:breatheo I don't want the baby
but I never thought of doing anything to kill it."

"Are you sure that you don't want the baby? Ir you really
don't,"I told her, "there gre many couples that would be only too
glad to get ite Likely we can place it in a very good home in
8 short time if you want us to."

The woman brought the child to the bed and placed it beside
the girl. She 1ooked st i1t for a minute or two, then saig,

"What a sweet 1little child. I thought I just couldn*t keep it, but
now I wouldn't take anything for it. I can't g0 on with my school
work and take care of it, so I'11 just g0 home to my perents and
take it with me."

. "#hy don't you get married qQuietly and help its father make
a home for it and for you?"I asked.

"I don't want to marry him. He refused to do anything about

my being pregnant, and I just eant't bear the idea of marrvine that

e ———————————
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kind of a man."

A few days later tiie motaer left for southern Oregon with
the baby, and I never heard of her sfterward.

The mother instinct 1is strong in women that are basically

decent, isn't 1t?

Two or three years before the second World War began, Doctor
Yonald He. Searing located in our neighboring city, Monmouthe. ihen
our country was drawn into the war, he was called into the army
and remained there until the war was over,

Meanwhile, the practice of Drs. Knott & ¥ratzke had grown to
such an extent that, when Major Searing was discharged from the
army, we persuaded him to join us. He still maintains his home
in Monmouth, but has been & part of our firm since the close of

the war, Our firm 1s now known &s the Independence Clinic.

Shortly after Doctor Fratzke joined me, I was told over the
telephone, one summer evening, that Jay Mitoma, a Japanese, wanted
to see me. The speaker instructed me to bring my obstetrical
bag and to come to the “arion Hotel in Salem. There were then
many Japanese workers in our hop ranches and Jay was well known.

I took my obstetriczl bag and drove to the Marion liotels
There two Japanese met me and told me that Jay was located on a
hop ranch a few miles from Salem and that his wife was very sick.
They asked me to follow them and they would lead the way to this
ranche

I found Jay and femily in a very decent, comfortably furnished
home. Mrse. Mitoma was approximately five months pregnant, but
haed been having hard pains for many hours. Jay said that he had

called some doctor from Salem, and efter the doctor examined his
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wife, he said that he wouldn't care for her outside a hospital.
Vrse. Mitoma refused to be hospitalized, and because they had
formerly known me, they decided to call me.

I found the uterus well dilated and an immature child was
lying crosswise in the uterus. After 1 had given the patient
some anesthetic, I managed to get a foot and deliver the foetus
feet firste The placenta followed immediatelys

The child was dead end was so immature that in any case
it would have died.

"Doctor," Jay asked when the case was completed, "do you
like Chinese noodles?"

Very willingly I followed him into the dining‘room. nere '

1 found 2 bowl heaped with noodles, with strips of pork laid over
them, a supply of soy sauce close by and a cup of liquld clear as
water, placed mnear the bowl of noodles. 5 }

The liquid was reéliy hot, not in temperature but in tastee. »”
Joy told me that 1t was a Japanese drink made of rice, called ‘
sacki,

I was really very tired and the hot nool les and sacki
certainly warmed me upe. That is the only time I ever indulged
in this drink, but as the result of this one drink of it I feel
that I can heartily recommend its ability to warm up the "innerds™
and brace a tired person temporarily, whatevere its ultimate

effect may bee
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NARCOTIC ADDICTION.
digiad e

Every member of the medical profession, if he has been in
active practice for any considerable length of time, will have had
more or less experience with narcotic addicts who are attempting to
obtain habit forming drugs unlawfully, for their personal use.

At the present time, tne spread of narcotic addiction among
our population is causing great national concern., Not only has
our nation a greater percentage of sddicts of mature age now than
ever before, but also a constantly and seemingly successful effort
is being mede to cause so-called “teen agers" to become habitual
users of habit forming drugs. in spite of the efforts of our
country to discover and break ﬁp so-called narcotic rings, still
the percentage of our populstion that uses narcotics habitually,
especially among people of nigh school age, seems to be increasing
alarminglye.

Under the head of “Narcotié Addiction," a series of experiences
with individuals who are habitual users of habit forming drugs,
will be related. It is noped tnat in this way the terrible effects
of narcotic addiction can be pictured so reaelistically that those
who read the discussion will forever avoid the use of anything that
can possibly lead to the narcotic nabit, and will use every
possible effort to cause others to avoid the danger of the
aquisition of such g habit.

No doubt, because of the enormous financial profit involved,
narcotic rings will continue to operate, however severe the

penalty may be made for members of such an orgaenization if they

are convicted. |
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Q At the time I entered the practice of medicine, there was no
Harrison Narcotic Law,. However, during my college attendance, the
tragic results of the habitual use of hablt forming drugs was
pounded into all medical students so thoroughly that most physicians
were as strict concerning the supplying or administering narcotics
at that time as they now are.

In spite of this, there have been various times during the
past years when I have been deceived by stories of addicts, and
have innocently given narcotics when I shouldn't have done so. No
doubt this has been the experience of every physician who has been

in the practice of medicine long.

During our five years at Yoncalle, s far as I can remember,
’ there were only three addiets who appealed to me for drugs. Ny
work was in a rural community, and the type of people I was caring
for are almost entirely free of the use of narcoticse
One rainy night during the first winter of my practice, I was
spending a quiet evening at home when the door bell rang. when I
answered the bell, a man who swayed like one who was badly intoxicat-
ed, stumbled in from the rain and stood, dripping, before me. He ‘
was shivering and soaked to the skin and the water which was
dripping from his clothing formed little puddles on tue floore.
Before I could say & word, he cried in a high, quavering voice:
"Oh Doector, if you only knew how miserable I am, you would
surely have pityi"
sorry as 1 was for the fellow, for some reason the thought
Q struck me immedistely that he wished narcoticse
“you are going to ask for morphine and are trying to work

on my sympathy before asking, aren't you?" I asked.
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" Yes, Doctor, you are righte. and when you know the circum-
' stances, you surely will help me. I'm trying to get to Klamath Falls
where I have a brother who is & physician and who has promised to take
care of me and get me away from the stuff if I will come there. I
would ' pather be dead than to go on this way. A1l I want 1s enough
morphine so that I will be able to get to Klamath Falls."
"Vour story doesn't sound reasonable to me," I said. "I doubt
whether or not you have a brother at Klamath Falls. If you do hawe
a brother there wno is a doctor, one who would help you, he would
come and get you instead of letting you wander around this way."
"That is right Doctore But I am desperate and had to tell
you somethinge I haven't got a cent and am hungry and cold and have
been without any morphine so long that I'm having a severe diarrhea
' and feel terrible. If I don't get help from somewhere, I'11 kill
myselfi"
"possibly he is telling the truth," I tiought. "He certainly
is miserapble and cold but I don't believe he has the nerve to kill
himself. I wonder just what I ougrt to do? After all, he is a
humen being, pltiable wreck that he is.”
No doubt I did the wrong thing.
"If you will promise to go to the State Hospital at Salem as
fast as you can, and ask for treatment for your habit} I said, "I'1ll
give you a hypodermic now that will help you for a few hourse. When
it wears off you can go to the police in any town on the way to
Salem and tell them what you are trying to doe. Likely they will
help you get to Salem.
’ "wife will give you some hot coffee and something to eat.”
His thanks were profuse and I kept my part of the bargaine

But as I look back on the incident now, after having had more
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experience with these people, I have no idea that he ever attempted
to get to Salem. And in case he did try to, and appealed to police
along the way, 1t is highly probable that none of them believed him
but did thelr best to get rid of him any decent way that they could.

At any rate, within a few minutes after the administration of
the promised hypodermic, he was absolutely changed. His dilated
pupils contracted, he grewiquiet, and in spite of the fact that he
was still cold and wet, he was pleasant and seemed much more
intelligente

Shértly after he ate, he left us and that is the last we ever

saw of him,

Another evening a few months later, one more of the army of
morphine addicts came to my door. This one was well dressed and
warm, but his suffering'for want of morphine was acutee Intestinsal
cramping was severe and his attitude, like that of tune former case,
was servile and pleading. Frankly he was begging for morphine
without any excuse whatever, excepting the one so very commonly used
by these people = that he was on his way toa hospital to be curede

"Likely you won't believe me, Doctor," he said, "but if I am
cured I can get a job playing a piano at a moving picture theatre or
somewhere. I am an expert on the piano and can play either the
standard classics or popular music.!

I thought that this story was pure fabrication and L said so.
But he continued to insist that he was telling the truth.

"I'11 soon find out whether you are telling the truth or not,"
I told him; "I'11 give you a small dose of morphine to steady your
nervese We have a piano and if, after the drug has taken effect,

you will play for me and show that you really are an uncommonly good



musician, I'11 let you have two more tablets to help you get to
your hospital."

Imagine my surprise when, after tne morphine took effect, he
sat down at our pisno and, witrhout music, played beautifully two of
our standard classics and several popular pieces.

Again, I kept my part of the bargain and he passed out of my
lifee Once more, es I look back on this experience, I feel that
I did wrong in giving him any narcotic wgtever. But by experience,
I was rapidly learning that these pitiable narcotic wrecks don't all
come from the lower strata of our people, but often originate from the
talented, useful, intelligent portion of our populatione

What & pity it is that one so talented should be so absolutely

wrecked by such a habitl

My third experience along this line while gt Yoncalle, was of
an entirely different natureeo

Two young men had come to our village and purchased an apple
orchard.,. They lived quietly and after I made thelr acquaintance, I
thought well of thlem.

Late one afternoon, after office hours, T heard‘éﬁite a disturb- -
snce on our front porche “hen I opened the door to see what was
the matter, I found the younger of trese two men arguing with his
brother, urging him to come to the door. The brother, who was
protesting violently, was holding backe.

“Come in, fellows, and make yourselves at home," I said.
"What!s the big argumant about?"

"Tim is all tanked up and don't want to come to you in this
condition. But we have to get some help somehow."

They came in and sat down. pefore I could say anything more,

Jim mumbled, "I don't mind the 1little devils that stick their heads
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out, like those darting from behind ti.at picture. But I hate the
big ones that come right at mel"
"How long has he been this way, Jerry?" I asked.

"He started four days ago and has gotten outside of an awful
lot of whiskey since."

"I didn't know he drank at all. Does he do this often?"

"About once every six or eight months. A few years ago, when
he lived in Kansas City, he got to using morphine and got so he was
entirely down and out. He couldn!t find a job any more, and couldn't
work if he found one. He was broke and was so far gone that he would
lie or steal or do anything in the world to get the dope. If I shut
him up where he couldn't get.it he would go almost wild and would get
so sick that I would be afraid he would die, so I would turn him loose.
Eefore he used morphine, he was a steady worker, dependable and well
liked,

"I did the only thing I could.e I put him into an institution
that treats these cases and he didn't get out until they thought he
was curede.

"after he was discharged from the :sanitarium, he was so much his
old self that he said he would rather die than take any more of the
stuff, Up to now, he has stuck to it, but every few montihs these
nervous spells come on and it seems as though nothing but & spree
will relieve hime. He never stops until he sees snakes,

"0f course I cantt give him any narcotics to help straighten
him upe =#ll that I can do is toget him to a doctor. Can't you quiet
him down with something thatvwon't get him back on dope?"

I went into the kitchen and put a tremendous dose of bromides
into a tescupe When I handed it to him, I told him to drink 1t all,

He looked into the cup for an instant, then yelled, "What the devil

do you mean by asking me to drink that stuff? Look for yourself. See
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Le 1little devils wiggling in tne bottom of tre cup?"

"I'm sorry, Jiml I didn't see them before. Give me the cup."

Fack in the kitcnen I poured t'.e medicine into a differently
shaped cup and took 1t back to him.

"I looked carefully, Jim. There is nothing in this cup except
medicine. Drink iti"

"0.K. Doc. If you say it's all right, then it must be all right}

And down it went.

"Bad as tuese spells are," I said to Jerry,"They are so tremendous-
ly better tnan the morphine habit that I take my hat off to your
brother for turning to liguor ratiner tnan to go back on morpnine,
Usually i hate to treat a drunk, but anytime Jim gets in this shape,
bring him in and I'11 do all I can for him,"

Several otner times before we left this location, Jim was brought
to me in miserable condition. But as far as I know, he never went
back to merpnine, and aside from these periodic drunken sprees, he

was a good worker and a very fine fellow.

At Glendale I had very little trouble with so-called "dope fiends."
Much of my work was among loggers, and while many of them put the
rough side out, they were basically a fine lot of men and the use of
narcotics among those 1 knew, was absolutely absent,

Twice wnlle I was at tris location, my office was searched during
the nigrht, but what narcotics I needed were kept locked in a safe and
neither time did the searcher succeed in getting trne safe open. On
one of trhese occasions, a hypodermic syringe was missing, but there
was no drug with 1ite

By this time the Harrison Narcotic Law had come into beinge.

This made it unlawful to give any sort of narcotics to an addict

except in trne treatment of the habit. The penalty for breaking
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being, doctors are inclined to investigate more thoroughliy those who
seem to need narcotics, in order that they may be certain that the
need is resl.

One morning a well dressed and neat appearing man ceme briskly
into my office and, after the remark,"Doctor, here is a little present
for you," he tossed on the desk before me a well bound volume on the
front pege of which was stemped, "The Practice of Veterinary Medicine."

I took one look at the volume and said, "Thanks, but I can't use
ite I am a M.D., not a Veterinarian."

"I xnow it, Doctor, but I thought it might come in handy for you
some time, I can't use it either, What 1 really came in for was
to have you write me a prescription for a little morphine. The baok
doesn't have anything to do with the prescription. I have the cash

to pay and am willing to pay any reascnable price for it."

"Here is your book. There will be no prescription, I don't
write narcotic prescriptions, except when there is a real,legitimate
need. "

"There is a real, legitimate need for morphine now," he said,
"If I don't get morphine, I will soon be acutely, terribly sick, I
have to have it to get along. I'm ready to pay for it, and it is
no one's business but mine that I have to use 1t to keep going,"

"Just what is the matter with you? Do you have a cancer or some
incureble condition that gives you so much pain that morphine is
your only way out?"

"No. It's just a habit I got into and, as I said, it's no one's
business but mine. I don't want to stop it.e I 1like it and can pay
for it and you can supply 1ti"

"vou don't know what you are telking about when you say that it's

no one's business but yours. If you go on this way, soon you will be
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a worthless bum, You'll get so you'll be unfit for any sort of work
and will be such & physica wreck that you'll be a scourge to humanity
and a burden to be cared for by charitye. One had better be dead
than that way, and you have the nerve to say that it's no one's businessc
but your ownl)] No prescription, and here's your book,"

After he had called me a few vile names, he rushed out of the
office without his book and nothing more was seen of him,

Some time later I gave the book to a Veterinariane

kartha and I were invited to the home of ur. and Mrs. Harry
Tichnor, friends of ours, for dinner. While we were chatting before
the meel was ready, there was a loud, persistant knock at the door.

After Mr. Tichnor hesd talked a minute at the door, he came in
and said to me, "Doctor, two men are at the door and they say that
they want to talk to you. They're a couple of mighty hard lookers,
I've never seen either of them before." _

"Are you the doctor?" one of tne men asked me when Iinquired what
was wanted, '"Come out and shut the doore We want to have a 1little
privete talk with you."

After the door was closed, the speaker said, "We have run out of
morphine, Both of us use it and we are so sick that we can't possibly
go any further without 1t. Give us enough so that we can get to the
next town and we'll tell nobody and won't bother you again."

When & refused, they said, "If you won't give us any, we!ll do
enything to get it = bresk in anywhere or hold up anyone we think

has 1t."
They seemed so insistant and so threatening that I would have
been afraid that they would attack me if I hadn't been right at the

door where I could call for help if I needed it.
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Because I still refused to glve them a prescription or the drug,

one of them said said, "If we break the law and are caught, you will

be to blame for our having to go to the penitentiary , and you can
expect to hear from us plenty when we get out "

"If I gave you either a prescription or thne morphine, I would
be breaking the law myself to such an extent that I might find
myself in the penitentiary and I like the sunshine and fresh air g
toomuch to teke such a chance. |

"Your argument that I am in any way responsible for your con-
dition is utterly foolish, You know perfectly well that I never
saw either of you before and had nothing to do with your getting

into this habit. I'm not in any way responsible for anything that

may happen to you, whatever you do." 7 |

They became very abusive and I went in asnd shut the door,

Shortly afterward they left and I didn't see then again,

At verious times I have taken from habitual users of nercotics, |
such abuse as these uttered before they left - such & use that. I couldn'ts
tolerate 1t from any normal person. I have taken it because the
addicts have usually gotten so low that tneir words should mean
nothing to anyone, and because it would be utterly foolish to lower
myself to the extent of engaging in any sort of a dispute with one
of them, A&so any dispute might be very dangerous, for many addicts
are so crazed by drugs or by ti.e need of them taat they will stop

at nothing, even murder, and would use anything that came to hand =

even - a knife or a gun.

It was nearly time for me to go to my office one autumn morning

in 1916, wnen a middle aged woman asked for me at the hospital.

"Doctor, I want to be admitted into vour hospital as a patient."
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"What's tne trouble, “rs. Mclaughlin?"

"I may as well tell you frankly, and get it over., - Several
vears ego 1 acquired the habit of using morphine, My husband had
been using it for quite a while before I began to take it. It has
oractically destroyed him, and is destroying me. 1 want to be
cured of trie habit."

"But “rs. McLaughlin, we never treat that sort of a case here,
You should go to one of the institutions where the treatment of
narcotic addiction 1s their specialty. I have never treated such a
case and have never wanted that kind of practice."

"I don't know what to do if you don't take my case. My husband
suggested trnat L come to you, and thnought possibly you would make an
exception trhis time under the circumstences, and take me."

"Whet are the circumstances and what does your husband do?"

"I thought you knew my husband. &Le said he was acquainted with

YOu. e 1s a physician and I am a registered nurse, For several
yeers after our marriage we worked together just as your wife and you
are doing, snd were very happye But as the work grew heavier and my
husband's responsibility became greater, he began to use morphine. In
fact, he lost one or two patients whOo were very close friends of ours,
and he was so stunned by the misfortune that he was unable to rest
and started the use of émall doses of morphine to relieve the nervous-
ness and depressione Of course the habit grew,and in time his practiceg
became less and less as people realized tnaat he was a narcotic addict. |

"After a time my husband's health and our financial condition both
became so bad that I couldn't stand it any longer and, follishly, I
began the use of morphine 1in an effort to get away from the worry.
For seversl years we both have been unable to do without 1t,

"We have drifted from place to place in an effort to meet
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but always the people find out in a short time that we are narcotic
addicts and taen our practice is ruined.

"Things have become so bad that for a long time now, my husband
has been irresponsible. He will do anything to get morphine, MNMost
physicians now know that he is an addiet and he can only get the
drug illegally; such as writing a narcotic prescription for a patient
that doesn't exist, then getting it filled and using it himself, He
has even been writing prescriptions for patients who are in pain,
and telling these patients to bring him the medicine so that he
can see that it has been filled properly. When the medicine is
brought in, he replaces the little white tablets by others the same
size and shape, which are not narcotic, and keeps the morphine for
himself, |

"Honestly, Doctor, my husband has gone so far that he isn't
capable any longer of building up a practice, but drifts from place
to place with only one desire: to obtain morphine for his own use.
Until recently he has given me what I need to make me comfortable,
but it has become so hard for him to get enough for himself that he
has refused to share it with me any longer and I am suffering so much
for the want of it that I don't know what to do.

"He is no longer a real husband. Our home, our practice, every-
thing of value we possessed has gone in order to get a few more
dollars to buy morphine. And at last he has told me that he wants
no more of me,.and now he is spending much of his time with women
of doubtful reputation,

"Early this morning he told me not to come near him again, and
he suggested that 1 come here to you. He said that you would take
my case because you wouldn't refuse to care for the wife of a fellow

physician, especially when she is a registered nurse.
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Q "Possibly some member of your profession has been good to you
in the past, and has taken care of you or your family when sick,
without financial compensations Now I am sick. I haven't a cent.
I am not able to work and don't know what to do. Won't you please
take me into your hospital and get me away from this awful habit?

"You may use any method you wish, however severe it has to be,
If you take my case, please pay no attention to what I may say or
try to do during the treatment. Take any necessary risk, for as
far as my 1ife is concerned, it isn't worth anything to me as I
now am."

Just what should I do or what could 1 say? Both Wife and
I considered narcotic addicts about at the bottom of human
degridation. I couldn't even be sure that a word of this woman's

Q story was true. I had never heard of her nusband. But she seemed

V so sincere and earnest that I decided to talk the matter over
with Martha.

The finsl result was that ¥rs. %claughlin was admitted as
a patient.

Even then we didn't realize what an ordeal was facing us.

No more narcotic was given and the result of so abrupt a
discontinuance of it caused a terrific reaction. At that time, as
far as we knew, about the only substitute that could be used that
was not habit forming, was Bromidese. Triple bromides were given
to this patient in an amount sufficient to keep her practically

unconscious all the time. To get this result 1t became necessary
to give her doses that were greater than I have ever known to be

' given,and we were continually on & terrific strain for fear such

doses might be fatal.

Even with this treatment she would come near enough the surface
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to cry out pitiously for morphine. She would beg and plead for it
and often would threaten us with arrest and prosecution for holding
her there virtually a prisoner, against her wishes, Many times
I was called to the hospltal during the night because of the
continuation of that awful cry for morphine, always morphine,

The usual abdominal cramping and intense diarrheatwhich occurs
in such a case so complicated our treatment that she rapidly became
dehydratede. &ier bed would have to be changed over and over each
daye She would take no food and it was very difficult to get
enough water into her system to maintain her. Intraveinous feeding
end intraveinous supplying of moisture were practically unknown at
that time, We attempted to furnish her with necessary fluids by
giving a few ounces of normal salt solution with a colon tube, but
her diarrhea was so severe that the solution would be expelled as
soon as it was given,

At the end of a week, Martha and I both greatly feared that
she might die at any time. We wondered what would happen to us if
she died as a result of the treatment and the husband would drag
us into courte. But we both thought that it would be better
for her to loose her 1life than to continue her existance in the
condition in which she was when she came to us, So in spite
of our dregd of continuing the treatment, we decided to go on
with it.

About the end of lkrs. lMcLaughlin's first week with us, a
slender, well dressed man introduced himself to me as Doctor
McLaughline ne asked as to his wife's progress, tinen told me tnat
in his opinion there was no chance of curing her.

"She has used morphine for eighteen years," he 8aid, "and you

never heard of an addict who used it that long, being cured "
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release her, we would go on with the treatment,

“A11 right. Go shead. But it is hopeless and I haven't a cent
with which to pay youe And I want you to know that I won't be
responsible for any of the expense in tne case. Is it all rignht
for me to see her?"

"Certainly you may see her. But one of us will be present, to
be sure that you don't give her any morphine."

"That's fair enough. I'11 be at the hospital just after lunch.”

He left and none of us ever saw nim again,

I no longer have our hospitsal record of the case, it was so
1§ng agoe But to me it seems that for at least two weeks the
patient was kept mentally confused or entirely unconscious, with
bromidese

At tne end of that time her demands for morphine were becoming
less insistant. Through the entire ordeal, we had succeed in
getting ner to take very small amounts of water by attempting to
get her to drink a 1little, every few minutes, even when she was
unconsciouse But in spite of this, she had lost an incredible
amount of weighte

Gradually, as her cry for morphine became $ess, we cut down
the size of the doses of bromides. As this took place, her desire
for food seemed to become more norzal, and very slowly the patient
began to regain a 1little of her weighte.

Approximately a month had pessed before the bromides were
entirely discontinued. But how pleased we were when,as she improved
she ceased to beg for morphinel And one morning she said thaf
she would never use it again. When + asked whether the appetite
for it was entirely gone, she said that she still had to fight the
craving for it, but that now she realized fully what an awful thing
it had been and that nothing could cause her to go back to it.

In spite of this, we didn't allow her to go out of the hospital
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for more than a month, and for some time after that one of us always
accompanied her when she went oute But &11 of her resentment had
disappeared and she always seemed willing to do as we wished.

She remained with us at least two monthse In the meantime,
we had learned that her hgsband's people were an excellant family
and that they had been greatly concerned because of the doctors
having acquired the narcotic habit. But possibly they were even
more disturbed because he had also dragged:his wife down with him,

When we contacted them they asked that as soon as we thought
it advisable, we send her to them, and.assured us they would do
their best to prevent her return to narcoticse. They sent us
a small amount of money, possibly enough to pay the hospital expense
of the patient during the first week that she'was with use. They
frankly told ws that the doctor had made so many bills all across
the country, that in an effort to pay them they had depleted their
resources so far that they felt they could pay no moree.

Our patient was sent to them and we are still gratified to
¥now that she never returned to narcoticse She was most grateful
and frequently expressed her thanks to us. It was about twe
years later that we were told that she had died of pneumonia,

We have never regretted that we took this case, but we never

have treated another narcotic addicte

During the years that we have been in Independence, I have seen
many times as many drug addicts as were seen by me in all my
previous practices Nearly all of these have been individuals who
were drifting from place to place with seasonal agricultural workerse

The population here 1is much more dense than it was in our
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previous locations, Also, as hes been stated, for many years
Independence was a great hop centers, Each autumn, during the hop
harvest, I have been approached by several habitual users of some
sort of narcotic;. whom I have never seen before, and occasionally
one has appeared «t other times,

No attempt will be made to describe my experiences with many
of these people. I will simply tell of a very few cases which
bring out unusually plain, how very difficult it often 1is for a
physician to know whether or not the desired drug is honestly and
legitimately needed,

Only once since the Harrison Narcotic Law was passed, have I
knowingly given an addict any narcotic and on that occasion he
received only one dose. This dose was given for a special reason,

One afternoon, toward evening, a roughly dressed man entered
my of fice when no other patients happened to be present, and asked
for a prescription for morphine,

"Doctor," he persisted when I flatly refused, "if you will
just give me enough for one dose, I'11 give it to myself intra-
veinously right here in your office."

"Do you have a hypodermic syringe? I asked.

"No. And I don't need one,"

"How can you take any medicine intraveinously without a
hypodermic syringe?"

"I've got a hypodermic needle and & medicine dropper and

that!s all I need."

"How much of s dose do you have to have to get results?"
"Ityve been taking it so long that it takes two grains to do
me any good."

"Itve heard that the stuff can be taken intraveinously without
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a hypo, but never believed it. If you will take it right here
before me, I'1ll break my rule just this once, just to see if it
can be donee. But there won't be any use of your coming back for
more, because there won't be any more from this office."

"That's a deals Give me the morphine."

I gave him eight tablets of a quarter grain each, which
probably would he a fatal dose for one who has nét been an addict
for a long time,

He took from his pockets, the tin cover of the type of can that
is often used for smoking tobacco, a dirty, large handkerchief, a
medicine dropper and a hypodermic needle. Without cleening anything,
he placed the morphine tablets in the tobacco can cover, measured
almost a medicine dropper full of water and squirted it into the
tin cover, Two matches were 11t and held under the tin cover,
so that the solution was heated to such an extent that the tablets
were soon completely dissolved, Then the solution was carefuiiy
draWn into the medicine dropper, which he laid on my desk in such
a position that he could pick it up readily,

The dirty handkerchnief was then twistedlaround his arm just
above the elbow, and the ends were tucked under so that the
handkercrief was held tight around the arm, This made the veins
on the front of the elbow stanq out plainly, He picked up the
needle eand plunged it expertly into a vein, so that blood begean to
drop out of the needle. Quickly he released the handkerchief,
'seized tne medicine dropoer, tucked the tip of it into the needle
where the syringe ordinarily would fit, and slowly squeezed the
fluid into the vein.

This was all done so guickly and so very easily that he rust

have done it a gréat auwsoer of times, in order to do it so well.
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Q Wren all the solution was in the vein, he pulled the needle
out, flexed the elbow so that none of the solution and no blood
could come from the puncture in the veln, then picked up the
handkercrief and put it in his pocket.

After this, he licked the inner surface of the tin 1id he had
used, and also the tip of the medicine dropper, then without cleaning
the things in any way he put them into his pockets,

"“ow can you keep from infecting yourself," I asked, "Dont't
you ever clean Oor boil the heedle, dropper and tin 11d?% ir 1
treated a patient without sterilizing the skin and cleaning up my
things when I give a hypo, I would be afraid of a terrific infection."

"I never clean anything, That business of infecting yourself
or getting air into the vein is a bunch of bunk. I've taken

' morphine like tnls for years and never got an infection. Look

| for yourself,"

Trhe arm was scarred but otherwise normall

Eo® can such a procedure be explained? It can't, It 1is
e mystery how he avoided infecting himself and why in doing so he
didn't scar the arm so bad that the needle couldn't be forced into
the vein.

After I had examined tne arm, he rolled down his sleeve, left

my of fice, and that was the last I saw of him,

One afternoon a woman, neatly dressed, wearing expensive furs,
entered my officee. She appeared to be refined, A would have
taken rher to be the wife of some prosperous business man,

’ She told me thnat her husband haud tuberculosis and tunat sne was

taking him from their home at Corvallis, to the State Tuberculosis
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nospital which 1s a few miles east of Salem. This is a trip of
about forty miles, over well paved roads.

"At times," the woman gaid, ‘'my husband has very severe pains
due to pleurisy caused by an advanced case of tuberculosis. At
such times nothing but morphine will relieve those pains, We will
both appreciate it very much if you will let me have a few morphine
tablets to give him. He was very comfortable when we left Corvallis,
but a few minutes before we got here his pasin started suddenly,
likely due to the motion of the car. He is suffering terribly."

"When you knew that he might have a severe attack at any time,
why didn't you get a few tablets from your doctor before you left
Corvallis?"

"My husband has had no severe pains for more than a week, so
ﬁe thought surely-that we could safely make this trip without
bothering the doctor. We won't need to take any of your time,

I have learned how to give his hypodermics, and if you will just
let me have a few tablets, I can take care of him. I have rubbing
alcohol end a bottle of distilled water in our car,"

The story didn't sound reasonable, " So I told her that I would
go out and see her husband. If I found that he had tuberculosis
and was 1n severe pain, I would give him a hypodermic myself,

She insisted that she would teke care of him. She claimed
that he didn't want anyone else to do anything for him.

" If he is gs particular as that,"I told her, "the pain can't
be too terribly severe, If it were really very bad, he would be
glad to have 1t relieved, whoever gave him the treatment, It
will take you less than an hour to get to the State Tuberculosis
Hospital, where he can get relief. I won't glve you any morphine

for him unless I examine him,"
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She seemed to be very angry and lost her refined appearance as
she told me that I was heartless and a disgrace to my profession,
St111 L refused to give her the morphine, and she left, seemingly
furious,

The following day one of the state police from Salem happened
to be in our towne I contacted him and told him of my experience.

"There was no siek man, Doctor, so of course she didn't want
you to go out to see one," he said. e think that even she is
not an addict but that she goes from place to place and by telling
some such story, gets a few grains of morphine, Likely she makes
considerable money by selling it to addicts. We feel quite sure
that this is her game, but as yet we havent enough evidence to be —
sure that an arrest would end with her conviction. So we sre waiting

and hoping that we can get more conclusive evidence soon."

Some years ago & man came into my office and asked hurridly, for
one of my associates. He said that ne was "in misery," that he had
"kidney stones and had to have morrnine or something equally strong
to relieve the intense pain," |

A urinalysis was done immediately and blood was found in nis
urine, The doctor thought that this certainly was a case in which
morphine was really needed, and wrote a prescription for a few
tablets, |

Some days later the man returned and asked for more morphine,
Another urinalysis was done and tne urine was found to be normal,

The doctor became suspicious. Tre man could have cut a finger slightly
the first time he came, and in this way could have managed to put
enough blood in his urine to make it srnow in a microscopic test,

At any rate, trls time the blood was not in the specimen voided.
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After the doctor told the man that he wouldn't give him any
narcotlic, the patient continued to be very insistent, After
has demand had been repeatedly refused, he became so abusive that
the doctor stepped to the telephone and called the police. The
man immediately left the office, before the police could arrive,

The following week, Attorney Bruce Spaulding, who was then
our county attorney, came to our office to see me about some
court procedure that was coming upe.

"By the way, Doctor," he said as he was about to leave, "a man
came to me a few days ago and told me that your associate has been
furnishing him with morphine illegally and that it was his opinion
that he wasn't the only one that had been so favored. We know
that you fellows have always carried on a clean practice, so I
did nothing about it. Do you happen to know anything about such
& man?"

We found that this man, who had been ordered out of our
office, had gone to Dalles, found Attorney Spaulding and signed an
affidavit that he had been supplied repeatedly and illegally with
morphine, at our office,

When I told our attorney about our experience, he said, "It is
amazing how low addicts often becomei"

#e heard nothing more concerning the matter,

As has been stated, the Independence Clinic, of which 1 am
the senior member, does all its surgical and obstetrical work at
the Salem hospitals, In fact, we usually cere for any of our
patients who are seriously sick, at one of these institutions.
One of us makes the hospital rounds each morning.

In the summer of 1946, one morning before I had started to
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make tne hospital rounds, I was called to the office, There
I found a man wio was medium sized, well dressed and very pleassant,
but seemingly in much pain and very eager to see a doctor.

"I have a cancer of the rectum," he said, "that is s6 fap
advenced that it is inoperable. I xnow I can't live long, bﬁt
while I do 1live trnere is no use suffering the awful pain the growth
is causing, In order tc desden tre pain, now I constantly neeqd
morphine, A few months ago the growth shut off my lower bowel,
SO my doctor did a Colostomy on me so that my bowels could move
end I could live a 1little longer,"

By a cholostomy is meént traet an opening is made, usually in
tre lower rignt side of the abdomen, into the Ccolon. In such
cases as he described, when sa colostomy is done, the bowels move
through the opening that is made, into a rubber bag which is made
for that purpose and which ordinaerily is worn constantly_by these
petients, In this way the bowel obstruction is relieved,

This man sihowed me tre incision in the right, lower side of
his sbdomen, and loosened the colestomy bag that he was wearing,

80 that I could see the opening'wnich had been made into tine colon,
I made a rectal examination and found & mass of something within
my reach, wiich could have been g tumor of some sort, or heavy scar
tissue, | After the examination I certainly believed that the
pratient's story was true ang that trhe reed of morphine was resl,
So I wrote him a prescription for some morprine tablets,

Less tnan an hour later, w-en I was on my way to the Salem
hospitals, I ovetook the same man, Le was walking briskly and

rapidly along the highway, not at &11 &S ons would expect a person

el

to walk who had an advanced case of cancer of the rectum, This made

meé suspicious and again 1 contacted thre State Police,
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By them I was informed that such g person had been getting
morphine from many of the doctors in Portland and Salem, and that
as far as the police could find, he was not an addict,. He was
selling all thie morphine he could get, to addictse.

It is certain that he had been operated"fbr some sort of
intestinal trouble. Possibly it was for cancer of the rectum, while
it was still operable, and that the operstion had been successful.
This would explain the fact that a colostomy had been done, and that
a mass of scar tissue would be found when a rectal examination
was made, and still the man wes well,

It is 1likely that he was arrested soon after I reported him,

but I heard nothing more concerning him,

Another case, more recent, shows how a physiclan may be deceived
concerning the legitimate use of narcotics, and how far people will
go to get it either for their own use or to sell at an enormous
profit to addicts,

In 1953, a logger, neatly dressed, clad in overalls and &
leather coat, ceme into my office and asked for me.

"My mother, who lives in Spokane, Washington, has a cancer of
the uterus that is so far advanced that it cant't be operated," he
said. "She has come to our home, whick is a short distance from
Falls City, for a last, short visit. She will go back to Spokane
in a very few days, but needs a few morphine tablets to relieve her
pein until she gets back to her doctor in Spokane."

Falls City is a 1little place about fifteen miles from
Independence,

"#ny didn't she get what morphine she would need while on this

trip, from her doctor before she left Spokane?"
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"She did get some, but ner pain has been so muci more severe
than usuel during the few days she has been with us, tihat she has
used a lot more morphine than she thought she would. The last
she had, she used t:is morning."

The man had a ruddy, healthy, wholesome appearance end there
was sometning about him thet inspired confidence. I would have
been nearly willing to swear that he was honest.

"She knows that she can't live long, and she will need only
a very few tablets to take cere of her for the next four or five
dayse By that time she'll bé at home again and can get all she
needs from her doctor‘there."

"Technically," I told him, "it is unlawful for a doctor to
prescribe a narcotic for a patient that he hasn't seen.and
examined. But it seems & pity and rather unreasonable to put you
to the expense of my making a trip to your place when the condition
has been diagnoséd by a doctor, and there is no question about
the medicine being needed. So I'1ll give you a prescription for
a dozen tablets for her, Thet ougnt to do her until she goes
home, if she goes in a day or two." A

"That will be just fine," nhe said. "She intends to 1leave
tomorrow, or not later than the next day."

I gave him the prescription and he left.

About three weeks later he agaln came into my office and
asked me for another prescription for morphine.

"I supposed that your mother had gone home long ago. IHow does
it neppen that you're back for more narcotic when you said she
would leave for her home within two days after I saw you?"

"She suddenly got so much worse and became so much weaker

that she couldn't make the trip back to Spokane. She will be
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with us until she dies, which can't be long. She i1s going to pieces
awfully faste"

"How has she managed to get along so long with the few tablets
thet I preseribed?"

"She hasn'te I thought you kmew that I have come to your office
several times since you saw me, I missed you every time, and your
partners have given me prescriptions for what morphine she needed."

I called for our records, and sure enough, that very thing had
happened, My partners found that I had listed the case on the
chert as one of inoperable, advanced cancer of the uterus, so assumed

that I knew positively about the case. For that reason they had not

hesitated to prescribe the amount of morphine that seemed to be
neededs,

"I'm'sorry, but I can't give you any more morphine without
seeing the patiente If she is going to stay at your home, I'll have
to go there and examine her if she is too sick to be brought to our
office, "

"A11 right, Doctor. I have my car out in front, 1I'll take
you out to.oﬁr place and bring you back."

"I can't get away this =fternoon. 1111 giyé jou a prescript-
ion for two or three tablets now, That will take care of her tonight
and I'11 come to your place the first thing.tomorrow morning., Tell
me just where you live,"

He gave me detalled information as to how to go to Falls City
and just the other side of town to make a left turn and about a mile
from trnere I would find his house. He even gave me the name of
a neighbor who; he said, was well mown and could direct me to his
home. He s aid that he hadn't lived there very long and I might miss
his place but anyone would know where the neighbor lived and he would

tell me where to go if I failed to find tne right houses
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2arly tie next morning I drove to Falls City, On my arrival
trere, I could find no road turniag to the left, as he had described.
Neit:her could I find anyone by t:.e name e nad given me as t..at
of a neighbor,

At two service stations I was told trat tne owners of these
stations never had heard either of a person by the name of the
man I was looking for, or anyone bearing the name he had given me
as tzat of a "well known neighbor."

At the post office I told tne postmaster exactly what the
situation was,

"I know," I told him, "taat regulations are suci that you can't
direct me to this man's place even if you know where he is, All
1 want 1s to find out whether or not such a man is on the mailing
list of this office. Can you give me tnat information?"

After a moments thougnt, tne postmaster said, "All I can say,
Joctor, is thaet I am very much afrsid you will be disappointed in
yow searchi" |

Disgusted, I returned to.my offices

The following morning Martha and I had occasion go go to Salem,
end while there we called at the headquarters of tae Oregon State
Police. I told tnem all tast had ha»pened, and expressed much
regret that I had let the man have any morphine,

"We don't blame you, Doctor," the police said. "We greatly
appreciate your coming and reporting the case to us. Our frank
opinion 1s that you will never see nor near of this man agaiﬁ.

It has been thought that there is some sort of a narcotic ring
operating somewneré in this territory, but as yet we have been

unable to get any further tnan a suspicion."
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"Wiet do you think would have nappened to my husband," Martha
asked, "if he had gone with the man when he was invited? Would
tiils fellow have taken the doctor somewhere and have killed him2?"
I said that I couldn't feature even a dope peddler unnecessarily
~adding murder to his record unless he was forced to do so to
protect himself, The officer agreed with me and added that
it was more likely that the man would have put me out of business
temporarily and then would have disappeared with my medicine case,
in the hope that it might contain narcotics.

At any rate, I never heard of the man again,
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The years have sped past rapidly since we came to Independence.
Here we have experienced a gradual transition from the more primitiv:
conditions under which we first carried on the practice of medicine
and surgery, to conditions under which we have the advantages’of
modern and competent hospitalization of our patients, of the
quick and willing assistance of specialists in every line, and of
wonderful assistance in the way of modern drug therapye.

iwork has been heavy and constant, but it has become so largely
routine that the unusual experiences so common in my early practice
are seldom if ever known.

Since these changes have taken place, Martha and I often
look back over the years when conditions were 8o primitive, and
wonder how'the physicians and nurses of forty or more years ago
were able to accomplish what they did under the circumstances
that then existed,

Long since, lMartha has ceased to be surgical assistant and
sterile nurse, but she is still admirably filling her place as
my wife and 1ife partner.

¥e were right in thinking, when we moved to Independence, that
our daughters would make use of the nearby colleges, "Little
Helen" is an alumna of Oregon State College and of Stanford Schodl
of Nursing, and while she now has her own family, she still loves
her professional work to such an extent thet she sStill spends a
portion of her time supervising at the Salem General Hospital,

Frances 1s an alumna of the Uregon College of Education and
is one of the teachers in our city school. . Both daugnters and
thelr families reside near us in Independence.

Now 1ife's sun is getting near the western horisen for Martha
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and me. Life has been good to us. Due to my advanced age and
hé kindness of my associates, I now work only three days a week
at the office and no longer do any major surgery.

For the past few years, Wife and I have spent much time
treveling and discovering how others 1ive. We both love to do
this,

When the complete sunset of this 14ife occurs, I can only
feel much gratitude to humanity for its kindness to us, and for
the experiences of this life. And I will look forward with
great interest to discover just what sort of a world my next

sunrise will reveal.



